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Statement of the Management of the Bank 
 

General information on AS “SEB banka” 
AS “SEB banka” (“the Bank”) is a joint-stock company registered in the Republic of Latvia (registered office: Meistaru iela 
1, Valdlauči, Ķekavas pagasts, Ķekavas novads, LV-1076, Latvia; registration number: LV 40003151743; the credit 
institution operating licence issued on 23 September 1993, the licence registry entry No. 06.01.05.011/242). 
The Bank and its subsidiaries (“the Group”) are engaged in providing banking and financial services. Skandinaviska 
Enskilda Banken AB (publ), the bank registered in Sweden, is the parent company of the Bank and the Group. 
 
Group companies 
 
SIA “SEB līzings” 
SEB finanšu centrs, Meistaru iela 1, Valdlauči, Ķekavas pagasts, Ķekavas novads, LV-1076 
Registration number: 50003334041 
seblizings@seb.lv 
 
IPAS “SEB Investment Management” 
Antonijas iela 9-12, Riga, LV-1010 
Registration number: 40003525797 
investment.management@seb.lv 
 
AS “SEB atklātais pensiju fonds” 
Antonijas iela 9, Riga, LV-1010 
Registration number: 40003485047 
pensija@seb.lv 
 

Business sustainability  
Business goals 

The Bank’s long-term goal is to be the leading bank in Latvia and the Baltic countries and to provide excellent customer 
service. This goal is complemented by our vision to provide first-class services to our customers. In order to achieve this 
long-term goal, the Bank has developed new customer-friendly remote and digital solutions that enable us to provide 
financial services to our customers at any location.  

In the retail and small and medium-sized enterprise (SME) segment, we have defined the following medium-term goals: to 
ensure sustainable and balanced growth in the provision of financing, to improve customer service in all customer 
segments, taking into account the new opportunities for remote support that have been created for customers in recent 
years. In our business objectives, we have emphasised that the Bank has an important role to play in creating a sustainable 
and transparent business environment. We will therefore continue to work with our customers to assess our collective 
impact on environmental, social, and governance principles. This assessment is part of the Bank's responsibility to know 
its customers (KYC). Our goal in this customer segment is to be a professional advisor and help them meet their financial 
needs.  

In terms of services for large companies, the Bank strives to be the leading provider of financial services for large 
companies with their main place of business in Latvia. The Bank’s goal is to ensure an increase in sustainable and 
environmentally friendly lending that leads to socially significant progress. 

We have also set ourselves sustainability and climate neutrality targets for the coming years. We are committed both to 
implementing reporting and accounting systems that fully meet the requirements of the European Central Bank and to 
developing sustainable products for our customers, both in financing and investments. We plan to use various target 
achievement indicators, such as the Green Asset Ratio, to measure the impact of the above targets and services on the 
development of a greener portfolio and the progress of our customers towards more sustainable business models.  

 
Governance principles 

In 2021, the Bank further strengthened its adherence to the principles of good corporate governance. The Bank’s 
operational principles, which are described in the Business Conduct Policy and focus on corporate governance, responsible 
and ethical behaviour, attitudes toward information protection and the handling of personal data, open communication, 
the management of conflicts of interest, a safe and healthy working environment, compliance and internal reporting, are 
just some of the principles that guide us in our daily work. Increasing emphasis is being placed on sustainability issues both 
when evaluating our own business activities and when selecting our suppliers and counterparties. This aspect is 
particularly important in the selection of counterparties for lending. For addition, we have maintained focus on CO2 
emissions from Bank’s activities, not only by choosing more sustainable principles but also by revising and introducing  
more detailed methodologies for emissions calculations. 
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Statement of the Management of the Bank (continued) 

We have also continued our strategy of conservative assessment and selection of customer segments, focusing primarily 
on providing services to residents and seeking to reduce our presence in higher-risk customer segments or transactions. It 
is important for SEB banka not only to meet the formal requirements of regulators but also to do everything reasonably 
possible and necessary to reduce the risk of being involved in financial crimes or having caused other negative effects on 
the public general or the Bank’s reputation.  

With the aim of strengthening product development and accelerating the development of digital products, focusing on 
long-term strategic and innovative goals, data management and service quality, work on establishing a new structural unit 
for Product development and technology in the Baltic countries and Latvia was completed at the end of 2021. At the same 
time, work was completed on the establishment of the Baltic Data and Strategic Change Organisation, which will enable 
more efficient systematisation of business data work and strengthen data-based strategic change management.   

Also, in the reporting year, SEB banka, as one of the leading providers of pension services, decided to establish unified 
insurance and long-term savings group in the Baltic countries, thus strengthening its focus on investment and pension 
solutions. Under the new governance model, SEB Life and Pension Baltic SE will be the sole shareholder of both IP AS SEB 
Investment Management and AS SEB atklātais pensiju fonds from 1 January 2022, replacing the current shareholder AS 
SEB Bank. This will formalise the already existing operational model while ensuring a stronger focus of the business on 
investment and pension solutions for customers.   

In 2021, the SEB Sustainability Office was established in all Baltic countries, with Viktors Toropovs assuming to lead the 
sustainability area in Latvia. The Sustainability Office has launched a number of important projects aimed at integrating 
aspects of climate risk into processes relevant to the Bank. Work has also been done on developing sectoral policies 
describing the principles of SEB banka’s cooperation with companies from various industries. 

During the reporting year, there were also changes in the composition of the Bank’s Council, which currently consists of 
three independent members of the Council and four members of the SEB Group. The election of the third independent 
member of the Council Board is intended to ensure a sufficient number of independent members of the Council to 
strengthen the monitoring of its decision-making and to ensure that the interests of all stakeholders, including the 
shareholder, are considered in the decision-making process.  
 

Operating environment  
Financial sector 

In 2021, the Latvian banking sector has managed to avoid the obstacles to development caused by the pandemic and 
maintain stable growth. In the 12 months of 2021, Latvian monetary financial institutions (MFIs), mainly banks, made a 
profit of EUR 257.9 million, 81% more than in the corresponding period in 2020. 

At 31 December 2021, the assets of MFIs had increased by 3.7% to EUR 24.4 billion. At the end of December 2021, loans 
to residents amounted to EUR 12.4 billion, 10.8% more than a year ago. Loans in foreign currency amounted to EUR 91.2 
million, down by 1.2%. 

Deposits also continued to grow significantly. At the end of December 2021, deposits of residents amounted to EUR 16.5 
billion, 11.3% more than a year ago. Euro-denominated deposits amounted to EUR 15.4 billion, while deposits in foreign 
currencies totalled EUR 1.1 billion. Already in 2020, deposits of private companies and individuals in Latvian credit 
institutions exceeded loans granted to private companies and individuals. In 2021, this trend continued and reached a 
ratio of 161% in 2021. 

At the end of December, the capital and reserves of Latvian MFIs amounted to EUR 3.1 billion, 4.9% more than at the end 
of December 2020. In the first 12 months of 2020, MFIs had made a profit of EUR 142.5 million. 

 

The economy as a whole  

In 2021, the Latvian economy continued to be affected by the spread of Covid-19. However, the economy recovered 
quickly and returned to growth. The GDP forecast for 2021 and 2022 was 4.5% and 5%, respectively. There is a risk for 
a slowdown in 2022, rendering the growth pace slower. 

There was a sharp increase in activity in the manufacturing sector and in merchandise exports. Consumption also 
performed relatively well but was unable to reach its full potential due to various constraints. For example, the unusually 
strong increase in free cash savings at commercial banks continued, and the population's interest in purchasing real estate 
grew. Government incentives and support measures that mitigated the impact of unfavourable factors on the economy 
and the labour market were also important support. Entrepreneurs shed their caution and increased their capital 
expenditure.  
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Statement of the Management of the Bank (continued) 

Despite the positive macroeconomic developments, there was no shortage of challenges, particularly increasing supply 
problems in the second half of the year, disruptions caused by pandemics, and rising energy prices. The recovery in the 
sectors most affected – leisure and entertainment and tourism and hospitality – was weaker than expected.  

In 2021, average monthly gross wages increased by 11.8% to EUR 1277. Wage growth was driven by relatively 
favourable economic conditions and increasing labour shortages, especially in sectors where wage levels were already 
above the national average. These trends will intensify in the coming years. There has also been an increase in the service 
sectors affected by the crisis. Labour shortages have also been exacerbated by Covid-19 certification requirements, 
which have led to workers deciding to leave the labour market, possibly temporarily. Increases in public sector wages, as 
well as increases in the minimum wage, will continue to be an important factor in increasing the average wage in 2022. 
The pandemic has also affected the structure of wages, with the number of high-wage earners rising and the share of low-
wage earners falling. In the coming years, wage growth will fluctuate around 8%. 

The year 2021 marked a turning point in the inflation trends. The interplay of many factors, especially energy prices, has 
pushed up consumer price inflation sharply. In December, inflation in Latvia reached an unprecedented 7.9%. Housing-
related goods and services, transport, and food were the three groups driving changes in average consumer prices, 
contributing 6.34 percentage points to the overall increase. Higher-than-expected inflation has become a major challenge 
for policymakers as it threatens the economic recovery and rapidly weakens the purchasing power of the population. The 
inflation forecast for 2022 is 6.5 percent.  

Despite the spread of Covid-19, the labour environment has stabilised and successfully adapted to the new reality, which 
will be more permanent than it seemed at the beginning of the pandemic. The unemployment rate in Latvia fell to 7.1% in 
the fourth quarter of the year, the lowest level since the beginning of 2020. The economic recovery opened new 
opportunities in the labour market, followed by a sharp increase in job vacancies. 
 

Business environment 

In 2021, the Bank continued to pay particular attention to monitoring the sentiments of its customers. Despite the ongoing 
Covid 19 pandemic and various constraints, the overall sentiment of entrepreneurs was good. This suggests that the 
impact of the crisis has been weaker than expected, with positive sentiment reaching an 8-year high over the past 12 
months. The share of business owners noting favourable business conditions was even higher than in 2019, which may 
indicate that companies believe domestic and external demand will continue to recover, offsetting challenges posed by 
supply chains or high energy prices. 

The number of business startups also demonstrates an increase in optimism, up 3% last year compared to 2020. The 
lowest number of business startups in the last 15 years was in 2020, which was due to the uncertainty caused by the 
pandemic. However, looking at the data available for 2021, activity has started to increase and has reached pre-pandemic 
levels. 

However, business owners were very cautious in the reporting year, as reflected in growing account balances. On the one 
hand, high account balances mean that companies have funds that can be used for investment and development, but on 
the other hand, the total amount of loans in the market is not growing. This is probably due to companies’ concerns about 
the restrictions caused by Covid-19, which are the highest in Latvia among the Baltic countries.  

The timing of the restrictions caused by the pandemic prompted some companies to rapidly develop e-commerce, which 
quickly became a necessity. Moreover, this step has not only helped some companies to survive the most difficult period 
but has also given them the opportunity to reach new customers both in Latvia and abroad.  

SEB data shows that Latvian companies still rank among the last in the European Union when it comes to selling products 
and services to consumers using digital tools. This can be explained by the lack of highly qualified specialists and an overall 
low level of digital competence, as well as the fact that the general digital infrastructure available in Latvia does not 
sufficiently support the digitisation of companies. 

At the same time, companies need to focus on improving corporate governance, both in terms of eliminating the risks 
inherent in the shadow economy and assessing their past sustainability performance and what each company would like 
to achieve in this regard.  

It should also be emphasized that SEB banka has paid special attention to participation in various non-governmental 
organizations representing the business environment, including the Latvian Financial Industry Association, the Council of 
Foreign Investors in Latvia, the Baltic Institute of Corporate Governance, etc., with a view to promoting the development 
of the business environment in Latvia. 

Risk management 

During the year, the Bank maintained its focus on risk management, particularly by further strengthening compliance risk 
management and cybersecurity monitoring processes. In terms of volume, credit risk remains the largest risk managed by 
the Bank, where further improvements in processes and internal controls were made.  
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Statement of the Management of the Bank (continued) 

The spread of Covid-19 and related constraints during the year also required significant adjustments in the management 
of the Bank's internal processes, where solutions were found to allow more employees to perform their tasks remotely, 
among other things. To strengthen the Bank's ability to ensure the continuity of critical processes and services in the event 
of a possible spread of the infection, the Bank ensured the separation of staff engaged in providing critical functions, both 
in the main building and in seeking additional employment elsewhere. 

Due to the spread of Covid-19, no additional provisions for expected credit losses were required, and the macroeconomic 
situation proved to be more stable than previously expected during the reporting year, securing investor interest in 
investing in the Bank’s pre-financed projects. Consequently, provisions for expected credit losses have decreased. 

In the area of risk management, the Bank continues to apply a rigorous "Know your customer" approach, which includes a 
thorough assessment of the customer's reputation, business performance and individual transactions. Additional 
investments have also been made in the management of sanctions risks and in the development of "Know your customer" 
systems.  

Considering the significant increase in deposits also in this reporting year, the Bank’s liquidity has increased and 
compliance with the key liquidity ratios has been further strengthened. As deposits grew faster than the loan portfolio, the 
loan-to-deposit ratio fell to 76% (89% in 2020). While negative interest rates prevailed, the Bank also paid close attention 
to managing the Bank's overall interest rate risk and pricing its services.  

By the end of the year, geopolitical risks had further intensified. As SEB banka is a systemically important bank in Latvia, 
work on managing such risks also takes place in cooperation with the public sector.  
 

Operating/business performance 
Customers and their activity, development of the number of customers 

In 2021, more than 12,000 new customers chose SEB banka as their financial partner. 62% of new customers were 
between 18 and 65 years old, while 32% were under 18. As of July 2021, potential customers were able to become a 
customer of the bank via the SEB mobile application or a video, and 12% of all new customers made use of this option. In 
total, the Bank provides services to almost 434,000 people. 

In 2021, the number of companies with which the Bank started cooperation also increased by 10% compared to 2020. 
43% of customers in the SME segment used the option to open an account and start cooperation remotely via video 
consultation. 

Lending 

Despite the fluctuations in the economy, the Bank's loan portfolio remained stable, mainly due to the activity and interest 
of individuals in buying an apartment or building a house. At the end of the year, the loan portfolio amounted to EUR 3 
billion, 98 million euros less than in the previous year. This was mainly due to fluctuations in the large corporate segment. 

SEB's new financing to private individuals amounted to EUR 221 million in the 12 months of this year, 31% more than in 
the same period last year. Loans for the purchase or repair of a home reached  EUR 176 million in the 12 months, 34% 
more than a year ago. Due to activity in the SME segment, 26% more financing was granted in this period than in the 12 
months of 2020. 

In the corporate customer segment, SEB banka granted financing in the amount of EUR 370 million. Around one-third of 
the financing also related to real estate, mostly involving purchase or sale transactions and less frequently construction 
projects. In the large corporate customer’s segment, there were a number of transactions relating to production 
expansions or investments. 

According to data for the third quarter of 2021, the Bank was the second-largest lender in the financial sector. 

Deposits 

Compared to the previous year, the amount of deposits increased significantly in 2021 – by 14% (half a billion euros). In 
addition, the largest increase can be observed in the retail segment – by 19%, while the corporate segment still shows a 
growth of 6 per cent. At the end of the year, deposits amounted to EUR 4 billion. Alongside the increase in deposits, there 
was also an increase in the customer investment portfolio, namely by 13.5 percent. 
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Statement of the Management of the Bank (continued) 

Financial performance 

SEB banka generated a profit of EUR 66 million in 2021. This was significantly influenced by the fact that no additional 
provisions for expected credit losses were required due to the spread of Covid-19 and the macroeconomic situation 
proved to be more stable than previously expected, which ensured investor interest in investing in already financed 
projects. Consequently, the provision for expected credit losses decreased in 2021. Profit before provisions was EUR 59 
million, 5% higher than in the 12 months of 2020. The increase was mainly due to growing customer activity, in line with 
economic growth in the second and third quarters of 2021. 

New solutions and opportunities for customers  

In the reporting year, the Bank further expanded its range of digital solutions for customers, in particular the option of 
becoming a bank customer remotely by using facial recognition to identify new customers during the registration process. 

Our website also underwent a major overhaul, with a more user-friendly design, a clearer layout, richer graphics, and a 
navigation menu that allows anyone to find the information they need in seconds. 

In 2021, we added self-service options to Internet Bank, such as the option to make changes to housing agreements, such 
as changing the repayment date, partial repayment of principal, and changing repayment accounts. In addition, customers 
can take out various insurances through Internet Bank, such as for their housing, car, short-term trips, equipment and 
company property.  

For legal entities, a new feature is available – "Wait for available funds", which allows customers to determine that the 
account balance at the time of submitting the payment is not sufficient to make the payment. Internet Bank will make the 
payment as soon as funds are credited to the account.  

In cooperation with the technology company "Unifiedpost Group", an e-invoicing portal was set up in Internet Bank, which 
is an automated solution for sending and receiving invoices and enables the management of invoices in a single 
environment. 

Moreover, from October it will be possible to authenticate with an eID card in addition to the usual Internet banking 
authentication tools (SMART ID, code calculator).  

In spring, we launched the Roboinvestor investment tool in the mobile app, which is already used by more than 14 
thousand SEB banka customers in Latvia, 11% of whom have already started investing.  

In general, the use of digital solutions offered by SEB banka is increasing among the Latvian population and businesses. 
For example, customers have been 12% more active in using SEB's mobile app than in the previous year. Customers are 
also increasingly using a virtual advisor. The number of phone calls increased by 160% to 85 thousand calls.  

In order to provide everyone with an interesting and simple tool to fight climate change, SEB teamed up with Swedish 
fintech company Deedster to develop the free app My Footprint | SEB, which allows people to calculate their personal 
carbon footprint based on their lifestyle and consumption. The app also offers practical tips on how to reduce your 
environmental impact and the opportunity to participate in various challenges.  

Since September 2021, individuals in Latvia have had the opportunity to become customers remotely via mobile 
onboarding functionality. We continue to offer the possibility of becoming a customer via video consultation, so that the 
customer can choose the most convenient channel for him. 

At the end of the year, the new Green Housing Loan was presented to customers, offering better terms: no intermediation 
commission and a lower interest rate. The Green Housing Loan refers to energy-efficient housing that meets the 
requirements set out in the Taxonomy. 

A new, more convenient credit card function was introduced, making it easier for customers to manage their own funds 
and credit limit (new credit card platform). 

The performance of SIA “SEB līzings” 

The Company ended 2021 with a loan portfolio of EUR 343.0 million, of which 83 % was leasing transactions and 17 % 
was factoring transactions. The factoring portfolio increased by 44.5% during the year to EUR 57.1 million, while the 
leasing portfolio decreased by 1.6% to EUR 285.9 million. The quality of the loan portfolio remained at a historically high 
level, with the proportion of late payments not exceeding 0.1% of the portfolio. 

Although the amount of new lease financing increased to EUR 116 million in 2021 (13% more than in 2020), issues in the 
automotive supply chains negatively impacted the new car market and prevented the financing amounts of 2019 from 
being reached. Given the strong demand, significant queues for new car deliveries emerged, which management believes 
will continue in 2022. The Company has managed to maintain its market position by retaining 19% of new financing. 
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Statement of the Management of the Bank (continued) 

In 2021, the Company continued to implement its “green leasing” strategy, offering particularly favourable terms for 
financing environmentally friendly cars. 63 electric cars were financed in 2021 for a total amount of EUR 2.0 million; 
although the private segment is showing a wait-and-see attitude toward government aid in 2022, demand for zero-
emission commercial vehicles has increased significantly.  

In 2021, the factoring market was dynamic on the part of borrowers. The most important factors were the rising costs of 
raw materials, i.e., rising energy prices, which affected the payments made by companies to their suppliers and placed an 
additional burden on working capital. There were also increases in existing factoring limits due to the price inflation of the 
products sold. On the part of debtors' insurers (Atradius, Coface), there was an increase in risk appetite, which was 
reflected in wider insurance demand and higher individual limits for debtors. This has had a positive impact on the 
development of the export factoring segment, where it can be observed that Latvian companies are increasingly selected 
as suppliers in the nearby European and Baltic markets, reducing supply chain and transportation risks compared to 
suppliers in the outermost regions. 
 
The Company has taken various measures to ensure the safety of its employees in the circumstances caused by the 
pandemic, as well as all necessary measures to ensure the continuity of services. The Company's management constantly 
monitors the development of the situation and takes timely and responsible action to respond to changing circumstances. 

The performance of IPAS “SEB Investment Management” 

At the end of 2021, assets under management by IPAS SEB Investment Management exceeded EUR 1.766 billion. The 
total net profit or investment result of SEB Pension Pillar 2 and 3 pension clients exceeded EUR 110 million. The excellent 
return is mainly attributable to investments in the equity markets.  

Eight of the nine government pension plans and private pension fund plans managed by IPAS “SEB Investment 
Management” in 2021 showed a positive return. Particularly noteworthy is the growth of the SEB Index Plan (+ 24.11%), 
which was the best performance of all government-funded pension plans in 2021 and allowed it to take the top position 
among all government-funded pension plans in terms of total return over the last three years above the + 61% mark. 

Owing to good cost discipline and the positive development of the financial markets, the Company’s financial performance 
in 2021 was solid. Operating profit before taxes amounted to EUR 4.19 million. 

Considering the pension asset size relative to national economy and long term investment horizon, pension area is key to 
promote and drive the transition to sustainable investments and low carbon economy. This is well recognized by SEB and 
our sustainability work embraces several perspectives and methods to create value for customers and society at large. 
We believe that sustainability perspective embedded in our investment decision process can not only ensure positive 
impact on the environment but also reduce sustainability-related risks and improve long-term returns. Interaction and 
balance between exclusionary screening, integration of environmental, social and governance (ESG) angles and positive 
screening, active ownership and sustainability themed and impact investing are vital for the generation of sustainable, 
long-term value. Relevant set of sustainability indicators is set and is continuously monitored and improved to ensure 
sufficient follow up, necessary improvements and disclosures on sustainability matters to our customers. 

The share of underlying investments promoting environmental, social characteristics or having sustainable investment as 
an objective has been continuously increasing. On 31.12.2021. it constituted more than 902 million EUR out of 1.5 billion 
EUR of pension fund assets managed by SEB Latvia. 

The investment environment in 2022 will be even more challenging than in the previous two years. Investors will need to 
adjust to both the ever-changing conditions of the Covid-19 pandemic and the significant changes in Federal Reserve 
monetary policy. After an excellent 2021, a period of increased volatility and uncertainty in equity markets is possible as 
investors reconsider their views on equity valuations and the short- to medium-term earnings potential of companies. 
Equity valuations are high relative to historical averages, but still-low interest rates are forcing investors to take some 
risks in search of positive returns, as very modest returns are forecast for many segments of the bond market. In 2022, 
financial markets must remain vigilant and be prepared to review their investment strategy as the economic and 
geopolitical situation changes. 

The performance of “SEB atklātais pensiju fonds” 

As one of the leading providers of long-term private pensions, SEB Pensiju fonds continues to manage pension funds and 
advise customers on financial savings in 2021. The performance for the year was a positive investment result of EUR 12 
million, which, together with contributions from pension plan participants, provided for a 14.4% increase in pension plan 
assets. The total amount of pension plan assets has reached EUR 222.5 million, which is the historically highest value in 
the more than 20 years of existence of the SEB Pension Fund   

It is important to mention that SEB Pensiju fonds is the first pension fund in Latvia to introduce an index plan at the third 
pension pillar in 2021 -– SEB Index Plan. It is a high-risk pension plan managed using a passive management method, i.e. 
the manager invests the pension plan funds in financial instruments linked to stock market indices.  
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In 2021, there has been a stable growth in the number of responsible employers paying sustainable wages to their 
employees, including private pensions. Employer contributions of EUR 7.2 million to employee retirement accounts 
increased by 13% compared to 2020. Private contributions continued to grow in 2021, reaching EUR 19.2, 10% more 
than in the previous year. On the upside, many customers of SEB Pensiju fonds prefer regular monthly contributions to 
their pension savings, which reduces the impact of negative financial market fluctuations on the value of savings. 

In 2021, the use of remote services reached 84% of the total number of transactions, with SEB Pensiju fonds evaluating 
the convenience and availability of the digital solutions offered - both through the conclusion of individual participation 
agreements and the use of related services in private pension capital management.   

The fund manager achieved a positive investment result for the customers of the SEB Pension Fund. The investment return 
for the SEB-Balanced pension plan has reached 4.63% per year, SEB-Aktīvais – 10.17% per year, and SEB-Index – 
20.49% since the beginning of operations in February 2021. 

A total of 89,161 participants and 892 companies make voluntary contributions to SEB’s private pension plans, 
demonstrating mutual trust and long-term cooperation with the best package of services available from SEB Internet bank. 
SEB Pensiju fonds will increase its environmentally-friendly investments and investments in companies with good 
corporate governance. 

 

Valuable content, information and events held for our customers 
For entrepreneurs  

Sustainability issues are becoming an increasingly important area on SEB banka's agenda. We are seeing increasing 
activity from public organizations, our customers, legislators, market observers and the regulator. We want to lead the 
way in this area, i.e., offer our customers a wide range of sustainable products, provide high-quality support and advice to 
companies in their transformation, and of course ensure that the bank's work is in line with the ever-increasing regulatory 
requirements.  

In the reporting year, SEB Group updated its sustainability strategy, set new climate targets while recognising the need to 
measure the environmental impact of its investments and loan portfolio. With this strategy, SEB identifies concrete 
measures and targets that will help to achieve the greatest positive impact on the climate. 

AS SEB Banka publishes a separate Sustainability Report, which is part of Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ) Annual 
and Sustainability Report, covering the parent company Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ) and its subsidiaries.   

In order to promote companies’ understanding of the principles of sustainability and encourage them to include them in 
their agendas, a forum entitled “Sustainability – where will your business stand in 2030?” was organised with the support 
of the Bank. The forum was attended by more than 30 experts and industry professionals who shared practical 
experiences of implementing sustainability principles and discussed their role in areas such as the environment, 
employees, organization, and governance processes. 

SEB banka also dedicated the traditional CFO Forum to the topic of “Going Green”, where together with the CFOs of the 60 
largest companies in the Baltics, we focused on the practical aspects of green transformation and entrepreneurship – how 
to manage, measure, and create real impact. 

SEB encouraged existing and future entrepreneurs not to postpone their business development plans and, together with 
seven municipalities near Riga, organised its fifth support programme (ie)dvesma (inspiration), which received 65 
applications with new business ideas in 2021. Last year, nearly 50 companies applied for SEB banka's growth programme 
– 12 of them had the opportunity to improve their knowledge and skills for four months under the guidance of local and 
international experts and mentors to promote faster growth of their business. Both support programmes will continue this 
year. 

For the eighth consecutive year, SEB banka conducted a survey among CFOs of the largest companies in the Baltics, asking 
financial experts about the business environment, key challenges and other topics. The survey was conducted in 
September 2021 and covered 289 companies from Latvia, Lithuania and Estonia with annual revenues of more than EUR 
20 million. 

In the third quarter, SEB banka also presented the results of the Baltic Business Outlook survey, which provided insight 
into the impact of the Covid 19 pandemic and related constraints on Baltic SMEs.  

Considering the constraints caused by the Covid 19 pandemic and the impact on economic development, the Bank has 
regularly informed its customers about the latest developments in the Latvian and global economy. 
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Private individuals 

During the summer of the reporting year, the Bank enrolled 19 young adults in a two-month internship programme that 
gave them the opportunity to engage in the day-to-day work of the Bank and participate in a Baltic-level innovation 
programme to work on various challenges to improve the Bank’s operations. To promote gender equality and women's 
leadership, the Bank provided free access to the Leaders Conference (more than 108,000 spectators) and supported the 
Future Leadership, Entrepreneurship and Growth Programme for Young Women developed by the National Education and 
Content Centre and the British Council in Latvia “Future Heroes”, in which 50 girls from all over Latvia aged 13 to 17 
participated.  

To express its support for the world’s young business talents, the Bank participated in holding the International Business 
Olympiad in cooperation with the Faculty of Economics, Management and Political Economy of the University of Latvia. In 
total, more than 220 students from all over the world participated in the Olympiad. 

The cooperation was also continued with the upcoming programme of the Riga Centre for Educational and Information 
Methodology for Directors of General Educational Institutions in Riga “How to become the head of an educational 
institution” by allowing the participants to shadow” at SEB banka. In this context, the future school headmasters met with 
the management of SEB banka to deepen their knowledge about the role of a leader and the competencies of a leader. 

In the reporting year, the Bank educated its customers in online seminars on various topics relating to financial and 
economic development, paying particular attention to the issue of sustainability. In order to draw public attention to the 
understanding of the concept of sustainability, the program initiated by the Bank TV programme “FOOTSTEPS. What’s left 
after you?”, in which the Bank’s experts discuss in 12 episodes how we can take care of the environment in which we live 
so that today's decisions do not have negative consequences for future generations. 

In 2021, more than 150 children and 50 internal SEB mentors participated in the SEB ambassador programme. 
Participants began their 7-month training in public speaking, banking, social media, branding, investing, entrepreneurship, 
sustainability, and cybersecurity. During the programme, SEB Ambassadors will share new knowledge in their schools with 
the help of mentors. 
 

Awards 
SEB banka was awarded Platinum in the Sustainability Index 2021 for the fifth consecutive time. 

SEB banka was also named the “Best Foreign Exchange Service Provider”, which is assessed and awarded by “Global 
Finance Media”. 

Team and investment in staff  
A team that takes care of customers on a daily basis and manages various projects is the foundation of the Bank's 
operations. Continuous learning, strengthening of leadership skills, training and the introduction of new work environment 
formats paint a picture of the Bank as an employer in 2021. 

At the end of the reporting period, the Bank had 837 employees. Overall, the Bank provided 88 different types of training 
to improve the skills and knowledge of its employees. The average number of hours of training at the end of the year was 
30, which is 7 hours more than in the previous reporting period. For next year, we have set ourselves the goal of increasing 
the number of hours spent on quality training to 40 hours per year. 

In 2021, training focused on employee well-being in addition to the acquisition of specialised knowledge. Webinars were 
created on various topics, such as how to work in a hybrid work environment, how to take care of one’s mental health and 
other current topics. 

As part of talent management, the Bank nominated 144 employees for the Talent Growth Programme in 2021. Also, this 
year, a special Talent Growth training programme and a development toolkit for talents were created.  

In 2021, the Bank began offering career counselling to its employees. Employees can request career counselling within 
the company – with a specialist in human resources management or organizational psychologist.  

As every year, an employee satisfaction survey was conducted in 2021, with employee participation remaining at the 
same level as in 2020, despite the impact of the pandemic. Respondents were very satisfied with their line managers, the 
team, the future of SEB, and the feedback. 

The Bank continues to actively consider youth engagement and, for the fourth consecutive year, has enrolled students in 
the “Youth LAB” summer internship program. More than 150 young adults applied for 20 places; 2021 saw a record 
number of applications in both Latvia and the Baltic countries. 
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Statement of the Management of the Bank (continued) 

In the reporting year, the Bank introduced a new staff hiring system, “Lever”, which is used by the entire SEB Group and 
thus offers an advanced, transparent, and faster personnel selection process and a better experience for candidates 
applying for vacant positions. 

For the career development of employees, the Internal Career Days were held, which met with a great response from 
employees and promoted participants’ understanding of the development opportunities at SEB, and at the same time, the 
internal job shadowing initiative was renewed. 

In the reporting year, Jeļena Cīrule returned to the position of Chief Financial Officer of SEB on the Bank’s Management 
Board. 

Contribution to the society 
Continuing the long-term strategy, it has been pursued for more than 15 years, in cooperation with the Latvian Association 
of Children's Villages, the Bank supports equal opportunities and promotes the social inclusion of children and young 
people so that they can spend their childhood in families. In the year under review, we supported the association SOS 
children villages both financially and by investing the time and attention of our employees in this collaboration. Employee 
donations are a significant part of the added value. 

In cooperation with the Vītolu Foundation, the Graduate Association of the Riga Graduate School of Economics, and the 
Riga Business School, the Bank helps capable and zealous young people to study at Latvian universities by providing 
scholarships amounting to around EUR 50,000. The Bank invites its scholarship holders to take part in discussions and 
offers them the opportunity to attend seminars. 

In 2021, the Bank donated over 100 computers and other IT devices (tablets, phones, accessories) to kindergartens, 
schools, social services, and other organizations, which give them to low-income families.   

As a long-standing supporter of the Cesis Arts Festival, the Bank offered its customers the opportunity to enjoy high-quality 
art and cultural programme in 2021. We also award painting scholarships to students at the Latvian Academy of Arts 
every year, helping them to develop and improve their talent. 

Future prospects 
The Bank continues to build and develop its business based on the objective set out in its Business sustainability strategy 
to ensure sustainable growth for the economy and residents of the Baltic countries, including Latvia. SEB banka aims to be 
a leader in climate change advisory, sharing its knowledge with the public and supporting its customers in their green 
transformation.  

In 2022, SEB banka will continue to focus on sustainability – both by providing consultations to its customers on 
sustainability issues and by developing new products to promote the achievement of the Green Deal goals. In addition to 
green housing loans, entrepreneurs are expected to offer appropriate products for the implementation of alternative 
energy solutions as well as new services for the transition to a more sustainable business model.  

In 2022, SEB banka will continue to invest in products that promote the development of the savings culture in Latvia, 
including the development of the Robot Investor tool, as well as in educating customers and encouraging them to make 
more prudent and sustainable investments.  

As the European Central Bank continues to set negative interest rates on deposits with commercial banks, SEB banka will 
continue to monitor the volume of its deposit accounts. Therefore, it is important to advise companies on the possibilities 
of investing free funds in their development, while at the same time making private individuals aware of the opportunities 
to invest their savings wisely.  

In light of increasing fraud in the financial sector, the Bank will continue to promote digital and financial literacy. Measures 
will  be taken to strengthen the Bank's internal controls to limit the use of the Bank’s environment and services for criminal 
purposes. 

The Bank aims to be an excellent, digitally accessible financial partner for individuals and SMEs. In terms of services for 
large companies, the Bank aims to be the first choice for customers and a leader in the products and solutions it offers. It 
will also work with its customers to achieve the goals of sustainability and corporate governance excellence. 
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The Supervisory Council and the Board of Directors of the Bank 
 
           Date of appointment 

The Supervisory Council 
 

Erkka Näsäkkälä Member of the Council Elected – 
08/06/2017 

Mats Emil Torstendahl Deputy Chair of the Council Elected – 
08/06/2017 

Aušra Matusevičiene Member of the Council Elected – 
08/06/2017 

Juha Lassi Johannes Kotajoki Member of the Council Elected – 
02/07/2018 

Nina Anna Sofia Hammarstrom Member of the Council Elected –
15/01/2020 

Pia Margareta Warnerman Chair of the Council Elected –
01/09/2021 

Christel Athina Yotis Pehrman Member of the Council Elected –
01/09/2021 

Changes in The Supervisory Council during the year 2021: 

Stefan Stignas has been recalled from the position of the Deputy Chairperson of the Supervisory Council as of 31 August 
2021. 
Jonas Arthur Ahlstrom has been elected as the Member of the Supervisory Council as of 15 March 2021and recalled from 
the position as of 31 December 2021. 
Mats Emil Torstendahl has been appointed as Deputy Chairperson of the Supervisory Council as of 01 September 2021. 
Pia Margareta Warnerman has been elected as the Member of the Supervisory Council and appointed as the Chair of the 
Supervisory Council as from 01 September 2021. 
Christel Athina Yotis Pehrman have been elected as the Member of the Supervisory Council as from 01 September 2021. 
Niina Anna Maria Aikas has been elected as Member of the Council as of 1 January 2022. 
 
 

The Board of Directors  
 

Ieva Tetere Chairperson of the Board, President Re-elected – 
04/07/2020 

Kārlis Danēvičs Member of the Board, CRO  Re-elected – 
14/01/2019 

Ints Krasts Member of the Board  Re-elected – 
01/08/2019 

Arnis Škapars Member of the Board   Re-elected – 
09/10/2020 

Māris Larionovs Member of the Board Elected – 
07/04/2021 

Jeļena Cīrule Member of the Board, CFO Elected – 
01/11/2021 

 

Changes in The Board of Directors during the year 2021: 

Erki Pugal has resigned from the position of the Member of the Board as of 31 March 2021. 
Māris Larionovs has been elected as the Member of the Board as of 7 April 2021. 
Kristaps Strazds has resigned from the position of the Member of the Board, CFO as of 31 October 2021 and Jeļena 
Cīrule as of 1 November 2021 has been elected as the Member of the Board, CFO. 
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Statement of Responsibility of the Management of the Bank 
 

The Board (the Management) of the Bank is responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements of 
the Bank and its subsidiaries. 

The consolidated financial statements on pages 14 to 83 are prepared in accordance with the source documents and 
present fairly the financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021 and the results of its operations and cash flows 
for the year ended 31 December 2021. 

The consolidated financial statements are prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards as 
adopted in the European Union on a going concern basis. Appropriate accounting policies have been applied on a consistent 
basis. Prudent and reasonable judgments and estimates have been made by the Management in the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements. 

The Management of AS “SEB banka” is responsible for the maintenance of proper accounting records, the safeguarding of 
the Group’s assets and the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities in the Group. They are also 
responsible for operating the Bank in compliance with the Law on Credit Institutions, regulations of the Bank of Latvia, the 
Financial and Capital Market Commission and other legislation of the Republic of Latvia applicable for credit institutions. 

The consolidated financial statements on pages 14 to 83 have been approved and authorised for issue by the Board of the 
Bank on 15 March 2022 and signed on their behalf by: 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Ieva Tetere  Jeļena Cīrule 
Chairperson of the Board, President  Member of the Board, CFO 

 
THIS DOCUMENT IS SIGNED ELECTRONICALLY WITH A SAFE ELECTRONIC SIGNATURE AND CONTAINS A TIME STAMP 
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Consolidated Income Statement 
 
(millions of EUR) 

 Note  2021  2020 
      
      
Interest income calculated using the effective interest rate method   61.7  64.8 
Other interest and similar income   8.0  8.1 
Interest expense   -10.5  -11.6 
Net interest income 4  59.2  61.3 
      
Fee and commission income   60.6  55.9 
Fee and commission expense   -15.9  -17.6 
Net fee and commission income 5  44.7  38.3 
      
Net financial income 6  7.1  7.7 
      
Dividends    -  0.1 
Other operating income 7  2.2  1.8 
Net other income   2.2  1.9 
      
Personnel expenses 8  -28.2  -27.5 
Depreciation, amortization and impairment of  
tangible and intangible, and right of use assets 9 

 
-7.1  -7.4 

Other expenses 10  -19.1  -18.4 
Total operating expenses   -54.4  -53.3 
      
Net expected credit losses 11  9.0  -15.8 
      
Profit before income tax   67.8  40.1 
      
Income tax expenses 12  -1.5  -1.1 
       
Net profit for the year   66.3  39.0 

      
 
The consolidated financial statements on pages 14 to 83 have been approved and authorised for issue by the Board of the 
Bank on 15 March 2022 and signed on their behalf by: 
 
 
 
 

Ieva Tetere  Jeļena Cīrule 
Chairperson of the Board, President  Member of the Board, CFO 

 
THIS DOCUMENT IS SIGNED ELECTRONICALLY WITH A SAFE ELECTRONIC SIGNATURE AND CONTAINS A TIME STAMP 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes on pages 19 to 83 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income 
 
(millions of EUR) 

  2021  2020 

Net profit for the year 
 

66.3  39.0 

Other comprehensive income for the year  -  - 

Total comprehensive income for the year  66.3  39.0 
 
 
 
 
The consolidated financial statements on pages 14 to 83 have been approved and authorised for issue by the Board of the 
Bank on 15 March 2022 and signed on their behalf by: 
 
 
 
 

Ieva Tetere  Jeļena Cīrule 
Chairperson of the Board, President  Member of the Board, CFO 

 
THIS DOCUMENT IS SIGNED ELECTRONICALLY WITH A SAFE ELECTRONIC SIGNATURE AND CONTAINS A TIME STAMP 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes on pages 19 to 83 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Financial Position  
 
(millions of EUR) 

 Notes  31/12/2021  31/12/2020 
Assets      
Cash and balances with central bank 13   954.8   375.0 
Loans to credit institutions 14, 15   125.9   472.1 
Loans to the public 15   2,983.0   3,062.5 
Debt securities 16   421.0   275.7 
Derivatives 17   6.4   31.4 
Equity instruments 18  -  4.4 
Intangible assets 19   6.7   7.9 
Property, plant and equipment 20   6.3   7.0 
Right of use assets 21   7.0   6.9 
Investment property   -  0.1 
Other assets 22   25.7   19.4 
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 23   6.9   5.9 
Total assets    4,543.7  4,268.3 
      
Liabilities      
Deposits from central banks and credit institutions 24   2.5   235.5 
Deposits and borrowings from the public 25   3,982.4   3,505.0 
Derivatives 17   4.1   33.5 
Deferred income tax liabilities    3.0   3.3 
Provisions 26   6.6   5.7 
Other liabilities 27   53.6   43.3 
Accrued expenses and prepaid income 28   14.2   11.8 
Total liabilities    4,066.4   3,838.1 
      
Equity      

Share capital 29   145.3   145.3 
Share premium    5.1   5.1 
Other reserves 29   0.6   0.7 
Retained earnings    326.3   279.1 

Total equity    477.3   430.2 
      

Total liabilities and equity   4,543.7  4,268.3 

     
 
The consolidated financial statements on pages 14 to 83 have been approved and authorised for issue by the Board of the 
Bank on 15 March 2022 and signed on their behalf by: 
 
 
 
 
 
 

Ieva Tetere  Jeļena Cīrule 
Chairperson of the Board, President  Member of the Board, CFO 

 
THIS DOCUMENT IS SIGNED ELECTRONICALLY WITH A SAFE ELECTRONIC SIGNATURE AND CONTAINS A TIME STAMP 
 
 
 
 
The accompanying notes on pages 19 to 83 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.  
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Consolidated Statement of Changes in the Equity  
 
(millions of EUR) 

 Share 
capital 

(Note 29) 
Share 

premium 

Other 
reserves 

(Note 29) 
Retained 
earnings 

Total 
equity 

Balance at 1 January 2020 145.3   5.1   0.5   240.0   390.9   

Net profit for the year - - - 39.0 39.0 

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 39.0 39.0 

Share-based compensation - - 0.3 - 0.3 

Realisation of share-based compensation - - -0.1 0.1 - 

Balance at 31 December 2020 145.3 5.1 0.7 279.1 430.2 

      

Balance at 1 January 2021 145.3 5.1 0.7 279.1 430.2 

Net profit for the year - - -  66.3   66.3  
Total comprehensive income for the year - - -  66.3   66.3  

Dividends (Note 29) - - - -19.5  -19.5  

Share-based compensation - -  0.3  -  0.3  

Realisation of share-based compensation - - -0.4   0.4   -   

Balance at 31 December 2021  145.3   5.1   0.6   326.3   477.3  
 

 
 
 

The accompanying notes on pages 19 to 83 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Consolidated Statement of Cash Flows  

(millions of EUR) 
  Note 2021  2020 
Operating activities       
Profit before income tax  67.8  40.1 
Adjustments for:       

Depreciation, amortization and impairment of tangible and intangible assets, 
right of use assets and investment property  

 
7.1  7.8 

Increase (+) / decrease (-) in ECL allowances  -9.0  15.8 
Increase (+) / decrease (-) in provisions  1.0   - 
Interest income  -69.8  -71.6 
Interest expense  10.5  3.5 
Gain (-) / loss (+) from exchange differences  22.8  -6.7 
Gain (-) / loss (+) on disposal of property, plant and equipment, intangible 
assets or investment property 

 
0.1   - 

Increase (+) / decrease (-) in share-based compensations  0.3  0.4 
        
Change in operating assets and liabilities:       

Increase (-) / decrease (+) in loans to credit institutions and mandatory 
reserve in central bank 

 
28.4  -35.9 

Increase (-) / decrease (+) in loans and advances to customers  89.0  -50.2 
Net change in derivative financial instruments  -4.5  -  
Increase (-) / decrease (+) in equity instruments  -0.5  -  
Increase (-) / decrease (+) in other assets, prepaid expenses and accrued 
income 

 
-7.3  24 

Increase (+) / decrease (-) in deposits from central banks and credit 
institutions 

 
-233  -92.1 

Increase (+) / decrease (-) in deposits and borrowings from the public 
 

477.4  415.8 
Increase (+) / decrease (-) in other liabilities, accrued expenses and prepaid 
income 

 
13.2  -33.1 

        
Interest received  69.8  71.6 
Interest paid  -10.6  -3.5 
Income tax paid (-) / received (+)  -1.8  3.4 
Net cash flows from (+) / used in (-) operating activities  450.9  289.3 
        
Investing activities       
Purchase of property, plant and equipment,  investment property and 
intangible assets 

 
-2.2  -1.6 

Proceeds  on sale of property, plant and equipment and investment property 
 

0.1   - 
Net cash inflow (+) / outflow (-) from debt securities    -145.4  -125 
Proceeds from equity instruments  4.9  4.2 
Dividends received   -   - 
Net cash flows from (+) / used in (-) investing activities  -142.6  -122.4 
        
Financing activities       
Dividends paid 29 -19.5  -  
Lease payments  -4.2  -4.2 
Net cash flows from (+) / used in (-) financing activities  -23.7  -4.2 
        
Net increase (+) / decrease (-) in cash and cash equivalents  284.6  162.7 
        
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January  778.2  608.8 
Net foreign exchange difference  -22.8  6.7 
Changes on cash and cash equivalents  284.6  162.7 
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December  1,040.0  778.2 
        
Cash and cash equivalents include:       
Cash on hand  13 36.2  34.7 
Balances with the central bank without mandatory reserve  13 880.1  307.1 
Demand deposits with credit institutions  14 123.7  436.4 
   1,040.0  778.2 

 

The accompanying notes on pages 19 to 83 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements 
 

Corporate information  
AS “SEB banka” (the Bank) is a joint-stock company incorporated in the Republic of Latvia, Meistaru street 1, Valdlauči, 
Ķekavas pagasts, Ķekavas novads, LV-1076. The Bank is registered in Commercial Register with common registration 
number LV 40003151743.The Bank and its subsidiaries (the Group) are engaged in banking and financial services 
business. As at 31 December 2021 and 2020 the Bank holds investments in the following subsidiaries:  

Company name Registry code Address Activity 
Holding 
(%) 

     

SIA “SEB līzings” 50003334041 

SEB finanšu centrs, Meistaru street 1, 
Valdlauči, Ķekavas pagasts, Ķekavas novads, 
LV-1076 

Leasing and factoring 
activities 

 
 
 
100 

     

IP AS “SEB Investment 
Management” 40003525797 Antonijas street 9-12, Riga, LV-1010 

Investment and pension 
fund management 100 

     

AS “SEB atklātais 
pensiju fonds” 40003485047 Antonijas street 9-12, Riga, LV-1010 Pension fund 

 
100 

 
On 13 July 2021 the Management board of the Bank has approved the plan to sell 100% of the shares of its subsidiary 
company IP AS “SEB Investment Management” and AS “SEB atklātais pensiju fonds” to SEB Life and Pension Baltic SE, 
member of the SEB group. Decision to sell the subsidiary was taken in Supervisory council on 14 July 2021. The sale is 
expected to be completed within a year from the reporting date. The subsidiary was not classified as a discontinued 
operation due to the fact, that it does not constitute separate major part of business. 
 
The sole shareholder of the Bank is Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ), who is also the ultimate controlling party, 
registered in Sweden.  
 
These consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 have been approved by the Management 
Board on 15 March 2022 and are subject to approval by the shareholder. 

 
 

 Significant accounting policies 

1.1. Statement of compliance 

These consolidated financial statements of AS “SEB banka” Group (the Group) are prepared in accordance with the 
International Financial Reporting Standards (IFRS) as adopted by the European Union. 

 

1.2. Basis of preparation 

These consolidated financial statements are prepared on historical cost basis, except for the certain financial assets and 
liabilities (including derivative instruments) measured at fair value. The accounting policies used in the preparation of the 
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2021 are consistent with those used in the annual 
consolidated financial statements for the year ended 31 December 2020. 

The consolidated financial statements are presented in millions of euro unless otherwise stated. 

 

1.3. Consolidation 

The subsidiaries being consolidated are listed under section “Corporate Information”. Investments in subsidiaries and 
associates in the Bank’s separate financial statements (Note 39)  are accounted for using the cost method less impairment 
and are initially recognized at cost. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
1. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
1.3. Consolidation (continued) 

1.3.1. Subsidiaries 

These consolidated financial statements combine the financial statements of the parent company and its subsidiaries. 

Subsidiaries are companies, over which the Group has control. The Group controls an entity when it is exposed to, or has 
rights to, variable returns from its involvement and has the ability to use its power to affect the amount of the returns. 
Control is deemed to exist when the parent company (i) has power to direct relevant activities of the investee that 
significantly affect their returns, (ii) has exposure or rights to variable returns from its involvement with the investees, 
and (iii) has the ability to use its power over the investees to affect the amount of investor’s returns. 

The financial statements of the parent company and the consolidated subsidiaries refer to the same period and have been 
drawn up according to the accounting policies applicable to the Group. A subsidiary is included in the consolidated 
accounts from the time of acquisition, being the date when the parent company gains control over the subsidiary. The 
subsidiary is included in the consolidated accounts until the date when control over the company ceases to exist. 

Business combinations are accounted using the acquisition method. The acquisition value is measured as the fair value of 
the assets given, equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or assumed. 

The identifiable assets acquired and the liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed in a business combination are 
measured initially at their fair values on acquisition date, irrespective of any non-controlling interest. Intra-group 
transactions, balances and unrealised gains and losses on transactions between Group companies are eliminated. 

 

1.4. Foreign currency translation 

The functional and presentation currency of the parent company and subsidiaries is Euro. Foreign currency transactions 
are translated into the functional currency using the exchange rates of the European Central Bank prevailing at the dates 
of the transactions. On subsequent Events after reporting date monetary items in foreign currency are translated using 
the closing rate. Non-monetary items, which are measured in terms of historical cost in foreign currency, are translated 
using the exchange rate on the date of the transaction. Non-monetary items, which are measured at fair value in a foreign 
currency, are translated applying the exchange rate of the European Central Bank on the date on which the fair value is 
determined. 

Gains and losses arising as a result of exchange rate differences on settlement or translation of monetary items are 
recognised in profit or loss. Translation differences on non-monetary items, classified as financial assets or financial 
liabilities at fair value through profit or loss, are included in the change in fair value of those items.  

 

1.5. Cash and cash equivalents 

For the purposes of presentation in the cash flow statement, cash and cash equivalents are cash on hand, demand deposits 
with the Central Banks and demand deposits with other credit institutions, which are readily convertible to known amounts 
of cash and which are subject to insignificant risk of changes in value. 

 

1.6. Financial assets 

Financial assets are recognised on the Statement of financial position when the Group becomes a party to the contractual 
provisions of the instrument and are measured at fair value on initial recognition. Transaction costs are included in the fair 
value on initial recognition except for financial assets at fair value through profit or loss where transaction costs are 
expensed in profit or loss. Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive cash flows have expired, the Group 
has transferred substantially all risks and rewards and upon substantial modification. Financial assets at fair value are 
recognised on the Statement of financial position  on trade date, with exception of loans, which are recognized on 
settlement date. Financial assets measured at amortised cost are recognised on settlement date. 

The Group classifies and subsequently measures its financial assets in the following categories: 
- financial instruments at fair value through profit or loss (‘FVPL’);  
- amortised cost (‘AC’).  

The classification will depend on if the financial asset is a debt instrument, an equity instrument or a derivative. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
1. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
1.6. Financial assets (continued) 

1.6.1. Debt Instruments (loans and debt securities) 

The classification is based on a combination of assessing the business model for managing the financial assets and whether 
the contractual cash flow characteristics consist of solely payments of principal and interest (‘SPPI’). The business model 
assessment is performed for homogenous portfolios identified based on how the business is managed in the divisions of 
the Group. The assessment is based on reasonable scenarios taking into consideration how the portfolio is evaluated and 
reported to management; the risks affecting the performance of the portfolio and how these risks are managed; how 
managers are compensated; and the frequency, value and timing of sales including the reasons for the sales. In 
determining if the cash flows consist solely of principal and interest, the principal is defined as the fair value of the debt 
instrument at initial recognition, which can change over the life if there are repayments or capitalisation of interest. 
Interest cash flows are consistent with components per a basic lending arrangement including consideration for time value 
of money, credit risk, liquidity risk as well as administrative costs and profit margin. If there are contractual features 
introducing an exposure to other risks or volatility, it is not considered to consist of solely payments of principal and 
interest. Debt instruments are presented in the Statement of financial position items: Receivables from credit institutions, 
Loans to the public and Debt securities, and include instruments in the following measurement categories. 

Fair value through profit or loss: Debt instruments are classified in this category if not meeting the criteria for amortised 
cost or fair value through other comprehensive income. This is the case if the business model is held for trading; where 
financial assets are considered held for trading if they are held with the intention to be sold in the short-term and for the 
purpose of generating profits. Debt instruments are mandatorily measured at fair value through profit or loss if the assets 
are managed and evaluated on a fair value basis or the assets are held with an intention to sell alternatively if the cash 
flows do not consist of solely payments of principal and interest. Debt instruments that would otherwise be classified as 
fair value through other comprehensive income or amortised cost are also included in this category if, upon initial 
recognition, designated at fair value through profit or loss (fair value option). The fair value option can be applied only in 
situations where such designation reduces measurement inconsistencies. 

Amortised cost: Debt instruments are classified in this category if both of the following criteria are met: 

(a) the business model objective is to hold assets to collect contractual cash flows; and  

(b) the contractual cash flow characteristics consist of solely payments of principal and interest.  

The gross carrying amount of these assets is measured using the effective interest method and adjusted for expected 
credit losses. 

Financial instruments by IFRS 9 measurement categories are presented in the Note 31. 

1.6.2. Equity instruments 

Equity instruments are classified as financial assets at fair value through profit or loss. An irrevocable election can be made 
on initial recognition to classify equity instruments (not held for trading) at fair value through other comprehensive income. 

1.6.3. Derivatives 

Derivatives are classified as fair value through profit or loss (held for trading) unless designated as hedging instruments. 

1.6.4. Modification 

The Group may renegotiate loans and modify contractual terms. If the new terms are substantially different from the 
original terms, the Group derecognizes the original financial asset and recognises a new asset. The Group also assesses 
whether the new financial asset is credit-impaired at initial recognition. If the terms are not substantially different, the 
modification does not result in derecognition and the Group recalculates the gross carrying amount based on the new cash 
flows using the original effective interest rate of the financial asset and recognises a modification gain or loss. 

1.6.5. Write-off 

The Group writes off financial assets measured at amortised cost, in whole or in part, when it is unlikely to collect debt 
from the borrower and it cannot be recovered from a sale of collateral. Write-offs constitute derecognition event and shall 
include amounts caused both by reductions of the carrying amount of financial assets recognised directly in profit or loss 
as well as reductions in the amounts of the allowance accounts for credit losses taken against the carrying amount of 
financial assets. 

The Group may write-off financial assets that are still subject to enforcement activity. The outstanding contractual 
amounts of such assets written off during the year ended 31 December 2021 is 9.3 million euros (31 December 2020 –
6.0 million euros).The Group still seeks to recover amounts it is legally owed in full, but which have been partially written 
off due to no reasonable expectation on full recovery.    
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
1. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

1.7. Financial guarantees 

Financial guarantees are contracts that require the Group to make specified payments to reimburse the holder for a loss 
it incurs because a specified debtor fails to make payment when due in accordance with the terms of a debt instrument. 
Financial guarantee liabilities are initially recognised at their fair value (which most often equals the premium received) 
and subsequently at the higher of the amount determined in accordance with the expected credit loss model under IFRS 
9 Financial Instruments and the amount initially recognised less, where appropriate, the cumulative amount of income 
recognised. The contractual amounts according to financial guarantees are not recognised in the statement of financial 
position but disclosed as obligations. 

1.8. Expected credit loss 

1.8.1. Measurement 

The impairment requirements are based on an expected credit loss (ECL) model. The guiding principle of the ECL model is 
to reflect the general pattern of deterioration or improvement in the credit quality of financial instruments. All financial 
assets measured at amortised cost, as well as lease receivables, financial guarantees contracts and certain loan 
commitments are in scope for expected credit loss. 

The ECLs on financial assets measured at amortised cost and lease receivables are presented as allowances, i.e., as an 
integral part of the measurement of those assets in the Statement of financial position . The allowance reduces the gross 
carrying amount. The ECLs on loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts are presented as provisions, i.e., as a 
liability, in the Statement of financial position . Adjustment to the loss allowance and provision due to changes in ECLs is 
recognised in the income statement as Net expected credit losses.  

The assessment of credit risk, and the estimation of ECL, shall be unbiased and probability-weighted, and shall incorporate 
all available information which is relevant to the assessment, including information about past events, current conditions 
and reasonable and supportable forecasts of future events and economic conditions at the reporting date. The  Group uses 
both models and expert credit judgement (ECJ) for calculating ECLs. 

The ECL model has a three-stage approach based on changes in the credit risk. A 12-month ECL (Stage 1) applies to all 
items, unless there is a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition. For items where there is a significant 
increase in credit risk (Stage 2) or in default (Stage 3), lifetime ECL applies. 

1.8.2. Significant increase in credit risk 

At the end of each reporting period the Group perform an assessment of whether credit risk has increased significantly 
since initial recognition. The assessment of whether there has been a significant change in credit risk is based on 
quantitative and qualitative indicators. Both historic and forward-looking information shall be used in the assessment. 

For arrangements with an initial origination date as at 1 January 2018 or later, the primary indicator is changes in lifetime 
probability of default (PD) by comparing the scenario-weighted annualized lifetime PD at the reporting date with the 
scenario-weighted annualized lifetime PD at initial recognition. For arrangements with an initial origination date prior to 1 
January 2018 changes in Group’s internal risk classifications since initial origination are used as the primary indicator. 

Regardless of the quantitative indicator, a significant increase in credit risk is triggered if the following back-stop indicators 
occur: 

 payments are past due >30 days but <90 days; or 
 financial assets that have been classified as watch-listed; or  
 financial assets are forborne (where due to the customer’s financial difficulties the contractual terms of the 

loans have been revised and concessions given). 

Back-stop indicators normally overlap with the quantitative indicator of significant increase in credit risk. 

In case there has been a significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, an allowance for lifetime ECL shall be 
recognised and the financial instrument is transferred to Stage 2. The approach is symmetrical, meaning that in 
subsequent reporting periods, if the credit quality of the financial instrument improves such that there is no longer a 
significant increase in credit risk since initial recognition, the financial assets move back to Stage 1. 

If credit quality of financial instrument deteriorates further, the financial instrument is transferred to Stage 3. Transfer to  

Stage 3 is triggered if the following indications occur: 
- Payments are past due more than 90 days; 
- Financial instrument is in default (PD = 100 per cent). 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
1. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
1.8. Expected credit loss (continued) 

1.8.3. Definition of default 

Financial instruments in default are in Stage 3. The Group apply a definition of default for accounting purposes that is 
consistent with how it is defined in the capital requirements regulation (Article 178 of Regulation (EU) No 575/2013 of 
the European Parliament and of the Council on prudential requirements for credit institutions and investment firms and 
amending Regulation (EU) No 648/2012),  which includes financial assets past due more than 90 days. All financial assets 
in Stage 3 are considered credit-impaired. 

1.8.4. Modelling 

The ECL is calculated as a function of the probability of default (PD), the exposure at default (EAD) and the loss given 
default (LGD), as well as the timing of the loss. The Group’s IFRS 9 methodology for ECL measurement is based on existing 
internal rating-based risk models (IRB) to the extent allowed under IFRS 9. As the objectives of these frameworks differ, 
the manner in which the expected credit losses are calculated also differs and appropriate adjustments are made to the 
IRB parameters to meet IFRS 9 requirements. Adjustments include the conversion of through-the-cycle and downturn 
parameters used in IRB risk models to point-in-time parameters used under IFRS 9 that considers forward-looking 
information. 

PD represents the likelihood that a loan will not be repaid and will go into default in either a 12-month or lifetime horizon. 
The expected PD for each individual instrument incorporates a consideration of past events, current market conditions 
and reasonable and supportable information about future economic conditions. The Group use IFRS 9 specific PD models. 
The models are calibrated based on a combination of assets class and product type. EAD represents an estimate of the 
outstanding amount of credit exposure at the time a default may occur. For off-balance sheet amounts, EAD includes an 
estimate of any further amounts to be drawn at the time of default. For IFRS 9, EAD models are adjusted for a 12-month 
or lifetime horizon. LGD is the amount that may not be recovered in the event of default. LGD takes into consideration the 
amount and quality of any collateral held as well as the probability of cure, whereby the borrower repays all his past due 
obligations on the defaulted loan and recommences contractual repayments. The Group use existing LGD models adjusted 
to meet IFRS 9 requirements. 

When measuring ECL, the Group use the maximum contractual period during which the Group is exposed to risk. All 
contractual terms are considered when determining the expected life, including prepayment options and extension and 
rollover options. For revolving facilities, such as credit cards, and retail mortgage facilities the expected life is modelled 
based on historical behaviour. The residual behavioural expected life for such facilities is based on historically observed 
survival curve and it is affected by the time since origination of the arrangement. 

1.8.5. Forward-looking information 

The SEB Group uses internally developed macroeconomic forecasts as the basis for the forward-looking information 
incorporated in the ECL measurement. In order to ensure an unbiased estimation of credit losses under IFRS 9, at least 
three scenarios are used. One of the scenarios is the base case scenario, representing the most likely outcome, which is 
also applied in the financial planning and budgeting process, while other case scenarios represent more positive or 
negative outcomes. 

The forward-looking scenarios are prepared by the Group Economic Research Department. The scenarios are approved 
by the Group Risk Committee. 

A scenario consists of a qualitative description of the macroeconomic development and a quantitative part, with forecasts 
of key macroeconomic variables for three subsequent years, as well as the likelihood of occurrence (scenario- weight). 
The scenarios are reviewed on a quarterly basis. In case of significant changes in the macroeconomic environment and 
outlook, the scenarios will be updated more frequently. The base scenario variables are benchmarked to various external 
sources of similar forward-looking scenarios, e.g. from OECD, IMF, EU, national central banks, ECB and 
governments/ministries of Finance. 

1.8.6. Expert Credit Judgement 

The Group use both models and expert credit judgement (ECJ) in order to determine ECLs. The degree of judgement that 
is required to estimate ECL depends on the model outcome, materiality and the availability of detailed information. The 
model provides guidance and transparency as to how economic events could affect the impairment of financial assets. 
Model overlay may be applied to the modelled outcome to incorporate an estimated impact of factors not captured by the 
model. Such judgmental adjustment to the model-generated ECLs may be applied to significant exposures at a 
counterparty  level. The overlays are decided by the relevant credit committee using the model ECLs as guidance. In 
addition there may be a need for overlays at a portfolio level, which is decided by the SEB Group Risk Committee.  
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
1. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

1.9. Financial liabilities 

Financial liabilities are measured at fair value on initial recognition. In case the financial liabilities are measured at fair 
value through profit or loss, transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition or the issuance of the financial liability 
are recognised in profit or loss. For other financial liabilities direct transaction cost are recognised as a deduction from the 
fair value. 

Financial liabilities are derecognised when extinguished, that is, when the obligation is discharged, cancelled or expired. 

The Group classify and subsequently measure their financial liabilities in the following categories: 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss 

Financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss are classified as held for trading. Financial liabilities held for trading 
are derivatives not designated as hedging instruments.  

Other financial liabilities 

The category other financial liabilities primarily include the Group’s short-term and long-term borrowings. After initial 
recognition other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method. The Statement 
of financial position items Deposits from central banks and credit institutions, Deposits and borrowings from the public and 
Other financial liabilities are included in this category. 

 

1.10.  Fair value measurement 

The objective of the fair value measurement is to arrive at the price at which an orderly transaction would take place 
between market participants at the measurement date under current market conditions. The best evidence of fair value 
is a quoted price for the instrument being measured in an actively traded market. Where the market for a financial 
instrument is not active, fair value is calculated using an established valuation technique. These valuation techniques 
involve a degree of estimation, the extent of which depends on the instrument’s complexity and the availability of market-
based data. When valuing financial liabilities at fair value own credit standing is reflected. Given the uncertainty and 
subjective nature of valuing financial instruments at fair value, it is possible that the outcomes in the next financial year 
could differ from the assumptions used. 

For some of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities, especially for certain derivatives, quoted prices are not available, 
and valuation models are used to estimate fair value. As part of the fair value measurement, valuation adjustments are 
made when valuing derivative financial instruments, to incorporate counterparty and own credit risk. The methodologies 
for estimating valuation adjustments are continuously revised as a result of changing market practices in response to 
regulatory and accounting policy changes, as well as general market developments. 

 

1.11.  Offsetting financial transactions 

Financial assets and liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the Statement of financial position when there is 
a legal right to offset transactions and an intention to settle net or realise the asset and settle the liability simultaneously. 

 

1.12.  Property, plant and equipment 

Property, plant and equipment are initially recognized at cost, consisting of the purchase price, non-refundable taxes and 
other direct costs related to taking the asset in to use. Subsequently property, plant and equipment is measured at cost 
and depreciated according to plan on a straight line basis over the estimated useful life of the asset. The depreciation 
period for buildings is up to 50 years, for other property, plant and equipment - between 2 and 10 years. Subsequent costs 
are included in the asset’s carrying amount or recognised as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that 
future economic benefits associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. 
All other repairs and maintenance are charged to the income statement during the reporting period in which they are 
incurred. Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing proceeds with carrying amount and are included in 
the income statement. 

Property, plant and equipment is tested for impairment whenever there is an indication of impairment. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
1. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

1.13.  Intangible assets 

Intangible assets are identifiable, non-monetary assets without physical substance. For an intangible asset to be 
recognised an entity must be able to demonstrate control of the intangible asset, which implies that the entity has the 
ability to ensure that the future economic benefits flowing from the underlying resource will accrue to the company. 
Intangible assets, other than goodwill, are only recognised in the statement of financial position if it is probable that the 
future economic benefits attributable to the asset will accrue to the Group and if the acquisition cost of the asset can be 
measured reliably. 

Intangible assets are measured initially at acquisition cost, and thereafter at cost less any accumulated amortisation and 
any accumulated impairment losses. 

Intangible assets with finite useful lives, i.e. all intangible assets except goodwill, are amortised on a straight line basis 
over their useful lives (3 years) and tested for impairment annually and whenever events or changes in circumstances 
indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. Internally generated intangible assets, such as software 
development, are amortised over a period of 8 years. 

The recoverable amount of an intangible asset is determined if there is indication of a reduction in the value of the asset. 
An impairment loss is recognised if the carrying amount exceeds the recoverable amount of the asset. 

The guidance in IAS 38 Intangible Assets is applied to cloud computing arrangements if the Group receives a resource it 
can control, assuming it is not accounting for the intangible asset as a lease. If the cloud computing arrangement does not 
provide the Group with an intangible asset for the software (and does not contain a lease), then the right to access the 
underlying software in the cloud computing arrangement is generally a service contract where the fees paid is expensed 
as the service is received. 

 

1.14.  Impairment of non-financial assets 

Assets that are subject to amortization and depreciation are reviewed for impairment whenever events or changes in 
circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. In such circumstances the recoverable value of 
the asset is assessed and compared to its carrying value. An impairment loss is recognised for the amount by which the 
asset’s carrying amount exceeds its recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less 
costs to sell and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for which 
there are separately identifiable cash flows. Non-financial assets other than goodwill that suffered impairment are 
reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting date. 

 

1.15.  Leasing 

1.15.1. The Group as a lessor 

The receivables from the financial lease agreements are recognized in net present value of the minimum lease payments, 
from which the payments of principal received have been deducted, plus unguaranteed residual value at the end of 
contract. Lease payments collected are allocated between repayment of principal and financial income. Financial income 
is recognized over the rental period based on the pattern reflecting a constant periodic rate of return on the lessor’s net 
investment in the financial lease. Initial service fees collected at issuance are included into the calculation of effective 
interest rate and lessor’s net investment. Lessor’s direct expenses, related to the contract, are part of effective interest 
rate and are booked as decrease of leasing income over the period of leasing contract. Allowances for lease receivables 
are presented on the respective line of statement of financial position at negative value. 

The lease receivable from the client is recognized in the statement of financial position as of the moment of delivering the 
assets being the object of the agreement to the client. In case of transactions, in which the assets being the object of the 
agreement having a long delivery term have not yet been delivered to the client, the payments received from the lessees 
under these agreements are recognized in the statement of financial position as prepayments of buyers in line “Other  
liabilities”. The amounts paid by the leasing firm for the assets under lease agreements not yet delivered are recognized 
in the statement of financial position as prepayments to suppliers on line “Other assets”. 

Assets under operating leases when the Group is lessor are recognized as property, plant and equipment. The assets under 
operating lease are measured at historical cost net of accumulated depreciation. Depreciation of assets under operating 
lease is calculated on the difference between historic cost and estimated residual value at the end of the useful life. 
Depreciation is calculated on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful life of property, plant and equipment and the 
charge is included in “Depreciation, amortization and impairment of tangible and intangible assets”.  

Income receivable under operating leases is credited to the income statement on a straight-line basis over the lease term 
and is included in “Other operating income”. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
1. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
1.15. Leasing (continued) 

1.15.2.  The Group as a lessee  

Leases are recognized as a right-of-use asset and a corresponding liability at the date at which the leased asset is available 
for use by the Group. Each lease payment is allocated between the liability and finance cost. The finance cost is charged 
to the income statement over the lease period so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining 
balance of the liability for each period. The lease payments are discounted using the interest rate implicit in the lease, if 
that rate can be determined, or the Group’s incremental borrowing rate. The right-of-use asset is depreciated over the 
shorter of the asset's useful life and the lease term on a straight-line basis. The lease payments include fixed payments 
less any lease incentives receivable and variable lease payments that depend on an index or a rate. 

The Group has elected not to recognize right-of-use assets and lease liabilities for short-term leases that have a lease term 
of 12 months or less and leases for low-value assets. The Group recognizes the lease payments associated with these 
leases as an expense on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

 

1.16.  Provisions 

Provisions are recognised for present obligations arising as consequences of past events where it is more likely than not 
that a transfer of economic benefit will be necessary to settle the obligation, and it can be reliably estimated. 

Provisions are determined by discounting the expected future cash flows at pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and, where appropriate, the risks specific to the liability. 

Provisions are made for undrawn loan commitments and similar facilities if it is probable that the facility will be drawn by 
a debtor in financial difficulties. ECLs on loan commitments and financial guarantee contracts are presented as provisions. 
Provisions and changes in provisions are recognised in the income statement as Net credit losses. 

Provisions are evaluated at each reporting date and are adjusted as necessary. 

 

1.17.  Operating income 

1.17.1.  Interest income and interest expenses 

The effective interest method is applied to recognise interest income and interest expenses in profit or loss for financial 
assets and financial liabilities measured at amortised cost. 

The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial asset or a financial liability and 
of allocating interest income and interest expenses. The effective interest rate is the rate that discounts estimated future 
cash payments or receipts through the expected life of the financial instrument to the net carrying amount of the financial 
instrument. The calculation of the effective interest rate includes fees and points to be received and paid that are an 
integral part of the effective interest rate.   

If a financial asset subsequently has become credit impaired the interest income is recognised applying the effective 
interest rate to the amortised cost, i.e. gross carrying amount adjusted for the loss allowance. In case a financial asset is 
credit-impaired at initial recognition, the expected credit losses are included in the estimated cash flows to calculate a 
credit adjusted effective interest rate which then is applied to recognise the interest income. 

1.17.2.  Fee and commission income 

The recognition of revenue from contracts with customers is reported as fee and commission income. This does not apply 
for revenue from leasing contracts or financial instruments and other contractual obligations within the scope of IFRS 9 
Financial Instruments. 

Fees that are included in the calculation of the effective interest rate of a financial instrument measured at amortised cost, 
such as loan origination fees, are allocated over the expected tenor of the instrument applying the effective interest 
method and presented in Net interest income. 

Fee and commission income is recognised to depict the transfer of promised services to the customers in an amount that 
reflects the consideration to which SEB expects to be entitled in exchange for the service. Group’s revenue contracts do 
not typically include multiple performance obligations. The major types of fees are described below. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
1. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
1.17. Operating income (continued) 
1.17.2. Fee and commission income (continued) 

Fee and commission income from services where performance obligations are satisfied over time  

Performance obligations are satisfied over time where the customer simultaneously receives and consumes the benefits 
provided by the Group's performance as the Group performs. 

Securities revenue: revenue from asset management, custody and advisory services is recognized over time. Performance 
based fees are recognised when it is highly probable that a significant reversal of recognised revenue will not occur, which 
is when the performance criteria are fulfilled. 

Deposit revenue: fee income charged for the current account handling is recognized over time.   

Payment revenue: payment service plans fee, subscription fees are recognized over time. 

Lending revenue: commitment fees related to the undrawn portion of the loan commitment and, as such, change based on 
the portion of the unused commitment at that time. In such circumstances, the fee is not related to the amount being lent, 
but relates to a service being provided by the Group, and is accounted for as a service over time in accordance with IFRS 
15. 

Guarantees revenue: income from issued financial guarantees is amortised over the duration of the instrument and 
recognized over time. 

Fee and commission income from providing services where performance obligations are satisfied at a point in time 

Services provided where the Group's performance obligations are satisfied at a point in time are recognized once control 
of the services is transferred to the customer. This is typically on completion of the underlying transaction or service. 

Card payments revenue: fee income from cards transactions, interchange fees, income from cash management activities 
is generally recognized when the service is provided. 

Payments revenue: income from money transfer services is recognized at the time of transaction. 

Other revenue: other fees and commissions are mainly recognized at point in time, when control of the service is 
transferred to the customer. 

Expenses that are directly related to the generation of fee and commission income are recognised as fee and commission 
expense. 

1.17.3.  Net financial income 

Gains and losses arising from changes in fair value of financial assets and liabilities measured at fair value through profit 
or loss are reported under the item Net financial income. 

1.17.4.  Dividend income 

Dividends are recognised when the entity’s right to receive payment is established. 

 

1.18.  Employee benefits 

1.18.1.  Short-term benefits 

Liabilities for wages and salaries, including non-monetary benefits, annual leave and accumulating sick leave that are 
expected to be settled wholly within 12 months after the end of the period in which the employees render the related 
service are recognised in respect of employees’ services up to the end of the reporting period and are measured at the 
amounts expected to be paid when the liabilities are settled. The liabilities are presented as Accrued expenses and prepaid 
income in the statement of financial position. 

1.18.2.  Termination benefits 

Termination benefits are payable whenever an employee’s employment is terminated before the normal retirement date 
or whenever an employee accepts voluntary redundancy in exchange for these benefits. The Group recognizes 
termination benefits when it is demonstrably committed to either terminate the employment of current employees 
according to a detailed formal plan without possibility of withdrawal or to provide termination benefits as a result of an 
offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
1. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
1.18. Employee benefits (continued) 

1.18.3.  Defined contribution plans 

The Group is paying into the defined contribution plans or life insurance contracts on behalf of its employees. A defined 
contribution plan is a pension plan where the Group pays a contribution to AS "SEB atklātais pensiju fonds" and has no 
further obligation once the contribution is paid. Pension costs for defined contribution pension plans and life insurance 
premiums are recognised as an expense during the period the employees carry out the service to which the payment 
relates. 

1.18.4.  Share-based payments 

The Group operates of share-based incentive programme based on Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ) shares, 
under which it awards SEB equity instruments to its employees. Only key persons can participate in those programmes. 
The programme, referred to above, is the Share Deferral Program (SDP).Equity-settled share-based incentive 
programmes entitle employees to receive SEB equity instruments. Fair value of these rights is determined by using 
appropriate valuation models, taking into account the terms and conditions of the award and the Group’s estimate of the 
number of rights that will eventually vest, which is reassessed at each reporting date. The recording of expenses will last 
until the end of the qualification period of the respective programs. 

The cost of equity-settled share-based incentive programmes is measured by reference to the fair value of equity 
instruments on the date they are granted and recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over the vesting period 
with a corresponding increase in equity. The vesting period is the period that the employees have to remain in service in 
SEB in order for their rights to vest.  
 

1.19.  Taxes 

The Group’s tax for the period consists of current and deferred tax. Current tax assets and liabilities for the current and 
prior periods are measured at the amount expected to be paid to or from tax authorities using the tax rates and tax laws 
that have been enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date.  

Based on Latvian Corporate income tax law, starting from year 2018, corporate income tax is calculated on the basis of 
distributed profit or in case of expenses treated as deemed profit distribution (20/80 of the net amount payable to 
shareholders). 

Current tax arising from distributed profit is recognized when the shareholder makes a decision on profit distribution, while 
tax on deemed profit distribution is recognized in income statement in the period for which it is assessed. Deferred tax in 
consolidated financial statements arises from undistributed profits of subsidiaries, since it is expected that the earnings 
of subsidiaries will be distributed in the foreseeable future. To the extent that subsidiaries’ profit distribution is assumed, 
the deferred tax liability is recognized in consolidated financial statements by using 20 per cent rate that is applicable to 
profit distributions. 
 

1.20.  Fiduciary activities 

The Group provides asset management services and offers fund management services. The assets owned by third parties, 
but managed by the Group, and income arising thereon, are excluded from these financial statements, as they are not 
assets of the Group. Assets managed by the Group and commissions received from fiduciary activities are  disclosed in 
Note 30 Commission income is presented in fee and commission income. 
 

1.21.  Share capital, equity reserves and dividends 

Ordinary shares are classified as equity. Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares are shown in 
equity as a deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds. Any excess of the fair value of consideration received over the par 
value of shares issued is recorded as share premium in equity. 

The reserves recorded in equity on the Group’s  statement of financial position include: 

General and other reserves 

General and other reserves represent general reserve for possible losses, that can only be offset with the current losses, 
and share based compensation reserve , that will be paid in the share capital equivalent of Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken 
AB (publ) Class A shares to employees participating in the share based premium program.  

Dividends are recorded in equity in the period in which they are declared. Any dividends declared after the end of the 
reporting period and before the financial statements are authorised for issue, are disclosed in the subsequent events note. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
1. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
 
1.22.  New and amended standards and interpretations 

1.22.1. Standards and interpretations effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2021 

The accounting policies adopted are consistent with those of the previous financial year except for the following amended 
IFRSs which have been adopted by the Group as of 1 January 2021: 

Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2 – IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, IFRS 4 and IFRS 16  (Amendments) 
In August 2020, the IASB published Interest Rate Benchmark Reform – Phase 2, Amendments to IFRS 9, IAS 39, IFRS 7, 
IFRS 4 and IFRS 16, completing its work in response to IBOR reform. The amendments provide temporary reliefs which 
address the financial reporting effects when an interbank offered rate (IBOR) is replaced with an alternative nearly risk-
free interest rate (RFR). In particular, the amendments provide for a practical expedient when accounting for changes in 
the basis for determining the contractual cash flows of financial assets and liabilities, to require the effective interest rate 
to be adjusted, equivalent to a movement in a market rate of interest. Also, the amendments introduce reliefs from 
discontinuing hedge relationships including a temporary relief from having to meet the separately identifiable requirement 
when an RFR instrument is designated as a hedge of a risk component. There are also amendments to IFRS 7 Financial 
Instruments: Disclosures to enable users of financial statements to understand the effect of interest rate benchmark 
reform on an entity’s financial instruments and risk management strategy. While application is retrospective, an entity is 
not required to restate prior periods. The amendments had no impact on the financial statements of the Group. 

IFRS 16 Leases-Cοvid 19 Related Rent Concessions (Amendment)  
The amendment applies, retrospectively, to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 June 2020. Earlier application 
is permitted, including in financial statements not yet authorized for issue at 28 May 2020. IASB amended the standard to 
provide relief to lessees from applying IFRS 16 guidance on lease modification accounting for rent concessions arising as 
a direct consequence of the covid-19 pandemic. The amendment provides a practical expedient for the lessee to account 
for any change in lease payments resulting from the covid-19 related rent concession the same way it would account for 
the change under IFRS 16, if the change was not a lease modification, only if all of the following conditions are met: 

- The change in lease payments results in revised consideration for the lease that is substantially the same as, or 
less than, the consideration for the lease immediately preceding the change. 

- Any reduction in lease payments affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2021. 
- There is no substantive change to other terms and conditions of the lease. 

The amendments had no impact on the financial statements of the Group. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
1. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
1.22. New and amended Standards and interpretations  (continued) 

1.22.2. New accounting pronouncements  

Certain new or revised standards and interpretations have been issued that are mandatory for the Group’s annual periods 
beginning on or after 1 January 2022 and which the Group has not early adopted. 

Amendment in IFRS 10 Consolidated Financial Statements and IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures: Sale or 
Contribution of Assets between an Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture 
The amendments address an acknowledged inconsistency between the requirements in IFRS 10 and those in IAS 28, in 
dealing with the sale or contribution of assets between an investor and its associate or joint venture. The main 
consequence of the amendments is that a full gain or loss is recognized when a transaction involves a business (whether 
it is housed in a subsidiary or not). A partial gain or loss is recognized when a transaction involves assets that do not 
constitute a business, even if these assets are housed in a subsidiary. In December 2015 the IASB postponed the effective 
date of this amendment indefinitely pending the outcome of its research project on the equity method of accounting. The 
amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU. Management is assessing if there will be a material effect on the 
financial statements of the Group. 

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements: Classification of Liabilities as Current or Non-current (Amendments) 
The amendments were initially effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2022 with earlier 
application permitted. However, in response to the covid-19 pandemic, the Board has deferred the effective date by one 
year, i.e. 1 January 2023, to provide companies with more time to implement any classification changes resulting from 
the amendments. The amendments aim to promote consistency in applying the requirements by helping companies 
determine whether, in the statement of financial position, debt and other liabilities with an uncertain settlement date 
should be classified as current or non-current. The amendments affect the presentation of liabilities in the statement of 
financial position and do not change existing requirements around measurement or timing of recognition of any asset, 
liability, income or expenses, nor the information that entities disclose about those items. Also, the amendments clarify the 
classification requirements for debt which may be settled by the company issuing own equity instruments.  

In November 2021, the Board issued an exposure draft (ED), which clarifies how to treat liabilities that are subject to 
covenants to be complied with, at a date subsequent to the reporting period. In particular, the Board proposes narrow 
scope amendments to IAS 1 which effectively reverse the 2020 amendments requiring entities to classify as current, 
liabilities subject to covenants that must only be complied with within the next twelve months after the reporting period, 
if those covenants are not met at the end of the reporting period. Instead, the proposals would require entities to present 
separately all non-current liabilities subject to covenants to be complied with only within twelve months after the reporting 
period. Furthermore, if entities do not comply with such future covenants at the end of the reporting period, additional 
disclosures will be required. The proposals will become effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 
January 2024 and will need be applied retrospectively in accordance with IAS 8, while early adoption is permitted. The 
Board has also proposed to delay the effective date of the 2020 amendments accordingly, such that entities will not be 
required to change current practice before the proposed amendments come into effect. These Amendments, including ED 
proposals, have not yet been endorsed by the EU. Management is assessing if there will be a material effect on the financial 
statements of the Group. 

IFRS 3 Business Combinations; IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment; IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent 
Assets as well as Annual Improvements 2018-2020 (Amendments) 
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 January 2022 with earlier application permitted. 
The IASB has issued narrow-scope amendments to the IFRS Standards as follows: 

- IFRS 3 Business Combinations (Amendments) update a reference in IFRS 3 to the Conceptual Framework for 
Financial Reporting without changing the accounting requirements for business combinations. 

- IAS 16 Property, Plant and Equipment (Amendments) prohibit a company from deducting from the cost of 
property, plant and equipment amounts received from selling items produced while the company is preparing 
the asset for its intended use. Instead, a company will recognise such sales proceeds and related cost in profit or 
loss. 

- IAS 37 Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets (Amendments) specify which costs a company 
includes in determining the cost of fulfilling a contract for the purpose of assessing whether a contract is onerous. 

- Annual Improvements 2018-2020 make minor amendments to IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International 
Financial Reporting Standards, IFRS 9 Financial Instruments, IAS 41 Agriculture and the Illustrative Examples 
accompanying IFRS 16 Leases 

Management is assessing if there will be a material effect on the financial statements of the Group. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
1. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
1.22. New and amended Standards and interpretations  (continued) 
1.22.2. New Accounting Pronouncements (continued) 

IFRS 16 Leases -Cοvid 19 Related Rent Concessions beyond 30 June 2021 (Amendment) 
The Amendment applies to annual reporting periods beginning on or after 1 April 2021, with earlier application permitted, 
including in financial statements not yet authorized for issue at the date the amendment is issued. In March 2021, the 
Board amended the conditions of the practical expedient in IFRS 16 that provides relief to lessees from applying the IFRS 
16 guidance on lease modifications to rent concessions arising as a direct consequence of the covid-19 pandemic. 
Following the amendment, the practical expedient now applies to rent concessions for which any reduction in lease 
payments affects only payments originally due on or before 30 June 2022, provided the other conditions for applying the 
practical expedient are met. Management is assessing if there will be a material effect on the financial statements of the 
Group. 

IAS 1 Presentation of Financial Statements and IFRS Practice Statement 2: Disclosure of Accounting policies (Amendments) 
The Amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023 with earlier application 
permitted. The amendments provide guidance on the application of materiality judgements to accounting policy 
disclosures. In particular, the amendments to IAS 1 replace the requirement to disclose ‘significant’ accounting policies 
with a requirement to disclose ‘material’ accounting policies. Also, guidance and illustrative examples are added in the 
Practice Statement to assist in the application of the materiality concept when making judgements about accounting policy 
disclosures. Management is assessing if there will be a material effect on the financial statements of the Group. 

IAS 8 Accounting policies, Changes in Accounting Estimates and Errors: Definition of Accounting Estimates (Amendments) 
The amendments become effective for annual reporting periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023 with earlier 
application permitted and apply to changes in accounting policies and changes in accounting estimates that occur on or 
after the start of that period. The amendments introduce a new definition of accounting estimates, defined as monetary 
amounts in financial statements that are subject to measurement uncertainty. Also, the amendments clarify what changes 
in accounting estimates are and how these differ from changes in accounting policies and corrections of errors. 
Management is assessing if there will be a material effect on the financial statements of the Group. 

IAS 12 Income taxes: Deferred Tax related to Assets and Liabilities arising from a Single Transaction (Amendments) 
The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2023 with earlier application permitted. 
In May 2021, the Board issued amendments to IAS 12, which narrow the scope of the initial recognition exception under 
IAS 12 and specify how companies should account for deferred tax on transactions such as leases and decommissioning 
obligations. Under the amendments, the initial recognition exception does not apply to transactions that, on initial 
recognition, give rise to equal taxable and deductible temporary differences. It only applies if the recognition of a lease 
asset and lease liability (or decommissioning liability and decommissioning asset component) give rise to taxable and 
deductible temporary differences that are not equal. The Amendments have not yet been endorsed by the EU. 
Management is assessing if there will be a material effect on the financial statements of the Group. 

1.23.  Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies 

1.23.1. Expected credit loss model  

When calculating expected credit loss (ECL) there are a number of key concepts that require a high level of judgement. 
Estimating expected credit loss is, by its very nature, uncertain and the accuracy of these estimates depends on many 
factors, e.g. macroeconomic forecasts and involves complex modelling and judgements. At the end of each reporting 
period the Group performs an assessment of whether credit risk has increased significantly since initial recognition by 
considering the change in the risk of default occurring over the remaining life of the financial instrument, using key risk 
indicators that are used in the Group’s existing risk management processes. Another area requiring significant judgement 
is the incorporation of forward-looking information and macroeconomic scenarios. IFRS 9 requires an unbiased and 
probability-weighted estimate of credit losses by evaluating a range of possible outcomes that incorporates forecasts of 
future economic conditions. The Group uses internally developed macroeconomic forecasts as the basis for the forward-
looking information in the ECL measurement. The Group uses both models and expert credit judgement (ECJ) in order to 
determine ECLs. The objective of applying ECJ is to incorporate the estimated impact of factors not captured in the 
modelled ECL. The degree of judgement that is required to estimate expected credit losses depends on the outcome from 
calculations, materiality and the availability of detailed information. The models, assessment and assumptions are 
regularly reviewed by the risk organization of the Group and approved by the Group Risk Committee. The assumptions 
and sensitivity analysis are further described in Note 2.2.  
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
1. Significant accounting policies (continued) 
1.23. Critical accounting estimates and judgements in applying accounting policies (continued) 

1.23.2. Fair value measurement of financial instruments 

The objective of the fair value measurement is to arrive at the price at which an orderly transaction would take place 
between market participants at the measurement date under current market conditions. The best evidence of fair value 
is a quoted price for the instrument being measured in an actively traded market. Where the market for a financial  
instrument is not active, fair value is calculated using an established valuation technique. These valuation techniques 
involve a degree of estimation, the extent of which depends on the instrument’s complexity and the availability of market-
based data. When valuing financial liabilities at fair value own credit standing is reflected. Given the uncertainty and 
subjective nature of valuing financial instruments at fair value, it is possible that the outcomes in the next financial year 
could differ from the assumptions used. 
For some of the Group’s financial assets and liabilities, especially for certain derivatives, quoted prices are not available, 
and valuation models are used to estimate fair value. As part of the fair value measurement, valuation adjustments are 
made when valuing derivative financial instruments, to incorporate counterparty and own credit risk. The methodologies 
for estimating valuation adjustments are continuously revised as a result of changing market practices in response to 
regulatory and accounting policy changes, as well as general market developments. 

The Group has an established control environment for the determination of fair values of financial instruments that 
includes a review, independently from the business, of valuation models and prices.  

For disclosure purposes, fair values are classified in a fair value hierarchy according to the level of observability of the 
inputs, see Note 3 Fair value measurement of assets and liabilities . 
 

 Risk policy and management 

2.1. Risk policy and structure 

The Group defines risk as the possibility of a negative deviation from an expected financial outcome. Group’s profitability 
is directly dependent upon its ability to evaluate, manage and price the risks encountered, while maintaining an adequate 
capital and liquidity position to meet unforeseen events. The Supervisory Board is responsible for setting the maximum 
acceptable levels of risks to be taken by the bank. The risk tolerance statements convey the direction and level of risk, 
funding structure, and necessary liquidity and capital buffers. 

The Group main risk is credit risk. Other risks include market risk, non-financial risk, business risk, and liquidity risk. In order 
to cover the risks, SEB holds a capital buffer and liquidity reserves in case of unforeseen events. SEB strives to continuously 
identify and manage risks in its operations, both existing and emerging risks, in a designated risk management process. 
The aggregate risk profile of SEB is regularly monitored and reported to the management bodies. In the annual capital 
adequacy process, the capital needs are evaluated based on the risk profile and future business strategy, taking into 
consideration the financial stability requirements of the regulators, debt investors, business counterparties and 
shareholders’ required rate of return. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
2. Risk policy and management (continued) 
2.1. Risk policy and structure (continued) 

RISK PROFILE 
 

Risk type  SEB Banka Group shall  2021 development and position 

Credit risk and asset 
quality 

 Have a robust credit culture based on 
long-term relationships, knowledge about 
the customers and focus on their 
repayment ability. This will lead to a high 
quality credit portfolio. 

 • The Group has a well-balanced credit 
portfolio with main exposure to 
corporates and households in Latvia. 

• Despite Covid-19 pandemic credit 
portfolio quality remained strong. 

• The Bank strengthened monitoring of 
credit metrics. 

Market risk  Achieve low earnings volatility by 
generating revenues based on customer-
driven business. 

 • Market risk arises in SEB's customer-
driven trading activity and its liquidity 
portfolio. Generally, Group's market risk is 
low. 

• Interest rate risk arises due to 
mismatches in rates and maturities in the 
bank's assets and liabilities, and is 
managed by the Treasury function. 

Non-Financial  and 
reputational risk 

 Strive to mitigate non-financial risks in 
all business activities and maintain the 
bank’s reputation. 

 • Continuously working to maintain an 
effective internal control framework and 
ensure a structured and consistent usage 
of risk mitigating tools and processes for 
all identified non-financial risks. 

• Managing and mitigating IT, cyber and 
information risks are key priorities to 
ensure secure and available information, 
services and products for customers 

• To manage effects from Covid-19 
pandemic additional business continuity 
measures were still applied, including 
critical function physical split, remote 
working and adjusted service model. 

Liquidity and 
funding risk 

 Have a soundly structured liquidity 
position and sufficient liquid reserves to 
meet potential net outflows in a stressed 
scenario. 

 • Strong liquidity position, large and 
further increased buffers above 
regulatory ratios 

• Group’s primary funding sources are 
customer deposits. 

Aggregated risk and 
capital adequacy 

 Maintain satisfactory capital strength in 
order to sustain aggregated risks, and 
guarantee the bank’s long-term survival 
and its position as a financial counterparty, 
while operating within regulatory 
requirements. 

 • The Group is strongly capitalised in 
relation to regulatory capital 
requirements. 

• The aim is to hold a capital adequacy 
buffer of around 150 basis points above 
the regulatory requirement. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
2. Risk policy and management (continued) 

2.2. Credit risk 

Definition 

Credit risk is the risk of loss due to the failure of an obligor to fulfil its obligations towards The Group. The definition also 
comprises counterparty risk derived from the trading operations, country risk, settlement risk, and credit concentration 
risk.  

Credit risk is the main risk in the Group, which arises in the lending and commitments to customers, including corporates, 
financial institutions, public sector entities and private individuals. This is referred to as the credit portfolio. The Group’s 
total credit exposure consists of the credit portfolio as well as debt instruments. 

Risk management 

Credit policies and approval process 

The main principle in The Group’s credit policy is that all lending is based on credit analysis and is proportionate to the 
customer’s cash flow and ability to repay. The customer shall be known by the bank and the purpose of the loan shall be 
fully understood. The business units take full responsibility of the credit risk until repayment. 

A credit approval is based on an evaluation of the customer’s creditworthiness and type of credit. Relevant factors include 
the customer’s current and anticipated financial position and protection provided by covenants and collateral. A credit 
approval takes the proposed transaction into account as well as the customer’s total business with the bank. The credit 
decision also includes a risk classification of the customer based on this analysis. The process differs depending on the 
type of customer (e.g., retail, corporate or institutional), risk level, and size and type of transaction. For larger corporate 
customers, independent and professional credit analysis is particularly important, and decisions are mostly taken by a 
credit committee. For households and small businesses, the credit approval is often based on credit scoring models. 
Deciding on the risk taking is performed collegially by credit committees or by the authorised persons in accordance with 
the decision-making limits established by the bank’s management. 

The Group’s credit policies reflect the Group’s approach to sustainability as described in the Corporate Sustainability 
Policy, the Environmental Policy, the Human Rights Policy, and the Credit Policy on Corporate Sustainability. Position 
statements on climate change, child labour and access to fresh water as well as number of industry sector policies are 
considered in the credit granting process and are also used in customer dialogues. Environmental, social and governance 
risks are considered in the credit analysis. 

Risk mitigation 

In order to reduce the credit risk, a number of credit risk mitigation techniques are used. The method used depends on its 
suitability for the product and the customer in question, its legal enforceability, and on SEB’s experience and capacity to 
manage and control the particular technique. The most important credit risk mitigation techniques are collateral pledges 
and guarantees. The most common types of pledges are real estate, floating charges (commercial pledge – account 
receivables, inventories, machinery, equipment and vehicles) and financial securities. The main guarantors are state, 
municipalities and credit institutions whose creditworthiness is assessed by the same methods and the frequency as the 
same customer group borrowers creditworthiness. 

The Group’s policies regarding obtaining collateral have not significantly changed during the reporting period and there 
has been no significant change in the overall quality of the collateral held by the Group since the prior period. 

Limits and monitoring 

To manage the credit risk for individual customers or customer groups, a limit is established that reflects the maximum 
exposure that The Group is willing to accept.  

The Group continuously reviews the quality of its credit exposures. All limits and risk classes are reviewed at least annually 
by a credit approval body (a credit committee consisting of at least two bank officers as authorised by the Credit 
Instruction, adopted by the Management Board). 

For regular monitoring of private individuals and small corporates - retail portfolio - the behavioral scoring models are in 
use. The models are based on the application scoring models used in loans analysis process. Client executives have an 
obligation to update financials of small corporates at least once a year. Behavioral score is calculated monthly for all 
private individuals and small corporates loans. 

Collateral values are reviewed on a regular basis, e.g. through annual customer reviews by credit committees or annual 
in-house indexation. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
2. Risk policy and management (continued) 
2.2. Credit risk (continued) 

Weak or impaired exposures are subject to more frequent reviews. The objective is to identify credit exposures with an 
elevated risk of loss at an early stage and to work together with the customer towards a solution that enables the customer 
to meet its financial obligations and the Group to avoid or limit credit losses. Problem exposures and recovering written-
off loans are handled by Special Credit Management Division by using several methods: negotiations with clients, 
rehabilitation, execution, bankruptcy proceedings. Special Credit Management Division specialists are involved with 
problem loans (or potential problem loans) at the early stage to ensure most valuable outcome for both the client and the 
bank. 

Allowances are made for expected credit losses of financial assets in scope of the accounting standard IFRS 9 Financial 
Instruments. The guiding principle of the expected credit loss model is to reflect the general pattern of deterioration or 
improvement in the credit quality of the assets.  

Loans where the contractual terms have been amended in favour of the customer due to financial difficulties are referred 
to as forborne loans. Forbearance measures range from amortisation holidays (the most common measure) to refinancing 
with new terms and debt forgiveness. A relevant credit approval body shall approve the forbearance measures as well as 
the classification of the loan as being forborne or not. 

Credit portfolio analysis and stress tests 

The risk organisation regularly reviews and assesses the aggregate credit portfolio based on industry, geography, risk 
class, product type, size and other parameters. Risk concentrations in geographic and industry sectors as well as in large 
single names are thoroughly analysed, both in respect of direct and indirect exposures and in the form of collateral, 
guarantees and credit derivatives.  

Stress tests of the credit portfolio, including reverse stress tests, are performed regularly as a part of the Group annual 
internal capital adequacy assessment process. Specific analyses and stress tests of certain sectors or sub-portfolios are 
performed as required. 

Risk measurement 

Credit risk is measured for all exposures, both in the banking book and the trading book.  

The Group divides loan portfolio into two broad segments:  

1) non-retail portfolio including loans to legal entities belonging to counterparty group’s with credit risk assumed by the 
Group exceeding 500 000 euros (2020: 500 000 euros); and  

2) retail portfolio consisting of small businesses’ and private individuals’ sub-segments.  

An internal ratings-based (IRB) risk classification system approved by the regulator is used for the majority of the bank’s 
portfolios and reflects the risk of default on payment obligations.  

For significant corporate portfolios, the risk classification system contains specific rating tools and PD (probability of 
default) scales. Larger and mid-sized counterparties are measured on a risk class scale of 1–16, while Small and Medium-
sized Enterprises (SMEs) are measured on a scale of 1–12. Defaulted counterparties are given the highest risk class, and 
the three risk classes prior to default are defined as “watch list”. For each risk class scale, SEB makes individual one-year, 
through-the-cycle probability of default estimates, which are based on more than 20 years of internal and external data. 

For private individuals and small businesses, the Group uses credit scoring systems to estimate PD for the customer. The 
scoring model for small businesses considers financial condition based on last two annual reports, credit history with the 
bank and based on external credit history register, experience of the customer. The outcome of the scoring model is credit 
score, expressing risk level and determining decision-making level. Depending on the score clients are divided into quality 
classes A, B, C and D, where A is the best and D is the worst quality class. Customers with insufficient information for score 
calculation are included to the worst quality class. In addition, there is the quality class E for defaulted credit 
arrangements. 

In analysing loans to private individuals the credit scoring and left-to-live model (this measures the customer’s ability to 
service the loan taking into account net income and cost of living) is used. The output of the model is credit score. Based 
on the score the credit arrangements are divided into quality classes A, B, C, and D, where A is the best and D is the worst 
quality class.  Defaulted arrangements are in quality class E.  

Following supervisory approval, a revised definition of default has been in use since November 2021 to meet the latest 
regulatory expectations. 
  



AS „SEB banka”, Annual Report 2021   

 36

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
2. Risk policy and management (continued) 
2.2. Credit risk (continued) 

Counterparty risk in derivative contracts 

The Group enters into derivatives contracts primarily to support customers in the management of their financial exposures 
and then normally manages the resulting positions by entering offsetting contracts with the parent company. 

Counterparty credit risk in derivative contracts is the risk of a counterparty not living up to its contractual obligations 
where the Group has a claim on the counterparty. The claim on the counterparty corresponds to a net positive exposure 
in favour of the Group. Since the market value of a derivative fluctuates during the term to maturity, the uncertainty of 
future market conditions must be taken into account and a credit risk equivalent is calculated. 

Credit risk related to derivatives is handled in Note 3.Fair value measurement of assets and liabilities. So in Credit risk 
chapter we concentrate on credit risk arising from loans and receivables from customers and credit institutions (other 
credit institutions). 

Counterparty risk in derivative contracts affects the profit and loss through credit/debit valuation adjustments (CVA/DVA) 
reflecting the credit risk associated with derivative positions. These adjustments depend on market risk factors such as 
interest rate, foreign exchange rates and credit spreads. 

Measurement of ECL allowances 

The Group uses both models and expert credit judgement (ECJ) for calculating ECL allowances. The degree of judgement 
depends on model outcome, materiality and information available and ECJ may be applied to incorporate factors not 
captured by the models. In 2020 and 2021, ECJ was used to estimate model overlays to capture potential negative effects 
on the asset quality arising from the uncertain economic outlook in light of the Covid-19-pandemic. The model overlays 
were determined through top-down scenario analysis combined with bottom-up customer analysis of larger corporate 
customers and exposed sector analysis for other customer segments. 

Key macroeconomic variable assumptions for calculating ECL allowances 

Macroeconomic forecasts made by SEB's economic research department are used as the basis for the forward-looking 
information incorporated in the ECL measurement. In order to ensure an unbiased estimation under IFRS 9, at least three 
scenarios are used with different probability weightings. The base case scenario represents the most likely outcome and 
is also applied in the financial planning and budgeting process, while the other scenarios represent more positive and 
negative outcomes respectively. The probability weightings assigned to each scenario are determined using a combination 
of statistical analysis and expert judgment. The scenarios and their probability weightings are reviewed every quarter, or 
more frequently when appropriate due to rapid or significant changes in the economic environment.   

In 2021, the scenarios have been reviewed and updated to reflect the changing economic outlook as a result of the 
development of Covid-19 pandemic. No changes have been made to the method used for incorporating forward-looking 
information in the modelling. The three scenarios - base, positive and negative scenarios - are based on different 
assumptions around how rapidly economies will reopen following the pandemic as well as effects of inflation and 
monetary policies. The base scenario assumes a balanced economic recovery despite new Covid-19 waves. The table 
below sets out the key macroeconomic assumptions of the latest base case scenario which was used for estimating ECL 
allowances as of 31 December 2021. A further description of the scenarios is available in SEB's Nordic Outlook from 
November 2021. 

 
 Latvia 2022 2023 2024 

Domestic GDP growth 5.0% 4.2% 3.0% 

Real estate price growth 0.5% 0.0% 0.5% 

Unemployment rate 6.6% 6.2% 6.0% 

Household consumption expenditure growth 5.8% 4.7% 4.0% 

Residential real estate price growth 3.0% 3.0% 3.0% 

Nominal wage growth 7.5% 7.5% 6.0% 

Inflation rate 4.6% 2.0% 2.0% 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
2. Risk policy and management (continued) 
2.2. Credit risk (continued) 

The most significant assumptions affecting the ECL allowance of the non-retail, retail corporates and private individuals 
portfolios, respectively, are as follows: 

 
Non-retail portfolios    
(i) GDP  impact on companies' performance  
(ii) Real estate price development impact on collateral valuations 
    

Retail portfolios:   
(i) Unemployment rate impact on borrowers' ability to meet their contractual repayments 
(ii) Household consumption expenditure 
growth 

impact on borrowers' ability to meet their contractual obligations 

(iii) Residential real estate price growth impact on mortgage collateral valuations 
 

The positive scenario assumes a combination of pent-up consumption needs and a high level of household savings 
represents upside potential. A robust increase in consumption may also lead to a positive spiral that drives broad-based 
capital spending. Ensuring that such a scenario is sustainable requires a highly favourable labour supply trend, but above 
all that new investments actually lead to clear productivity improvements. The negative scenario reflects the risk of 
inflation and failures related to central bank exit strategies. If labour market shortages do not ease, wages may surge − 
showing that current macro forecasts and financial market pricing are based on an overly positive view of the supply side. 
Central banks could then choose to tighten their policies, triggering major stock market and home price declines. If they 
did not act, inflation expectations would instead take off, losing touch with inflation targets. In the estimation of ECL 
allowances as of 31 December 2021, the probabilities of the three scenarios were 65 per cent (55 per cent as of year-
end 2020) for the base scenario, 15 per cent (20) for the positive scenario and 20 per cent (25) for the negative scenario. 

Sensitivity analysis of macroeconomic assumptions 

In general, a worsening of the outlook on forecasted macroeconomic variables for each scenario or an increase in the 
probability of the negative scenario occurring will both increase the number of loans migrating from Stage 1 to Stage 2 
and increase the estimated ECL allowances. On the other hand, an improvement in the outlook on forecasted 
macroeconomic variables or an increase in the probability of the positive scenario occurring will have the opposite positive 
impact. 

Should the positive and negative scenarios be assigned 100 per cent probability of occurring, the model calculated ECL 
allowances would increase by 5 per cent and decrease by 3 per cent, respectively compared to the weighted scenario. 

 ECL allowances resulting from 
scenario 

Difference from the probability 
weighted ECL allowances, % 

Negative scenario 29.8  5% 
Positive scenario 27.6  -3% 

Key assumptions for triggering significant increase in credit risk (SICR)  

For arrangements with initial origination date as of 1 January 2018 or later, the primary indicator is changes in lifetime 
probability of default (PD) by comparing the scenario weighted annualised lifetime PD at the reporting date with the 
scenario weighted annualised lifetime PD at initial recognition. For arrangements with an initial origination date prior to 1 
January 2018 changes in SEB internal risk classification since initial origination are used as the primary indicator. 

Quantitative measures for triggering significant increase in credit risk (SICR) 
 

 For arrangements originated prior 
to 1 January 2018 

For arrangements originated on or 
after 1 January 2018 

Watch list * * 

Investment grade 2 - 7  grades 
Annualised lifetime PD increase by 
200% and ≥ 50 basis points 

Standard monitoring 1 - 2 grades 
Annualised lifetime PD increase by 
200% and ≥ 50 basis points 

* Placement of a financial asset on watch list automatically classifies it as a significant increase in credit risk and places it in 
Stage 2. 
 
 

 
  



AS „SEB banka”, Annual Report 2021   

 38

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
2. Risk policy and management (continued) 
2.2. Credit risk (continued) 

Regardless of the quantitative indicator, a significant increase in credit risk is triggered if the following back-stop indicators 
occur:  

- payments are past due >30 days but < 90 days, or 
- financial assets are forborne (where due to the customer’s financial difficulties the contractual terms of the loans 
have been revised and concessions given). 

Back stop indicators normally overlap with the quantitative indicator of significant increase in credit risk. 

Concentration of financial assets, contingent liabilities and financial commitments by economic sector 

(millions of EUR)  
 In the statement of financial position   
31/12/2021 Cash and balances 

with central bank, 
loans to credit 

institutions, loans to 
the public 

Securities and 
derivatives 

Contingent 
liabilities, 
financial 

commitments  

    

Central bank 954.8 - 0.1 

General government 141.4 421.0 7.9 

Credit institutions - 2.2 59.4 

Other financial corporations 39.4 0.7 13.1 

Non-financial corporations 1,667.7 3.5 617.3 

of which:    

Agriculture, forestry and fishing 225.5 - 33.3 

Mining and quarrying 4.0 - 0.4 

Manufacturing 157.7 - 114.4 

Electricity, gas, steam and air conditioning supply 269.8 0.9 100.2 

Water supply 15.4 - 6.7 

Construction 25.4 - 93.7 

Wholesale and retail trade 235.6 1.4 139.6 

Transport and storage 119.7 - 42.6 

Accommodation and food service activities 17.9 - 1.8 

Information and communication 14.0 - 13.8 

Real estate activities 495.6 1.2 57.1 

Professional, scientific and technical activities 9.1 - 1.7 

Administrative and support service activities 43.5 - 3.0 

Education 0.8 - 0.1 

Human health services and social work activities 13.9 - 0.3 

Arts, entertainment and recreation 1.7 - 0.4 

Other services 18.1 - 8.2 

Households 1,134.5 - 88.5 

Total 3,937.8 427.4 786.3 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
2. Risk policy and management (continued) 
2.2. Credit risk (continued) 

(millions of EUR)  

  In the statement of financial position   
31/12/2020 Cash and balances 

with central bank, 
loans to credit 

institutions, loans to 
the public 

Securities and 
derivatives 

Contingent 
liabilities, 
financial 

commitments 

    

Central bank 375.0 - 0.1 

General government 114.1 276.0 56.5 

Credit institutions 472.1 25.3 42.5 

Other financial corporations 6.6 - 56.4 

Non-financial corporations 1,843.2 5.8 602.6 

of which:    

Agriculture, forestry and fishing 235.5 - 42.2 

Mining and quarrying 6.2 - 1.5 

Manufacturing 148.1 - 92.4 

Electricity, gas, steam and air conditioning supply 322.8 1.7 109.6 

Water supply 14.4 - 2.8 

Construction 15.8 - 94.5 

Wholesale and retail trade 266.4 2.4 130.7 

Transport and storage 112.1 - 25.2 

Accommodation and food service activities 19.5 - 0.7 

Information and communication 31.6 - 36.3 

Real estate activities 583.1 1.7 26.2 

Professional, scientific and technical activities 9.5 - 1.1 

Administrative and support service activities 34.9 - 1.7 

Education 0.9 - - 

Human health services and social work activities 15.3 - 2.9 

Arts, entertainment and recreation 2.4 - 0.1 

Other services 24.7 - 34.7 

Households 1,098.6 - 74.4 

Total 3,909.6 307.1 832.5 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
2. Risk policy and management (continued) 
2.2. Credit risk (continued) 
 
Large exposures 
 

    31/12/2021  31/12/2020 
 Number/

Amount 
% from net 
own funds 

 Number/
Amount 

% from net 
own funds 

      
Number of customer with large exposures 34 -  44 - 
Due from customer with large exposures (EUR mil.) 615.5 151.8  716.0 191.3 
 615.5 151.8  716.0 191.3 

Own funds included in calculation of capital adequacy 405.6 -  374.3 - 

 

Large exposures contain due from central bank, credit institutions or customers (loans, interests, securities) and off-
balance sheet commitments to central bank, credit institutions or customers, which may turn into claims. 

The following is deducted from large exposures: 
- claims to the parent company of the bank and their subsidiaries which are under the consolidated supervision of financial 
inspections of concerned states; 
- due from central bank, central government and government authorities, which belong to a group with credit risk 
considered at 0 per cent; 
- 80 per cent of exposures to Regional governments or local authorities with 20 per cent risk weight. 

Large credit risk exposure is defined by the Regulation No 575/2013 of the European Parliament and of the Council and 
is the total exposure of one party or related parties to the Group which exceeds 10 per cent of the Group's Tier1 capital, 
40.6 million euros as at 31 December 2021 (37.4 million euros as at 31 December 2020). All instruments where credit 
risk may arise to the Group are taken into consideration.  The sum of exposure values, after taking into account the effect 
of the credit risk mitigation in accordance with the Regulation 575/2013, to any group of related clients does not exceed 
25 per cent of the Group’s eligible capital. 
 
Maximum exposure to credit risk before collateral held or other enhancement 

(millions of EUR) 
 2021   2020 
     
Subject to ECL allowances:     
Balances with central bank  954.8    375.0 
Loans to credit institutions    125.9    472.1 
Loans to the public  2,983.0    3,062.5 

   Corporates  1,707.1    1,849.8 
   Public sector  141.4    114.1 
   Mortgage  943.2    898.7 
   Other loans to Private individuals  191.3    199.9 

Other financial assets  25.7    19.4 
     
Not subject to ECL allowances:     
Debt securities  421.0    275.7 
Derivatives  6.4    31.4 
Equity instruments -   4.4 
     
Exposures related to off-balance sheet items and guarantees 786.3   832.5 
     
Maximum exposure 4,516.8   4,240.5 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
2. Risk policy and management (continued) 

2.3. Liquidity risk 

Definition 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group is unable to refinance its existing assets or is unable to meet the demand for 
additional liquidity. Liquidity risk also entails the risk that the Group is forced to borrow at unfavourable rates or is forced 
to sell assets at a loss in order to meet its payment commitments.   

Liquidity management and risk measurement 

The Supervisory Board has established a comprehensive framework for managing the Group’s liquidity requirements and 
risks in the short- and long-term. The aim of the Group’s liquidity risk management is to ensure that the Group has a 
controlled liquidity risk situation, with adequate volumes of liquid assets to meet its liquidity requirements in all 
foreseeable circumstances, without incurring substantial cost.  

The liquidity risk is managed through the risk tolerances and management alert levels set by the Management Board. The 
treasury function has the overall responsibility for liquidity management and funding. Risk department measures limit 
utilisation based on different market conditions and liquidity stress tests on a daily basis. The liquidity risk position is 
reported regularly to the newly established Risk Oversight Committee, Management Board and to the Risk Committee of 
the Supervisory Board.  

Liquidity management and the structuring of the Statement of financial position from a liquidity point of view are built on 
three basic perspectives:  

(i) the structural liquidity perspective, in which stable funding is put in relation to illiquid assets;  
(ii) the Group’s tolerance for short-term stress in the form of a shutdown of the wholesale and interbank funding 

markets (wholesale funding dependence); and,  
(iii) the Group’s tolerance to a severe stress scenario (survival horizon) where, in addition to a shutdown of the 

funding market, the bank experiences a severe outflow of deposits. 

Structural liquidity risk 

In order to maintain a sound structural liquidity position, the structure of the liability side should be based on the 
composition of assets. The more long-term lending and other illiquid assets, the more stable funding is required. In The 
Group, this is measured as the Core Gap ratio, which is conceptually equivalent to the Net Stable Funding Ratio (NSFR), 
i.e., a ratio between stable funding (over 1 year maturity) and illiquid assets (over 1 year maturity). The difference 
between the internal Core Gap ratio and the external NSFR is that the Core Gap ratio is calculated on a more detailed level 
based on internal statistics, which results in different weightings of available and required stable funding. 

Wholesale funding dependence 

The Group measures wholesale funding dependence as the loan to deposit ratio which, is calculated by dividing the bank’s 
total loans to the public by its total deposits from the public. A ratio below 100 per cent means that lending to the public 
is being fully financed by deposits from the same segment, i.e. there is no reliance on other types of funding (typically 
wholesale funding). 

Stressed survival horizon 

Severe stress can be modelled by combining assumptions of a wholesale funding market shutdown with assumptions of 
deposit outflows, drawdowns on commitments, etc. The outcome is captured by the regulatory defined Liquidity Coverage 
Ratio (LCR) where, in a stressed scenario, modelled net outflows during a 30-day period are related to the amount of total 
liquid assets. The Group also measures the time it would take for the liquid assets to be depleted in a severely stressed 
scenario, expressed as the stressed survival horizon.  

Internal liquidity adequacy assessment process 

Liquidity risk is not primarily mitigated by capital. However, there are strong links between a bank’s capital and liquidity 
position. Hence, an internal liquidity adequacy assessment process (ILAAP) complements the ICAAP. The ILAAP is 
designed to identify potential gaps against SEB’s long-term desired level of liquidity adequacy, taking into account that 
effective liquidity management is a continuous process. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
2. Risk policy and management (continued) 
2.3. Liquidity risk (continued) 
 

Liquidity risk management measures 
 31/12/2021 31/12/2020 

Core Gap ratio 149.6% 132.6% 
Loan to deposit ratio 75.1% 87.7%  
Liquidity Coverage ratio 293.0% 428.0% 

 

Retail deposits, which are stable to large extent, are the most important financing source for the Group. Belonging to the 
international banking group gives the Group additional assurance to manage long-term liquidity. Liquidity is managed in 
co-operation with the SEB Group Treasury. Through the parent company the Group has better access to the international 
money markets than on individual basis. 

Next table presents undiscounted contractual cash flows payable by the Group under non-derivative financial liabilities 
by remaining contractual maturity as at 31 December 2021 and maturity analysis of financial assets the Group holds for 
managing liquidity risk. 

(millions of EUR) 

Maturity On demand 
Up to 3 
month 

3-12 
month 1-5 years 

Over 5 
years Total 

Carrying 
value in 

statement of 
financial 
position  

Cash and balances with 
central bank 954.8 - - - - 954.8 954.8 
Demand deposits from Credit 
Institutions 123.7 - - - - 123.7 123.7 

Government bonds - 132.9 36.8 219.6 31.7 421.0 421.0 
Total assets used for 
liquidity management 1,078.5 132.9 36.8 219.6 31.7 1,499.5 1,499.5 
Deposits from central banks 
and credit institutions 2.4 - - - - 2.4 2.5 
Deposits and borrowings 
from the public 3,981.6 - - - 1.5 3,983.1 3,982.3 

Other financial liabilities 4.8 - 3.2 10.7 35.7 54.4 53.6 

of which lease liabilities - - 2.1 5.1 - 7.2 7.2 
of which other financial 

liabilities 4.8 - 1.1 5.6 35.7 47.2 46.4 
Total undiscounted non-
derivative financial 
liabilities 3,988.8 - 3.2 10.7 37.2 4,039.9 4,038.4 
Irrevocable off-balance sheet 
commitments 199.6 108.0 221.7 202.7 54.3 786.3 - 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
2. Risk policy and management (continued) 
2.3. Liquidity risk (continued) 

Next table presents the cash flows payable by the Group under non-derivative financial liabilities by remaining contractual 
maturity as of 31 December 2020. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.  

(millions of EUR) 

Maturity On demand 
Up to 3 
month 

3-12 
month 1-5 years 

Over 5 
years Total 

Carrying 
value in 

statement of 
financial 
position  

Cash and balances with 
central bank 375.0 - - - - 375.0 375.0 
Demand deposits from Credit 
Institutions 436.3 - - - - 436.3 436.3 

Government bonds - 28.2 26.3 221.2 - 275.7 275.7 
Total assets used for 
liquidity management 811.3 28.2 26.3 221.2 - 1,087.0 1,087.0 

Deposits from central banks 
and credit institutions 20.0 0.5 0.3 216.3 - 237.1 235.5 
Deposits and borrowings 
from the public 3,503.5 0.4 - - 1.4 3,505.3 3,505.0 

Other financial liabilities 18.4 0.1 3.6 5.3 17.2 44.6 43.3 

of which lease liabilities - 0.1 2.7 3.6 - 6.4 6.4 
of which other financial 
liabilities 18.4 - 0.9 1.7 17.2 38.2 36.9 

Total undiscounted non-
derivative financial 
liabilities 3,541.9 1.0 3.9 221.6 18.6 3,787.0 3,783.8 
Irrevocable off-balance sheet 
commitments 196.4 87.4 289.9 166.0 92.8 832.5 - 

 

Next table presents undiscounted derivative instruments analysis for the Group as of 31 December 2021. Gross-settled 
derivatives are included in the analysis whether their fair value is negative or positive at reporting date. Pay leg of such 
derivatives is presented as outflow and receive leg as inflow. 
 
Gross-settled derivatives 

(millions of EUR) 

Maturity On demand Up to 3 month 3-12 month 1-5 years 
Over 5 

years Total 
       

Foreign exchange derivatives       

Outflow - 46.0 3.6 - - 49.6 

Inflow - 46.6 3.7 - - 50.3 

 
 
Next table presents undiscounted derivative instruments analysis for the Group as at 31 December 2020: 
Gross-settled derivatives 

(millions of EUR) 

Maturity On demand Up to 3 month 3-12 month 1-5 years 
Over 5 

years Total 
       

Foreign exchange derivatives       

Outflow - 114.7 300.3 - - 415.0 

Inflow - 114.0 300.2 - - 414.2 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
2. Risk policy and management (continued) 

2.4. Market risk 

Definition 

Market risk is the risk of losses in positions and obligations in the Statement of financial position, arising from adverse 
movements in market prices. Market risk can arise from changes in interest rates, foreign exchange rates, credit spreads, 
commodity and equity prices, implied volatilities, inflation and market liquidity. A clear distinction is made between market 
risks related to trading activity, i.e., trading book risks, and structural market and net interest income risks, i.e., banking 
book risks. Whereas positions in the trading book are held with a trading intent and under a daily mark-to-market regime, 
positions in the banking book do not have a trading intent and are typically held at amortised cost. 

Risk management 

Market risks in the trading book arises from bank’s customer-driven trading activities. Market risk also arises in the form 
of interest rate risk in the banking book as a result of Statement of financial position mismatches in currencies, interest 
terms and interest rate periods. The treasury function has overall responsibility for managing these risks. The treasury 
function also manages a liquidity portfolio, which is part of bank’s liquidity reserve. The market risk from the liquidity 
portfolio comes from credit spread risk and interest rate risk in pledgeable and highly liquid bonds. 

Bank‘s risk appetite is defined in the Risk Tolerance statements through which Banks Supervisory Board  defines how 
much market risk is acceptable. Risk Committee of the Supervisory Board sets tolerance levels within given market risk 
limits. 

The Group measures the risks using different methods of risk valuation and management pursuant to the type of risk. 
Important role in risk prevention is diversification of risk assets and limitation for trading positions. 

The risk organisation measures, follows up and reports the market risk taken by the various units within The Group on a 
daily basis. The risk control function monitors limit compliance and market prices at closing as well as valuation standards 
and the introduction of new products. In addition to daily reports, Market risks are reported regularly  to the  Risk Oversight 
Committee and to the Risk Committee of the Supervisory Board. 

Risk measurement  

When assessing the market risk exposure, the Group uses measures that capture losses under normal and stressed market 
conditions. Market risks under normal market circumstances are measured using Value at Risk (VaR) as well as specific 
measures that are relevant for the various risk types. These measures are complemented by stress tests and scenario 
analyses, in which potential losses under extreme market conditions are estimated. Since no measurement method can 
cover all risks at all times, several approaches are used, and the results are assessed based on judgment and experience. 

Value at Risk and Stressed Value at Risk 

VaR expresses the maximum potential loss that could arise during a certain time period with a given degree of probability. 
The Group uses a historical simulation VaR model with a ten-day time horizon and 99 per cent confidence interval to 
measure, limit and report VaR. The model aggregates market risk exposure for all risk types and covers a wide range of 
risk factors in all asset classes. The Group also uses a stressed VaR measure, where VaR is calculated for the current 
portfolio using market data from a historic, turbulent time period covering the Lehman Brothers’ default. The VaR model 
is subject to validation using back-testing analysis. 

A limitation of the Group’s VaR model is that it uses historical data to estimate potential market changes. As such it may 
not predict all outcomes, especially in a rapidly changing market. Also, VaR does not take into account any actions to 
reduce risk as the model assumes that the portfolio is unchanged. 

 
(millions of EUR) 

 31/12/2021 
(unaudited) 

31/12/2020 
(unaudited) 

Interest risk (stand-alone) 0.2 1.0 

Credit spread risk (stand-alone) 0.0 0.0 

Foreign exchange risk (stand-alone) 0.0 0.0 

Equity price risk (stand-alone) 0.0 1.0 

Diversification effect 0.0 -0.7 

Total 0.2 1.3 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
2. Risk policy and management (continued) 
2.4. Market risk (continued) 
 
Scenario analysis and Stress tests   

Scenario analysis and stress tests are a key part of the risk management framework, complementing the VaR measure. In 
particular, they test the portfolios using scenarios other than those available in the VaR simulation window, and cover 
longer time horizons. The Group stresses its portfolios by applying extreme movements in market factors which have been 
observed in the past (historical scenarios) as well as extreme movements that could potentially happen in the future 
(hypothetical or forward-looking scenarios).  

This type of analysis provides management with a view on the potential impact that large market moves in individual risk 
factors, as well as broader market scenarios, could have on a portfolio.   

Specific risk measures 

VaR and stress tests are complemented by specific risk measures including Delta 1 per cent and NII sensitivity for interest 
risk, and single and aggregated FX for currency risk. 

In addition, all units that handle risk for financial instruments valued at market are limited by a stop-loss limit. The stop-
loss limit indicates the maximum loss a unit can incur before mitigating actions are taken. 
 

2.4.1. Foreign exchange risk 

Foreign exchange risk arises both through the Group’s foreign exchange trading and because the Group’s activities are 
carried out in various currencies. The Group’s main objective for taking foreign exchange risk is to facilitate smooth foreign 
exchange trading for its customers and to manage the flows from customers’ deals effectively. Together with the 
customers’ deals related flows the Group manages the structural foreign exchange risk inherent in the structure of the 
Statement of financial position and earnings.   

Market risks arising from the foreign exchange positions are measured internally within the overall VaR framework. As a 
complement Management Board  has set limits for open foreign currency positions by individual currencies and also on an 
aggregated level as a sum of long or short positions, depending of which one is higher on absolute terms. Management of 
open foreign currency positions is the responsibility of the Markets department, analysis and limit follow-up is performed 
by the Risk department. 

The table below summarizes the Group’s exposure to foreign currency exchange rate risk at the reporting date. ECB 
closing rates are used. 

 

Currency 
 31/12/2021 

Rates Position, EUR mil. Percentage of capital 
    

New Zealand dollar (NZD) 1.6579 0.1 0.0 

The remaining long positions N/A 0.2 0.1 

The remaining short positions N/A -0.2 -0.1 

    
Open position N/A 0.1 0.0 

 

Currency 
 31/12/2020 

Rates Position, EUR mil. Percentage of capital 
    

U.S. Dollars (USD) 1.2271 0.1 0.0 

The remaining long positions N/A 0.3 0.1 

The remaining short positions N/A -0.3 -0.1 

    
Open position N/A 0.1 0.0 

 

Net currency position was under 1 per cent level of net own funds, 4.1 million euros as at 31 December 2021 (3.7 million 
euros as at 31 December 2020). 

2.4.2. Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the value of the Group’s assets, liabilities and interest-related derivatives will be 
negatively affected by changes in interest rates or other relevant risk factors.  



AS „SEB banka”, Annual Report 2021   

 46

Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
2. Risk policy and management (continued) 
2.4. Market risk (continued) 
2.4.2. Interest rate risk (continued) 

The majority of the Group’s interest rate risks are structural and arise within the banking operations when there is a 
mismatch between the interest fixing periods of assets and liabilities, including derivatives. 

The Group uses Delta 1% methodology for measuring the assets-liability mismatch risk, arising from the structure of 
Assets exposed to interest rate risk (Financial Assets) and Liabilities exposed to interest rate risk (Financial Liabilities) to 
reflect change in economic value due to change in interest rates. Delta 1% is defined as the change in market value arising 
from an adverse one percentage unit parallel shift in all interest rates in each currency. Delta 1% method enables to 
effectively measure the impact of interest rate changes to Assets exposed to interest rate risk and Liabilities exposed to 
interest rate risk. Delta 1% should be kept within the limit set by the Management Board. 

The Group also uses NII sensitivity metrics to reflect change in the net interest income due to the change of interest rates. 
For 2021 NII sensitivity was defined as change in value of annual Net Interest Income per 200 bps parallel shift of interest 
rates with additional assumptions, e.g. interest rate floors accounting for very low current yield level. The Group does not 
have a limit on NII sensitivity, but instead a risk tolerance measure relative to Risk Exposure Amount is established by the 
Risk Committee of the Supervisory Board. 

 Daily management of interest rate risk is the responsibility of the Treasury department, and measuring and analysing that 
of the Risk department. 

Interest rate sensitivity 31/12/2021 31/12/2020 

Net effect on the economic value of equity (delta 1%) -9.9 -10.2 

The  Group Delta 1% has been negative which means that the average duration of Assets exposed to interest rate risk is 
higher than average duration of Liabilities exposed to interest rate risk and the Group is more exposed to interest rate 
increase. The biggest contributors to the Delta 1% figure are loans from the asset side and deposits and funding from the 
parent company from the liabilities side which balance the mismatch from loans. Further information on interest rate 
sensitivity can be found through table below “Exposure to interest rate risk by interest fixation period”. It includes the 
Group’s financial assets and liabilities at carrying amounts, categorised by the earlier of contractual repricing or maturity 
date. 

Exposure to interest rate risk by interest fixation period 

(millions of EUR) 
31/12/2021 

 Within 
1 month 

1-3   
months 

3-6  
months 

6-12 
months 

1-5   
years 

Over 
5 years 

Non-
interest 
bearing Total 

Financial assets         
Cash and balances with central bank 918.6 - - - - - 36.2 954.8 
Loans to credit institutions 125.9 - - - - - - 125.9 
Loans to the public 828.7 916.6 650.0 460.3 117.1 7.3 3.0 2,983.0 
Debt securities 52.9 79.8 1.9 34.6 219.4 31.7 0.7 421.0 
Derivatives 0.2 0.4 0.1 0.1 2.0 3.6 - 6.4 
Equity instruments - - - - - - - - 
Other assets - - - - - - 25.7 25.7 
Total financial assets 1,926.3 996.8 652.0 495.0 338.5 42.6 65.6 4,516.8 
         
Financial liabilities          
Deposits from central banks and credit 
institutions 2.4 - - - - - 0.1 2.5 
Deposits and borrowings from the public 3,977.5 0.3 0.5 0.6 1.5 0.5 1.5 3,982.4 
Derivatives - 0.1 - 0.1 0.8 3.1 - 4.1 
Other financial liabilities - - - - - - 53.6 53.6 
Total financial liabilities 3,979.9 0.4 0.5 0.7 2.3 3.6 55.2 4,042.6 
         
Total interest repricing gap of on-
balance sheet position -2,053.6 996.4 651.5 494.3 336.2 39.0 10.4 474.2 
         
Derivative assets 384.3 212.8 59.5 10.0 63.6 53.1 - 783.3 
Derivative liabilities 96.6 92.9 54.8 95.0 354.9 88.3 - 782.5 
         
Total interest repricing gap -1,765.9 1,116.3 656.2 409.3 44.9 3.8 10.4 475.0 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
2. Risk policy and management (continued) 
2.4. Market risk (continued) 
2.4.2. Interest rate risk (continued) 

(millions of EUR) 
31/12/2020 

 Within 
1 month 

1-3   
months 

3-6  
months 

6-12 
months 

1-5   
years 

Over 
5 years 

Non-
interest 
bearing Total 

Financial assets         
Cash and balances with central bank 340.3 - - - - - 34.7 375.0 
Loans to credit institutions 436.4 35.5 0.1 0.1 - - - 472.1 
Loans to the public 778.9 1,059.6 625.2 437.1 151.0 7.5 3.2 3,062.5 
Debt securities 20.2 7.1 16.5 9.7 220.9 - 1.3 275.7 
Derivatives 0.2 0.1 25.4 - 0.9 4.8 - 31.4 
Equity instruments - - - - - - 4.4 4.4 
Other assets - - - - - - 19.4 19.4 
Total financial assets 1,576.0 1,102.3 667.2 446.9 372.8 12.3 63.0 4,240.5 
         
Financial liabilities          
Deposits from central banks and credit 
institutions 20.3 215.0 - - - - 0.2 235.5 
Deposits and borrowings from the public 3,072.3 428.0 1.0 2.1 0.1 - 1.5 3,505.0 
Derivatives 0.8 0.2 25.7 - 1.9 4.9 - 33.5 
Other financial liabilities - - - - - - 43.3 43.3 
Total financial liabilities 3,093.4 643.2 26.7 2.1 2.0 4.9 45.0 3,817.3 
         
Total interest repricing gap of on-
balance sheet position -1,517.4 459.1 640.5 444.8 370.8 7.4 18.0 423.2 
         
Derivative assets 275.9 167.1 362.2 8.2 45.5 54.7 - 913.6 
Derivative liabilities 163.2 35.5 366.9 8.2 279.0 61.7 - 914.5 
         
Total interest repricing gap -1,404.7 590.7 635.8 444.8 137.3 0.4 18.0 422.3 
         

 

2.4.3. Equity price risk 

The Group does not have equities in trading book.  
Due to sold strategic positions from the banking book as of end of 2021 there is no reported VaR exposure in equities. 

 
2.5. Non-financial  risk 

Definition 

Non-financial risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, people and systems (e.g., 
breakdown of IT systems, mistakes, fraud, other deficiencies in internal control) or from external events (natural 
disasters, external crime, etc.). The definition includes conduct, compliance, legal and financial reporting, information-, 
cyber- and physical security, and venture execution risk, but excludes strategic and reputational risk. 

Risk management 

Non-financial risk is inherent in all of the Group’s operations and the responsibility to manage non-financial  risks rests with 
all managers throughout the bank. The Group aims to maintain a sound risk culture with low non-financial risk and loss 
level through an effective internal control environment by ensuring a structured and consistent usage of risk mitigating 
tools and processes.  

All new or changed products, processes and/or systems as well as reorganisations are evaluated in a group-common New 
Product Approval Process (NPAP). The aim is to identify potential non-financial risks and ensure that proactive measures 
are taken to protect the Group from entering into unintended risk-taking that cannot be immediately managed by the 
organisation. 

All business units with significant risk embedded in their operations shall regularly complete Risk and Control Self-
Assessments (RCSA) according to a group-wide methodology. The assessments are designed to identify and mitigate 
significant non-financial risks embedded in the Group’s various business and support processes. There is comprehensive 
participation by each business unit throughout the organisation. The RCSA framework is used to analyse the Group’s non-
financial risk profile and help achieve operational excellence and high performance.  
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
2. Risk policy and management (continued) 
2.5. Non-financial  risk (continued) 

The Group ensures that the organisation is prepared to respond to and operate throughout a period of major disruption by 
identifying critical activities and maintaining updated and tested business continuity plans in a group-wide system for this 
purpose. 

All employees are required to escalate and register risk-related events or incidents so that risks can be properly identified, 
assessed, monitored, mitigated and reported. The Group uses a group-wide IT application to capture risk events and other 
non-financial risk data for analysis. 

The Group conducts regular training and education in key areas, including mandatory training for all staff in general non-
financial risk, information security, fraud prevention, anti-money laundering, know-your-customer procedures, GDPR and 
SEB’s Code of Business Conduct. The Group also has a formal whistle-blower procedure that encourages employees to 
report improprieties and unethical or illegal conduct. 

The Group’s approach to meet cyber and other security threats is to prioritise technical protection, raise awareness and 
continuously enhance the cyber risk culture among both employees and customers. Necessary security updates, system 
upgrades, and implementation of new features and secure measurements are performed on a regular basis. The Group 
continuously work to enhance and improve its already well established processes for mitigating, evaluating and following 
up on existing and future cyber risks. 

The risk department is responsible for measuring and reporting The Group’s non-financial  risks. Significant incidents and 
the risk level are analysed and reported regularly to the Risk Oversight Committee,  Management Board and the Risk 
Committee of the Supervisory Board. In 2021, the total  losses from operational incidents amounted to 0.3 million euros 
(2020: 0.8 million euros). 

Risk measurement 

The Group uses the Advanced Measurement Approach (AMA) to calculate the regulatory capital requirement for non-
financial risk. 

Regulatory supervision 

The Group is subject to various legal requirements. Still continues review and improvements of regulatory framework as 
well as supervision from the regulators is increased, especially taking into account sustainability questions as well as 
overall geopolitical situation in the World. This is a development, which is expected to continue to evolve. Supervisory 
authorities regularly conduct reviews of Group’s regulatory compliance, including areas such as financial stability, market 
conduct related activities, anti-money laundering and terrorist financing, international sanctions and data privacy. The 
Group has policies and procedures in place with the purpose to always comply with applicable rules and regulations. 

2.6. Business risk 

Definition 

Business risk is the risk of lower revenues due to reduced volumes, price pressure or competition. Business risk includes 
venture decision risk (related to undertakings such as acquisitions, large IT projects, transformations, outsourcing, etc.). 
Strategic risk is close in nature to business risk, but focuses on large-scale or structural risk factors. Reputational risk is 
the risk arising from negative perception of the Group or the industry in general. 

Risk management 

Business, strategic and reputational risks are inherent in doing business. Digitalisation of the banking industry is 
accelerating and new types of competitors are emerging. The extensive new regulatory framework for banking and 
financial institutions is significantly impacting the industry. Corporate sustainability plays an increasingly important part 
of a company’s reputation. The Group continuously works to mitigate business, strategic and reputational risks in many 
ways, for example, with regular strategic business reviews, proactive cost management, an agile step-by-step IT 
development approach, an ambitious corporate sustainability agenda and active dialogues on regulatory matters. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
2. Risk policy and management (continued) 

2.7. Capital adequacy and capital management 

Group's capital adequacy target, capital allocation and return on allocated capital are risk-based measures built on 
assessing all identified risks incurred in the operations. Capital management is forward-looking and aligned with short-
term and long-term business plans and the macroeconomic environment. Management of the Bank uses an internal model 
to calculate how much capital is necessary to cover its risks (so-called Economic Capital). Stress testing is an important 
parameter when assessing capital adequacy and setting capital targets. It is evaluated in the annual internal capital 
adequacy assessment process (ICAAP).  

As part of the capital planning, the Group maintains a recovery plan that assesses possible capital contingency measures 
and outlines governance in a stressed capital situation.  

Capital management ensures that capital is used to generate the best risk-adjusted returns. The management of the Bank 
uses an internal capital allocation framework (business equity) that allocates the capital needed based on the risks taken 
by the business units. 

Capital adequacy refers to the sufficiency of the Group's capital resources to cover credit risks, market and operational 
risks arising from the portfolio of assets of the Group and the exposure from commitments and contingent liabilities of the 
Group. 

The Group's capital adequacy ratios are being calculated in accordance with Basel III (CRR 575/2013) requirements. 

Following the Basel III requirements, the Group's risk-based total capital adequacy ratios as of 31 December 2021 were 
22.40 per cent (2020: 21.75 per cent) and 22.45 per cent (2020: 21.58 per cent), respectively, which is above the 
minimum required to maintain a capital adequacy ratio of 8 per cent of risk weighted assets and commitments and 
contingent liabilities (see Notes 35 and 36). In addition, the Group shall comply with the combined buffer requirement: 
Capital conservation buffer – 2.5 per cent and other systemically important institution (O-SII) buffer – 1.5 per cent. 

2.8. Individual minimum requirement for own funds and eligible liabilities (MREL) on a sub-consolidated basis 

The BRRD (Bank recovery and resolution directive) requires banks to meet MREL targets to absorb losses and restore 
their capital position, allowing them to continuously perform their critical economic functions during and after a crisis. 
MREL represents one of the key tools in enhancing banks’ resolvability. In 2017, the Single Resolution Board (SRB) 
developed its MREL policy and adopted its first binding decisions for major banking groups. 

As MREL decisions must be reviewed annually, the SRB considers any relevant supervisory decision affecting the banks 
within its remit or any change in their financial structures and risk profiles.  

MREL shall be calculated as the amount of own funds, and eligible liabilities expressed as a percentage of total risk 
exposure amount and leverage ratio exposure.  

Regulation (EU) No 806/2014 of the European Parliament and of the Council establishing uniform rules and a uniform 
procedure for the resolution of credit institutions and certain investment firms in the framework of a Single Resolution 
Mechanism and a Single Resolution Fund sets January 1, 2024, as the date by which the Group shall comply with MREL. 
In accordance with Article 12k(1) of Regulation (EU) 806/2014, the SRB determines intermediate MREL target levels 
that the Group shall comply with on January 1, 2022. The intermediate target levels, as a rule, ensure a linear build-up of 
own funds and eligible liabilities towards the requirement set from January 1, 2024. 

 Fair value measurement of assets and liabilities 

The objective of the fair value measurement is to arrive at the price at which an orderly transaction would take place 
between market participants at the measurement date under current market conditions. 

The Group has an established control environment for the determination of fair values of financial instruments that 
includes a review, independent from the business, of valuation models and prices. If the validation principles are not 
adhered to, exceptions of material and principal importance require approval from respective decision making bodies. 

In order to arrive at the fair value of a financial instrument the Group uses different methods; quoted prices in active 
markets, valuation techniques incorporating observable data and valuation techniques based on internal models. For 
disclosure purposes, financial instruments carried at fair value are classified in a fair value hierarchy according to the level 
of market observability of the inputs. Risk control function classifies and continuously reviews the classification of financial 
instruments in the fair value hierarchy.  

An active market is one in which transactions occur with sufficient volume and frequency to provide pricing information 
on an ongoing basis. The objective is to arrive at a price at which a transaction without modification or repackaging would 
occur in the principal market for the instrument to which the Group has immediate access. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
3. Fair value measurement of assets and liabilities (continued) 

Fair value is generally measured for individual financial instruments, in addition portfolio adjustments are made to cover 
the credit risk. To reflect counterparty risk and own credit risk in OTC derivatives, adjustments are made based on the net 
exposure towards each counterpart. These adjustments are calculated on a counterparty level based on estimates of 
exposure at default, probability of default and recovery rates. Probability of default and recovery rate information is 
generally sourced from the CDS markets. For counterparties where this information is not available, or considered 
unreliable due to the nature of the exposure, alternative approaches are taken where the probability of default is based 
on generic credit indices for specific industry and/or rating.  

When valuing financial liabilities at fair value own credit standing is reflected. 

Level 1: Quoted market prices 

Valuations in Level 1 are determined by reference to unadjusted quoted market prices for identical instruments in active 
markets where the quoted prices are readily available and the prices represent actual and regularly occurring market 
transactions on an arm’s length basis. 

Examples of Level 1 financial instruments are listed equity securities, debt securities, and exchange-traded derivatives. 
Instruments traded in an active market for which one or more market participants provide a binding price quotation on the 
reporting date are also examples of Level 1 financial instruments. 

Level 2: Valuation techniques with observable inputs 

In Level 2 valuation techniques, all significant inputs to the valuation models are observable either directly or indirectly. 
Level 2 valuation techniques include using discounted cash flows, option pricing models, recent transactions and the price 
of another instrument that is substantially the same. 

Examples of observable inputs are foreign currency exchange rates, binding securities price quotations, market interest 
rates (LIBOR, etc.), volatilities implied from observable option prices for the same term and actual transactions with one 
or more external counterparts executed by the Group. An input can transfer from being observable to being unobservable 
during the holding period due to e.g. illiquidity of the instrument. Examples of Level 2 financial instruments are most OTC 
derivatives such as options and interest rate swaps based on the LIBOR swap rate or a foreign-denominated yield curve. 

Level 3: Valuation techniques with significant unobservable inputs 

Level 3 valuation techniques incorporate significant inputs that are unobservable. These techniques are generally based 
on extrapolating from observable inputs for similar instruments, analysing historical data or other analytical techniques. 
Examples of Level 3 financial instruments are more complex OTC derivatives, long dated options for which the volatility is 
extrapolated or derivatives that depend on an unobservable correlation. Other examples are instruments for which there 
is currently no active market or binding quotes, such as unlisted equity instruments and private equity holdings. 

If the fair value of financial instruments includes more than one unobservable input, the unobservable inputs are 
aggregated in order to determine the classification of the entire instrument. The level in the fair value hierarchy within 
which a financial instrument is classified is determined on the basis of the lowest level of input that is significant to the fair 
value in its entirety. 

The hierarchy of fair value measurement of asset and liabilities presented on the Group’s statement of financial position 
at fair value:   

(millions of EUR) 
31/12/2021 Quoted price in active 

markets 
Valuation techniques 

using observable inputs 
Valuation techniques using 

non-observable inputs 
 

 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total 

Assets     

Debt securities  418.0   3.0  -  421.0  
Derivatives -  6.4  -  6.4  
Equity instruments - - -  -   

     
Total  418.0   9.4   -    427.4  

Liabilities     

Derivatives -  4.1  -  4.1  
     

Total -  4.1   -    4.1  
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
3. Fair value measurement of assets and liabilities (continued) 

The table below allocates the Group’s assets and liabilities measured at fair value as at 31 December 2020:  

(millions of EUR) 
31/12/2020 Quoted price in active 

markets 
Valuation techniques 

using observable inputs 
Valuation techniques using 

non-observable inputs 
 

 (Level 1) (Level 2) (Level 3) Total 

Assets     

Debt securities 275.5 - - 275.5 
Derivatives - 31.4 - 31.4 
Equity instruments - - 4.4 4.4 

     
Total 275.5 31.4 4.4 311.3 

Liabilities     

Derivatives - 33.5 - 33.5 
     

Total - 33.5 - 33.5 
     

Transfers between levels may occur when there are indications that market conditions have changed, e.g. a change in 
liquidity.  

Fair value of investments 

Fair values for investments listed in an active market are based on quoted market prices. If the market for a financial 
instrument is not active, fair value is established by using valuation techniques based on discounted cash flow analysis, 
net asset value, valuation with reference to financial instruments that is substantially the same, and valuation with 
reference to observable market transactions in the same financial instrument. 

As of year-end there are no material level 3 instruments held. 

The table below represents the changes of the Group’s Level 3 instruments for the year ended 31 December 2021 and 
2020: 
(millions of EUR) 

 Equity instruments 

Balance as of 1 January 2020 8.5 
Gains (losses) in income statement - unrealised -4.1 
Balance as of 31 December 2020 4.4 
  
Balance as of 1 January 2021 4.4 
Sales -4.9 
Gains (losses) in income statement - realised 0.5 
Balance as of 31 December 2021 - 

Unrealised and realised gain on equity instruments recognized in the income statement is presented within ‘Net financial 
income’ line.  
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
3. Fair value measurement of assets and liabilities (continued) 

The table below summarizes the carrying amounts and fair values of those financial assets and liabilities presented on the 
Group’s statement of financial position at amortized cost:  

 
(millions of EUR) 
 31/12/2021  31/12/2020 

 Carrying value Fair value  Carrying value Fair value 

      
Balances with the Central Bank  954.8   954.9   375.0 375.1 
Loans to credit institutions  125.9   125.9   472.1 471.9 
Loans to the public  2,983.0   2,976.4   3,062.5 2,987.5 
   General governments  141.5   142.9   114.1 110.5 
   Other financial corporations  39.5   39.3   6.6 6.7 
   Non-financial institutions  1,667.6   1,659.5   1,843.2 1,832.3 
   Households  1,134.4   1,134.7   1,098.6 1,038.0 

Total financial assets valued at amortized cost  4,063.7   4,057.2   3,909.6 3,834.5 
      

Deposits from central banks and credit institutions  2.5   3.3   235.5 239.5 
Current and demand deposits  3,965.7   3,966.1   3,452.6 3,453.1 
Term deposits from the public  16.7   16.8   52.4 52.4 

Total financial liabilities valued at amortized cost  3,984.9   3,986.2   3,740.5 3,745.0 

 

The Group conducts assessment of fair value of financial assets and liabilities which are not presented in the Group’s 
statement of financial position at their fair value. All financial instruments not measured at fair value are specified at Level 
3 in hierarchy of valuation of fair value, because of using unobservable inputs, except Cash and Balances with central 
bank, which are Level 2. 

When calculating fair value for floating interest rate loans and for fixed-interest rate lending, future cash flows are 
discounted based on the market interest curve, which has been adjusted for applicable margins of new lending. Fixed-
interest rate deposits, floating interest rate and fixed-interest rate balances due to credit institutions, have been 
calculated similarly. 

 

 Net interest income 
 
   (millions of EUR) 

 2021  2020 
Interest income    
Loans to the public 61.0  64.2 
Negative interest income 1.4  0.9 
Loans to credit institutions and central banks 0.1  0.4 
Total interest income calculated using the effective interest rate method 62.5  65.5 

    
    

Loans to the public (leasing portfolio) 7.2  7.2 
Debt securities -  0.2 
Total other interest and similar income 7.2  7.4 
Total interest income 69.7  72.9 

    
Regulatory fees -7.3  -6.7 
Deposits from credit institutions -0.7  -3.2 
Negative interest expenses -2.2  -1.4 
Deposits and borrowings from the public -0.3  -0.3 
Total interest expenses -10.5  -11.6 
    
Net interest income 59.2  61.3 
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 Net fee and commission income 
 
   (millions of EUR) 

 2021  2020 
    
Payment cards commissions 20.2  20.5 
Deposits commissions 12.0  11.5 
Securities commissions 13.4  9.7 
Payment commissions 9.3  8.9 
Lending commissions 2.1  2.0 
Guarantees commissions 1.4  1.3 
Credit contracts commissions 1.2  1.2 
Other fees and commissions 0.5  0.5 
Insurance brokerage fees 0.5  0.3 
Fee and commission income 60.6  55.9 
    
Fee and commission expense    
Payment cards commissions -10.3  -12.3 
Securities commissions -1.7  -1.5 
Payments commissions -1.9  -2.0 
Other fees and commissions -2.0  -1.8 
Expenses on services and commissions -15.9  -17.6 
     
Net fee and commission income 44.7  38.3 

 

 Net financial income 
 
   (millions of EUR) 

 2021 2020 
 FVHFT* FVMPL** Other Total  FVHFT* FVMPL** Other Total 

          

Gain (loss) from debt securities - -1.5 - -1.5  - 0.7 - 0.7 

Gain (loss) from derivatives 26.3 - - 26.3  -6.6 - - -6.6 

Gain (loss) from equity instruments - 0.3 - 0.3  - 2.7 - 2.7 

Gain (loss) from foreign exchange trading 4.8 - - 4.8  4.2 - - 4.2 

Exchange differences - - -22.8 -22.8  - - 6.7 6.7 

              

Net financial income 31.1 -1.2 -22.8 7.1  -2.4 3.4 6.7 7.7 

 
 
* FVHFT – Fair Value Through Profit and Loss Held for Trading 
** FVMPL - Fair Value Through Profit and Loss Mandatorily  
 
The position “Gain (loss) from derivatives” includes a positive effect on the realisation of foreign currency swap (mainly 
EUR/SEK) of EUR 20 millions of EUR. At the same time positive effect of the realisation of foreign currency swap is 
balanced by the negative revaluation of  assets and liabilities in the statement of financial position, which is affected by 
changes in ECB foreign exchange rates and is presented under the “Exchange differences”. 
 

 Other operating income  
 
   (millions of EUR) 

 2021  2020 
    
Income from sale of services to related companies 1.3  1.3 
Rental income under operating leases 0.3  0.3 
Other operating income 0.6  0.2 
Other operating income 2.2  1.8 
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 Personnel expenses 
 
   (millions of EUR) 

 2021  2020 
    
Salary expenses -21.4  -20.7 
Social security expenses -4.9  -4.9 
Defined contribution plan expenses -0.5  -0.5 
Share-based payments -0.2  -0.4 
Other personnel expenses -1.2  -1.0 
Total -28.2  -27.5 

 

The average number of personnel employed by the Group during the respective year is specified as follows: 

 

 2021  2020 
    
Members of the Board of Directors 6  6 
Other managing personnel 83  90 
Staff  793  810 
Total number of personnel employed 882  906 

 
 
 
The following table illustrates the number and weighted average exercise prices (WAEP) of, and movements in share 
options during the year: 
 

  2021  2020 
  Number WAEP  Number WAEP 
       
Outstanding at 1 January  246,619    222,380    
Granted during the year  101,357    93,429    
Forfeited during the year  -61,327    -34,696    
Exercised during the year*  -38,564  10.84  -34,494  8.19 

Expired during the year 
 

-426   
                                       

-      
Outstanding at 31 December  247,659    246,619    

Exercisable at 31 December  32,649    36,164    
 
*The weighted average share price at the date of exercise of these options was EUR 10.84 (2021); EUR 8.19 (2020). 
 
The weighted average remaining contractual life for the share options outstanding as at 31 December 2021 was 
4.67 years (2020: 4.67 years). 
 
The range of exercise prices for options outstanding at the end of the year was  EUR 8.73 to EUR 11.32  
(2020: EUR 7.02 to EUR 9.74). 
 

 Depreciation, amortization and impairment of tangible and intangible assets 
 
  (millions of EUR) 

 2021  2020 
    
Amortization of intangible assets  -2.0  -1.8 
Depreciation of tangible assets  -1.9  -2.2 
Depreciation of right of use assets  -3.2  -3.4 
Total -7.1  -7.4 
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 Other expenses  
 
  (millions of EUR) 

 2021  2020 
    
IT costs -7.5  -7.1 
Cost of premises -3.0  -3.0 
Supervisory and regulatory fees   -2.0  -2.1 
Marketing -1.3  -1.0 
Information services -0.3  -0.3 
Travel and entertainment -0.2  -0.2 
Direct cost of equipment and stationary -0.1  -0.2 
Consultants  -  -0.1 
Other operating expenses -4.7  -4.4 
Total -19.1  -18.4 

 
The amount of “Other operating expenses” line consists of several not material amounts. 
 
During the year 2021 and 2020 the Groups has acquired the following services from its auditor SIA "Ernst & Young Baltic": 
 
  (millions of EUR) 

 2021  2020 
    
Audit and other assurance services  0.2  0.2 
Total 0.2  0.2 

 

 Net expected credit losses 

Net ECL level is calculated as Net credit impairments in relation to the opening balance of the year of loans to the public 
and loans to credit institutions measured at amortised cost, financial guarantees and loan commitments, net of ECL 
allowances. 
  
  (millions of EUR) 

 2021  2020 
    
Impairment gains or losses - Stage 1 -1.2  -5.4 
Impairment gains or losses - Stage 2 -1.7  -0.9 
Impairment gains or losses - Stage 3 11.4  -9.7 
Impairment gains or losses (IFRS 9)  8.5  -16.0 
    
Write-offs and recoveries    
Total write-offs -10.9  -6.2 
Reversals of allowances for write-offs 10.0  4.7 
Write-offs previously not provided for -0.9  -1.5 
    
Recoveries from previous write-offs 1.4  1.7 
Net write-offs 0.5  0.2 
    
Net expected credit losses 9.0  -15.8 
Net ECL level, % 0.23  0.43 
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 Income tax expenses  
 
Income tax expenses comprise the following items: 

  (millions of EUR) 
 2021  2020 
    
Current tax expense 1.8  - 
Previous years’ correction -  -0.2 
Change in deferred income tax -0.3  1.3 
Total  1.5  1.1 

 
The Group has recognised deferred tax liabilities from undistributed profit earned by subsidiaries  starting from 2018. The 
tax becomes payable when dividends are distributed. 
 

 Cash and balances with central bank 
 
  (millions of EUR) 

 31/12/2021  31/12/2020 
    
Cash 36.2  34.7 
Demand deposits 918.6  340.3 
      of which mandatory reserve requirement 38.5  33.2 
Total  954.8  375.0 

 
The correspondent account with the Bank of Latvia reflects the balance of the Bank's correspondent account on which 
interest is paid in the amount of the compulsory reserve requirement.   
The Bank is required to comply with minimum reserve requirements set by the Bank of Latvia. This requires the Bank’s 
monthly average EUR balance on its correspondent account with the Bank of Latvia to exceed a specified minimum during 
the maintenance period of requirements. 
The Bank was in compliance with the reserve requirement during the reporting period and during the previous period. 
Demand deposits with Central bank are subject to ECL allowances, at 31 December 2021 ECL allowances for demand 
deposits with Central bank rounded to zero. 
 

 Loans to credit institutions 
 
   (millions of EUR) 

 31/12/2021  31/12/2020 
    
Loans  2.2  35.8 
Current accounts 123.7  436.3 
Total (Note 15) 125.9  472.1 

Loans and current accounts with credit institutions are subject to ECL allowances. At 31 December 2021 ECL allowances 
for current accounts with credit institutions rounded to zero. Information about credit quality and ECL allowances of loans 
to credit institutions is disclosed in Note 15. 
 

 Loans to the public and credit institutions 
 
   (millions of EUR) 

 31/12/2021  31/12/2020 
    
General governments 141.5  114.1 
Credit institutions (Note 14) 125.9  472.1 
Other financial corporations 39.5  6.6 
Non-financial corporations 1,667.6  1,843.3 
Households 1,134.4  1,098.5 

 Total 3,108.9  3,534.6 
 
Loans to public and credit institutions balance include also finance lease receivables (Note 21).
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15. Loans to the public and credit institutions (continued) 

The table below shows gross carrying amounts for exposures on balance measured at amortised cost and nominal amounts for exposures off-balance divided by stage as a mean to put ECL allowances in 
context to total exposure. 

 
 (millions of EUR) 
  Gross carrying amounts/ Nominal amounts  ECL allowances  Carrying amounts/ Net amounts 
Balance as at 31 December 2021  Stage 1 (12 

month ECL) 
Stage 2 

(lifetime 
ECL) 

Stage 3 (credit 
impaired/ 

lifetime ECL) 

Total  Stage 1 (12 
month ECL) 

Stage 2 
(lifetime ECL) 

Stage 3 (credit 
impaired/ 

lifetime ECL) 

Total  Stage 1 (12 
month ECL) 

Stage 2 
(lifetime ECL) 

Stage 3 (credit 
impaired/ 

lifetime ECL) 

Total 

Loans to public and credit institutions                
General governments  141.5 - - 141.5  - - - -  141.5 - - 141.5 
Credit institutions  125.9 - - 125.9  - - - -  125.9 - - 125.9 
Other financial corporations  36.4 3.4 - 39.8  -0.2 -0.1 - -0.3  36.2 3.3 - 39.5 
Non-financial corporations  1,560.6 109.8 10.8 1,681.2  -4.1 -4.4 -5.1 -13.6  1,556.5 105.4 5.7 1,667.6 
Households  1,064.1 65.5 16.0 1,145.6  -2.4 -2.4 -6.4 -11.2  1,061.7 63.1 9.6 1,134.4 
                            
Total  2,928.5 178.7 26.8 3,134.0  -6.7 -6.9 -11.5 -25.1  2,921.8 171.8 15.3 3,108.9 

                
Financial guarantees and loan commitments                
Central banks  0.1 - - 0.1  - - - -  0.1 - - 0.1 
General governments  7.9 - - 7.9  - - - -  7.9 - - 7.9 
Credit institutions  59.3 0.1 - 59.4  - - - -  59.3 0.1 - 59.4 
Other financial corporations  13.1 - - 13.1  - - - -  13.1 - - 13.1 
Non-financial corporations  598.4 18.8 - 617.2  -1.7 -1.2 - -2.9  596.7 17.6 - 614.3 
Households  78.8 9.5 0.3 88.6  -0.3 -0.2 - -0.5  78.5 9.3 0.3 88.1 
                            
Total  757.6 28.4 0.3 786.3  -2.0 -1.4 - -3.4  755.6 27 0.3 782.9 

                
Total Loans to public and credit institutions and 
Financial guarantees and loan commitments 

               

Central banks  0.1 - - 0.1  - - - -  0.1 - - 0.1 
General governments  149.4 - - 149.4  - - - -  149.4 - - 149.4 
Credit institutions  185.2 0.1 - 185.3  - - - -  185.2 0.1 - 185.3 
Other financial corporations  49.5 3.4 - 52.9  -0.2 -0.1 - -0.3  49.3 3.3 - 52.6 
Non-financial corporations  2,159.0 128.6 10.8 2,298.4  -5.8 -5.6 -5.1 -16.5  2,153.2 123.0 5.7 2,281.9 
Households  1,142.9 75.0 16.3 1,234.2  -2.7 -2.6 -6.4 -11.7  1,140.2 72.4 9.9 1,222.5 
                            
Total  3,686.1 207.1 27.1 3,920.3  -8.7 -8.3 -11.5 -28.5  3,677.4 198.8 15.6 3,891.8 

                
ECL coverage ratio       0.24 4.01 42.44 0.73      
Share of total ECL allowances       31% 29% 40%       
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15. Loans to the public and credit institutions (continued) 

 
 (millions of EUR) 
  Gross carrying amounts/ Nominal amounts  ECL allowances  Carrying amounts/ Net amounts 
Balance as at 31 December 2020  Stage 1 (12 

month ECL) 
Stage 2 

(lifetime 
ECL) 

Stage 3 (credit 
impaired/ 

lifetime ECL) 

Total  Stage 1 (12 
month ECL) 

Stage 2 
(lifetime ECL) 

Stage 3 (credit 
impaired/ 

lifetime ECL) 

Total  Stage 1 (12 
month ECL) 

Stage 2 
(lifetime ECL) 

Stage 3 (credit 
impaired/ 

lifetime ECL) 

Total 

Loans to public and credit institutions                
General governments  114.1 - - 114.1  - - - -  114.1 0 0 114.1 
Credit institutions  472.1 - - 472.1  - - - -  472.1 0 0 472.1 
Other financial corporations  6.6 - - 6.6  - - - -  6.6 0 0 6.6 
Non-financial corporations  1,719.9 84.3 68.6 1,872.8  -3.6 -3.5 -22.4 -29.5  1,716.3 80.8 46.2 1,843.3 
Households  1,025.3 66.5 20.6 1,112.4  -2.4 -2.8 -8.7 -13.9  1,022.9 63.7 11.9 1,098.5 
                            
Total  3,338.0 150.8 89.2 3,578.0  -6.0 -6.3 -31.1 -43.4  3,332.0 144.5 58.1 3,534.6 

                
Financial guarantees and loan commitments                
Central banks  0.1 - - 0.1  - - - -  0.1 - - 0.1 
General governments  56.5 - - 56.5  - - - -  56.5 - - 56.5 
Credit institutions  42.5 - - 42.5  - - - -  42.5 - - 42.5 
Other financial corporations  56.4 - - 56.4  - - - -  56.4 - - 56.4 
Non-financial corporations  573.4 10.7 18.4 602.5  -1.1 -0.1 -1.4 -2.6  572.3 10.6 17.0 599.9 
Households  73.2 1 0.3 74.5  -0.3 -0.1 0 -0.4  72.9 0.9 0.3 74.1 
                            
Total  802.1 11.7 18.7 832.5  -1.4 -0.2 -1.4 -3.0  800.7 11.5 17.3 829.5 

                
Total Loans to public and credit institutions and 
Financial guarantees and loan commitments 

 
              

Central banks  0.1 - - 0.1  - - - -  0.1 - - 0.1 
General governments  170.6 - - 170.6  - - - -  170.6 - - 170.6 
Credit institutions  514.6 - - 514.6  - - - -  514.6 - - 514.6 
Other financial corporations  63.0 - - 63.0  - - - -  63.0 - - 63.0 
Non-financial corporations  2,293.3 95.00 87.0 2,475.3  -4.7 -3.6 -23.8 -32.1  2,288.6 91.4 63.2 2,443.2 
Households  1,098.5 67.5 20.9 1,186.9  -2.7 -2.9 -8.7 -14.3  1,095.8 64.6 12.2 1,172.6 
                            
Total  4,140.1 162.5 107.9 4,410.5  -7.4 -6.5 -32.5 -46.4  4,132.7 156.0 75.4 4,364.1 
                
ECL coverage ratio       0.18 4.00 30.12 1.05      
Share of total ECL allowances       16% 14% 70%       
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
15. Loans to the public and credit institutions (continued) 

Table below shows the Group’s movements of allowance accounts for on-balance-sheet exposures and off-balance- sheet 
exposures. 

During the year 2021 there were no significant changes in gross carrying amounts of loans to public, which contributed 
significantly to changes in the loss allowance. 

(millions of EUR) 
31 December 2021  

Stage 1 (12-
month ECL)  

Stage2 (lifetime 
ECL)  

Stage 3 (credit 
impaired/ 

lifetime ECL)  Total 
Non-financial corporations         
ECL allowance as of 1 January 2021  3.6  3.5  22.4  29.5 
New and derecognised financial assets, net  -0.8  -0.2  -11.3  -12.3 
Changes due to change in credit risk  1.2  2.1  0.6  3.9 
Changes due to modifications    -  0.1  -  0.1 
Changes due to methodology change   -  -  -  - 
Changes due to origination and acquisition  0.7  -  -  0.7 
Decrease in allowance account due to write-
offs  -  -  -8.4  -8.4 

Exchange rate differences  1.0  0.1  1.8  2.9 
Total  5.7  5.6  5.1  16.4 
         
Households         
ECL allowance as of 1 January 2021  2.4  2.8  8.7  13.9 
New and derecognised financial assets, net  -0.6  -0.3  -0.8  -1.7 
Changes due to modifications  -  -  -  - 
Changes due to change in credit risk  -  -0.1  -  -0.1 
Changes due to origination and acquisition  0.6  -  -  0.6 
Decrease in allowance account due to write-
offs 

 -  -  -1.6  -1.6 

Exchange rate differences  0.3  0.1  0.1  0.5 
Total  2.7  2.5  6.4  11.6 
         
Total loans         
ECL allowance as of 1 January 2021  6.0  6.3  31.1  43.4 
New and derecognised financial assets, net  -0.8  -0.3  -11.4  -12.5 
Changes due to change in credit risk  0.4  0.7  1.4  2.5 
Changes due to modifications    -  0.1  -  0.1 
Changes due to methodology change   -  -  -  - 
Changes due to origination and acquisition  1.0  -  -  1.0 
Decrease in allowance account due to write-
offs 

 -  -  -10.0  -10.0 

Exchange rate differences  0.1  0.1  0.5  0.7 
Total  6.7  6.9  11.6  25.2 
         
Financial guarantees and loan commitments         
ECL allowance as of 1 January 2021  1.4  0.2  1.4  3.0 
New and derecognised financial assets, net  -0.7  -0.1  -0.6  -1.4 
Changes due to change in credit risk  0.8  1.3  -0.8  1.3 
Changes due to origination and acquisition  0.4  -  -  0.4 
Total  1.9  1.4  0.0  3.3 
         
Total loans and financial guarantees and 
loan commitments 

        

ECL allowance as of 1 January 2021  7.4  6.5  32.5  46.4 
New and derecognised financial assets, net  -1.5  -0.4  -12.0  -13.9 
Changes due to change in credit risk   1.2  2.0  0.6  3.8 
Changes due to modifications    -  0.1  -  0.1 
Changes due to methodology change   -  -  -  - 
Changes due to origination and acquisition  1.4  -  -  1.4 
Decrease in allowance account due to write-
offs 

  -  -  -10.0  -10.0 

Exchange rate differences   0.1  0.1  0.5  0.7 
Total   8.6  8.3  11.6  28.5 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
15. Loans to the public and credit institutions (continued) 

During the year 2020 there were no significant changes in gross carrying amounts of loans to public, which contributed 
significantly to changes in the loss allowance. Changes in the loss allowance were mainly affected by assessing the 
possible negative impact of COVID-19, which resulted in loss allowance increase. 

(millions of EUR) 
31 December 2020  

Stage 1 (12-
month ECL)  

Stage2 (lifetime 
ECL)  

Stage 3 (credit 
impaired/ 

lifetime ECL)  Total 
Non-financial corporations         
ECL allowance as of 1 January 2020  0.8  4.5  16.9  22.2 
New and derecognised financial assets, net  0.4  -2.4  -2.9  -4.9 
Changes due to change in credit risk  2.4  1.3  11.8  15.5 
Changes due to modifications    -   0.1   -   0.1 
Changes due to methodology change   -   -   0.1   0.1 
Decrease in allowance account due to 
write-offs  -  -  -3.0  -3.0 

Exchange rate differences  -  -  -0.5  -0.5 
Total  3.6  3.5  22.4  29.5 
         
Households         
ECL allowance as of 1 January 2020  0.9  1.0  10.9  12.8 
New and derecognised financial assets, net  0.2  -0.1  -0.6  -0.5 
Changes due to change in credit risk  1.3  1.9  0.2  3.4 
Decrease in allowance account due to 
write-offs  -  -  -1.8  -1.8 

Exchange rate differences  -  -  -  - 
Total  2.4  2.8  8.7  13.9 
         
Total loans         
ECL allowance as of 1 January 2020  1.7  5.5  27.8  35.0 
New and derecognised financial assets, net  0.6  -2.5  -3.5  -5.4 
Changes due to change in credit risk  3.7  3.2  12.0  18.9 
Changes due to modifications    -   0.1   -   0.1 
Changes due to methodology change   -   -   0.1   0.1 
Decrease in allowance account due to 
write-offs  -  -  -4.8  -4.8 

Exchange rate differences  -  -  -0.5  -0.5 
Total  6.0  6.3  31.1  43.4 
         
Financial guarantees and loan 
commitments 

        

ECL allowance as of 1 January 2020  0.3  0.1  0.2  0.6 
New and derecognised financial assets, net  0.1  -  -  0.1 
Changes due to change in credit risk  1.0  0.1  1.2  2.3 
Total  1.4  0.2  1.4  3.0 
         
Total loans and financial guarantees and 
loan commitments         

ECL allowance as of 1 January 2020  2.0  5.6  28.0  35.6 
New and derecognised financial assets, net  0.7  -2.5  -3.5  -5.3 
Changes due to change in credit risk   4.7   3.3   13.2   21.2 
Changes due to modifications    -   0.1   -   0.1 
Changes due to methodology change   -   -   0.1   0.1 
Decrease in allowance account due to 
write-offs 

  -   -   -4.8   -4.8 

Exchange rate differences   -   -   -0.5   -0.5 
Total   7.4   6.5   32.5   46.4 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
15. Loans to the public and credit institutions (continued) 
 
The table below shows the Group’s gross carrying amounts and ECL allowances for credit-impaired loans divided by stage 
3 and the fair value of collaterals for these assets. 
 
(millions of EUR) 

Stage 3 (credit impaired/ lifetime ECL) Gross carrying 
amounts/ 

Nominal 
amounts 

 ECL 
allowances 

 Carrying 
amount  

 Fair value of 
collateral 

held 

31/12/2021        
        
Non-financial corporations 10.8  -5.1  5.7  5.7 
Households 16.3  -6.4  9.9  8.9 
 27.1  -11.5  15.6  14.6 
 
 

 
 

 
 

 
 

 

(millions of EUR)  
Stage 3 (credit impaired/ lifetime ECL) Gross carrying 

amounts/ 
Nominal 
amounts 

 ECL 
allowances 

 Carrying 
amount  

 Fair value of 
collateral 

held 

31/12/2020        
        
Non-financial corporations 87.0  -23.8  63.2  40.9 
Households 20.9  -8.7  12.2  11.0 
 107.9  -32.5  75.4  51.9 

 

The table below shows gross carrying amounts for exposures on-balance-sheet and nominal amounts for exposures off-
balance-sheet divided by stage and risk classification category. As at 31 December 2021 the Group did not have 
exposures on purchased or originated credit-impaired financial assets (2020: EUR 4.5 million). 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
15. Loans to the public and credit institutions (continued) 

 
(millions of EUR) 
31/12/2021  

Stage 1 (12-
month ECL)  

Stage2 
(lifetime ECL)  

Stage 3 (credit 
impaired/ 

lifetime ECL)  Total Risk classification category 
         
General governments         
Investment grade  -  -  -  - 
Standard monitoring  141.5  -  -  141.5 
Watch list  -  -  -  - 
Default  -  -  -  - 
Total  141.5  -  -  141.5 
         
Credit institutions         
Investment grade  125.9  -  -  125.9 
Standard monitoring  -  -  -  - 
Watch list  -  -  -  - 
Default  -  -  -  - 
Total  125.9  -  -  125.9 
         
Other financial corporations         
Investment grade  35.6  -  -  35.6 
Standard monitoring  0.8  3.4  -  4.2 
Watch list  -  -  -  - 
Default   -  -  -  - 
Total  36.4  3.4  -  39.8 
         
Non-financial corporations         
Investment grade  493.6  0.3  -  493.9 
Standard monitoring  1,067.0  42.2  -  1,109.2 
Watch list  -  67.3  -  67.3 
Default   -  -   10.8  10.8 
Total  1,560.6  109.8  10.8  1,681.2 
         
Households         
Investment grade  -  -  -  - 
Standard monitoring  1,064.1  65.5  0.3  1,129.9 
Watch list  -  -  -  - 
Default  -  -  15.7  15.7 
Total  1,064.1  65.5  16.0  1,145.6 
         
Financial guarantees and loan 
commitments 

        

Investment grade  378.2  -  -  378.2 
Standard monitoring  379.2  15.3  -  394.5 
Watch list  0.2  13.1  -  13.3 
Default  -   -   0.3  0.3 
Total  757.6  28.4  0.3  786.3 
         
Total by risk classification category         
Investment grade  1,033.3  0.3  -  1,033.6 
Standard monitoring  2,652.6  126.4  0.3  2,779.3 
Watch list  0.2  80.4  -  80.6 
Default  -  -  26.8  26.8 
Total  3,686.1  207.1  27.1  3,920.3 
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Notes to the Consolidated FinanGross carruing amountcial Statements (continued) 
15. Loans to the public and credit institutions (continued) 

 
(millions of EUR) 
31/12/2020  

Stage 1 (12-
month ECL)  

Stage2 
(lifetime ECL)  

Stage 3 (credit 
impaired/ 

lifetime ECL)  Total Risk classification category 
         
General governments         
Investment grade  -  -  -  - 
Standard monitoring  114.1  -  -  114.1 
Watch list  -  -  -  - 
Default  -  -  -  - 
Total  114.1  -  -  114.1 
         
Credit institutions         
Investment grade  472.1  -  -  472.1 
Standard monitoring  -  -  -  - 
Watch list  -  -  -  - 
Default  -  -  -  - 
Total  472.1  -  -  472.1 
         
Other financial corporations         
Investment grade  2.4  -  -  2.4 
Standard monitoring  4.2  -  -  4.2 
Watch list  -  -  -  - 
Default  -  -  -  - 
Total  6.6  -  -  6.6 
         
Non-financial corporations         
Investment grade  559.8  -  -  559.8 
Standard monitoring  1,159.9  57.8  -  1,217.7 
Watch list  0.2  26.1  -  26.3 
Default  -  0.4  68.6  69.0 
Total  1,719.9  84.3  68.6  1,872.8 
         
Households         
Investment grade  -  -  -  - 
Standard monitoring  1,025.4  65.8  0.3  1,091.5 
Watch list  -  -  -  - 
Default  -  0.7  20.3  21.0 
Total  1,025.4  66.5  20.6  1,112.5 
         
Financial guarantees and loan 
commitments 

        

Investment grade  407.0  -  -  407.0 
Standard monitoring  394.8  11  -  405.8 
Watch list  0.3  0.7  -  1.0 
Default  -  -  18.7  18.7 
Total  802.1  11.7  18.7  832.5 
         
Total by risk classification category         
Investment grade  1,441.3  -  -  1,441.3 
Standard monitoring  2,698.3  134.6  0.3  2,833.2 
Watch list  0.5  26.8  -  27.3 
Default  -  1.1  107.6  108.7 
Total  4,140.1  162.5  107.9  4,410.5 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 

 Debt securities 
 
   (millions of EUR) 

 31/12/2021  31/12/2020 
    
Fair value through profit or loss mandatorily 421.0  275.7 
Total 421.0  275.7 

 
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020 majority of the Group’s financial assets mandatorily measured at fair value through 
profit or loss represent investments in Lithuanian and Latvian Government securities. 

The revaluation result on financial assets at fair value through profit or loss is accounted in income statement under Net 
financial income. 

The table below presents an analysis of Group’s  trading debt securities and financial assets at fair value through profit or 
loss by rating agency designation at 31 December 2021 and 2020, based on Standard & Poor’s ratings or their equivalent: 

SEB risk classes Moody’s ratings 31/12/2021 31/12/2020 

    EUR mil. EUR mil. 
    

1-4 Aaa to A3 421.0 275.7 

5-7 Baa1 to Baa3 - - 

8-10 Ba1 to Ba3 - - 
11-12 B1 to B2 - - 
13-16 B3 to C - - 

 Total 421.0 275.7 

 

 Derivatives 

The Group’s derivative financial instruments: 

 
   (millions of EUR) 

31/12/2021 Notional amount  Fair value 
 Purchase Sale  Assets Liabilities 

      
Interest related 414.3 318.6  5.7 4.0 
Currency related 37.5 12.8  0.7 0.1 
      
Total 451.8  331.4   6.4 4.1 

 
31/12/2020 Notional amount  Fair value 

 Purchase Sale  Assets Liabilities 
      
Interest related 172.6 326.8  5.9 7.2 
Currency related 171.5 242.7  25.5 26.3 
      
Total 344.1 569.5  31.4 33.5 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 

 Equity instruments 

The table below shows breakdown of equity instruments as at 31 December 2021 and 2020. 

 
   (millions of EUR) 

 31/12/2021  31/12/2020 
    
Fair value through profit or loss mandatorily -  4.4 
Total -  4.4 

 

Equity instruments in VISA Inc. were sold to SEB AB during Q3 2021. Visa Inc. long-term rating was AA- based on Standard 
& Poor’s ratings. More information about VISA Inc. shares is provided in the Note 3 Fair value measurement of assets and 
liabilities. 
 

 Intangible assets  

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, intangible assets of the Group consisted of the following: 
   (millions of EUR) 

 Software and other 
intangible assets 

2021 
 

Balance at 1 January 2021 21.9 
Additions  0.8 
Retirements and disposals -0.1 

Acquisition cost at 31 December 2021 22.6 
  
Balance at 1 January 2021 14.0 
Amortisation (Note 9) 2.0 

Retirements and disposals -0.1 
Accumulated amortisation and impairment at 31 December 2021 15.9 
  
Net carrying value at 31 December 2021 6.7 
  
2020  

Balance at 1 January 2020 21.2 
Additions  1.0 
Retirements and disposals -0.3 
Acquisition cost at 31 December 2020 21.9 
  
Balance at 1 January 2020 12.5 
Amortisation (Note 9) 1.8 
Retirements and disposals -0.3 
Accumulated amortisation and impairment at 31 December 2020 14.0 
  
Net carrying value at 31 December 2020 7.9 
  

 
 
In 2020 SEB Group has completed its IT system alignment process in all the three Baltic countries and launched the final 
step of new core IT platform, which operates majority of banking services and business processes.  
The carrying amount of Baltic core IT platform recognized in assets of the Bank was EUR 6.6 million as at 31 December 
2021 (EUR 7.7 million as at 31 December 2020), its estimated useful life is 8 years from the introduction of the system. 
During the year 2021 acquisitions from internal developments amounted to EUR 0.2 million (EUR 0.1 million during the 
year 2020).  
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 

 Property, plant and equipment  

As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, property and equipment of the Group consisted of the following: 

   (millions of EUR) 
 
 
 

Assets under 
operating lease 

  Other 
 equipment Total 

2021    

Balance at 1 January 2021 3.4 15.5 18.9 
Additions  - 1.4 1.4 
Retirements and disposals  -0.3 -2.9 -3.2 

Acquisition cost at 31 December 2021 3.1 14.0 17.1 
    
Balance at 1 January 2021 1.5 10.4 11.9 

Depreciation (Note 9) 0.3 1.6 1.9 
Retirements and disposals  -0.2 -2.8 -3.0 

Accumulated depreciation and impairment at 
31 December 2021 

1.6 9.2 10.8 

    
Net carrying value at 31 December 2021 1.5 4.8 6.3 
    
2020    
Balance at 1 January 2020 3.6 16.6 20.2 
Additions  - 0.6 0.6 
Retirements and disposals  -0.2 -1.7 -1.9 
Acquisition cost at 31 December 2020 3.4 15.5 18.9 
    
Balance at 1 January 2020 1.2 10.4 11.6 
Depreciation (Note 9) 0.4 1.7 2.1 
Retirements and disposals  -0.1 -1.7 -1.8 
Accumulated depreciation and impairment at 
31 December 2020 

1.5 10.4 11.9 

    
Net carrying value at 31 December 2020 1.9 5.1 7.0 
    

Assets under operating lease are transport vehicles leased to customers under operating lease agreements. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 

 Leases 

   (millions of EUR) 
Lessee   31/12/2021  31/12/2020 
 Income statement     
Interest expense on lease liabilities Net interest income  -  - 
Expenses relating to short-term 

leases Other expenses 
 

0.4  0.4 
Expenses relating to leases of low-

value leases Other expenses 
 

0.1  0.1 
      

Depreciation expense of-right-of 
use assets 

Depreciation, amortisation and 
impairment of tangible and 
intangible and right of use 
assets  3.2  3.4 

 Total  3.7  3.9 
      
 Statement of financial position     
Additions Right-of-use assets  0.3  - 
Closing balance Right-of-use assets  7.0  6.9 
Lease liabilities Other liabilities (Note 27)  7.2  6.4 
      

 
 
   (millions of EUR) 

Lessor 31/12/2021  31/12/2020 
Finance lease    
Undiscounted lease payments expected after reporting date and within 
Year 1 101.5  102.5 
Year 2 77.8  80.5 
Year 3 57.7  60.0 
Year 4 38.5  37.7 
Year 5 19.6  19.8 
over 5 years 3.7  3.0 
Total undiscounted lease payments receivable 298.8  303.5 
Unearned finance income -12.5  -12.9 
Net investment leasing 286.3  290.6 
    
Finance income (interest income) on the net investment 7.2  7.2 

Lessor portfolio mainly includes transport vehicles, machinery and facilities. Residual value risk is not significant, because 
of the existence of secondary market. 

 

 Other assets 
 
   (millions of EUR) 

 31/12/2021  31/12/2020 
    

Trade receivables 0.1  0.1 
Client receivables 20.5  11.3 
Cash in transit 0.4  6.2 
Other financial assets 4.7  1.8 
Total  25.7  19.4 
    

 
There are no significant overdue or impaired amounts. 
The carrying values of Other financial assets approximate their fair value.   
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
 

 Prepaid expenses and accrued income  

   (millions of EUR) 
 31/12/2021  31/12/2020 

    
Sub-lease receivables 1.1  0.2 
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 2.2  3.0 
Other non-financial assets 3.6  2.7 
Total  6.9  5.9 

 
 

   

 Deposits from central banks and credit institutions 

   (millions of EUR) 
 31/12/2021  31/12/2020 
    
Current and demand deposits 2.5  2.9 
Term deposits -  232.6 
Total  2.5  235.5 

 

 

 Deposits and borrowings from the public 
   (millions of EUR) 

 31/12/2021  31/12/2020 

    

Current and demand deposits 3,965.4  3,452.6 
Term deposits  17.0  52.4 
Total 3,982.4  3,505.0 

Deposits and borrowings from the public by type of customer: 

 
   (millions of EUR) 

 31/12/2021  31/12/2020 
    
General governments 154.9  156.0 
Other financial corporations 127.2  191.8 
Non-financial corporations 1,340.5  1,178.8 
Households 2,359.8  1,978.4 
Total 3,982.4  3,505.0 

 

 

 Provisions 
 
   (millions of EUR) 

 31/12/2021  31/12/2020 
    

Provisions for off-balance sheet items 3.4  3.0 
Provisions for long-term employee benefits 3.2  2.7 
Total  6.6  5.7 

 

Provisions for off balance sheet items have been made in respect of ECL arising from contingent liabilities and contractual 
commitments, including guarantees and credit commitments. 

Movement of provisions for off-balance sheet liabilities for the year 2021 and 2020 is presented in Note 15. 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
26. Provisions (continued) 

Movement of provisions for long-term employee benefits is presented below.  

   (millions of EUR) 
 2021  2020 
Balance at 1 January  2.2  2.4 
Additions  1.4  0.8 
Amounts used 0.8  1.0 
Unused amounts reversed 0.2  - 
Other movements 0.6  - 
Balance at 31 December  3.2  2.2 

 Other liabilities 
 
   (millions of EUR) 

 31/12/2021  31/12/2020 
    
Trade payables 10.3  6.0 
Client payables 35.6  24.5 
Lease liabilities (Note 21) 7.2  6.4 
Cash in transit 0.5  6.4 
Total  53.6  43.3 
    

The carrying values of Other financial liabilities approximates their fair value. 

 

 Accrued expenses and prepaid income 
 
   (millions of EUR) 

 31/12/2021  31/12/2020 
    

Accrued expenses 7.5  7.2 
Prepaid income 0.3  0.3 
Other non-financial liabilities 6.4  4.3 
Total  14.2   11.8 
    

 

 Shareholder’s equity 

Authorised shares 

 31/12/2021  31/12/2020 
 Number of 

shares 
Percentage 

of total 
number 

Paid-in 
capital 

 Number of 
shares 

Percentage 
of total 
number 

Paid-in 
capital 

   EUR mil.    EUR mil. 
        
Ordinary shares of 1.40 EUR per 
value each, fully paid 103,773,755 100.00 145.3  103,773,755 100.00 145.3 

 

100 per cent of authorised shares of the Bank is owed by Skandinaviska Enskilda Banken AB (publ), registered in Sweden. 

Dividends paid out during 2021 amounted to EUR 19.5 million (0.19 euros per share). 

Share-based payments 

SEB Group has developed long-term equity based programmes as part of remuneration system to build long-term 
commitment to SEB. The long-term equity based variable compensation at SEB shall be determined based on long-term 
equity based variable compensation programme principles developed by the SEB Group and has to be agreed specifically 
with the employee, towards whom it is applied. The programmes, referred to above, are the Share Deferral Program (SDP) 
and Share Matching Program (SMP). 
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29.  Shareholder’s equity (continued) 

The purpose of the programmes is to reward senior managers and key employees and to encourage all employees to 
become shareholders in SEB, thereby aligning employee interests with those of shareholders.  

The costs of Share Savings Programme incurred by the Group during the year 2021 were EUR 0.2 million (EUR 0.4 million) 
accounted in Personnel expenses in the income statement. 

The above-described share-based payments are treated as equity-settled because the Group has no obligation to settle 
the transactions related to the Share Savings Programme. 

Other reserves 

(millions of EUR) 

The Group Reserve capital General reserves Total 

    

Balance as of 1 January 2020 0.3 0.2 0.5 
Share-based compensation - 0.3 0.3 
Realisation of share-based compensation - -0.1 -0.1 
Balance as of 31 December 2020 0.3 0.4 0.7 
    

Balance as of 1 January 2021 0.3 0.4 0.7 
Share-based compensation - 0.3 0.3 
Realisation of share-based compensation - -0.4 -0.4 
Balance as of 31 December 2021 0.3 0.3 0.6 

 

 

 

 Assets under management  

The Group, through the operations of Private Banking client service centre and asset management subsidiary, SEB 
Investment Management, manages short- and long-term investment assets on behalf of clients. The asset management 
operations include management of fund portfolios, Latvian 2nd and 3rd pillar pension savings and institutional customers’  
investment portfolios. 

   (millions of EUR) 
 31/12/2021 

(unaudited) 
 31/12/2020  

    
Deposits in banks 50.0  148.5 
Fixed income securities 1,078.1  1,157.0 
Investment funds 629.2  483.1 
Real estate 0.1  0.1 
Equities 9.5  8.5 
Total          1,766.9   1,797.2 

 
For the year ended 31 December 2021, the management fee for the assets management amounted to EUR 12.7 million 
(2020: EUR 9.2 million). It is included in Net fee and commission income line in the income statement. 
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 Financial instruments by measurement categories  

Distribution of Group’s financial instruments by measurement categories is presented in the tables below. 

(millions of EUR) 
31/12/2021 FVHFT* FVMPL** AmC*** Total 
Assets     
Cash and balances with central bank - -              954.8              954.8  
Loans to credit institutions - -              125.9              125.9  
Loans to the public - -          2,983.0          2,983.0  
Debt securities -              421.0  -             421.0  
Derivatives                     6.4  - -                   6.4  
Other financial assets  -  -                 25.7                 25.7  
Total financial assets                   6.4              421.0          4,089.4          4,516.8  

Other assets (non-financial) -  -                  26.9                 26.9  

Total                    6.4              421.0          4,116.3          4,543.7  

     

Liabilities     
Deposits from central banks and credit institutions - -                    2.5                    2.5  
Deposits and borrowings from the public - -          3,982.4          3,982.4  
Derivatives 4.1 - -                   4.1  
Other financial liabilities  -  - 53.6                53.6  
Total financial liabilities 4.1 - 4,038.5 4,042.6 

Other liabilities (non-financial) - - 23.8 23.8 

Equity  -  - - 477.3 
Total 4.1  - 4,062.3 4,543.7 

     
 
* FVHFT – Fair Value Through Profit and Loss Held for Trading 
** FVMPL - Fair Value Through Profit and Loss Mandatorily  
*** AmC – Amortised Cost 
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31. Financial instruments by measurement categories (continued) 
 
(millions of EUR) 
31/12/2020 FVHFT* FVMPL** AmC*** Total 
Assets     
Cash and balances with central bank - -            375.0             375.0  
Loans to credit institutions - -            472.1             472.1  
Loans to the public - -        3,062.5         3,062.5  
Debt securities -            275.7 -            275.7  
Derivatives                31.4  - -               31.4  
Equity instruments -                 4.4  -                 4.4  
Other financial assets -  -               19.4                19.4  
Total financial assets               31.4             280.1         3,929.0         4,240.5  

Other assets (non-financial)  - -  27.8 27.8 

Total                31.4             280.1         3,956.8         4,268.3  

     

Liabilities     
Deposits from central banks and credit institutions - -            235.5             235.5  
Deposits and borrowings from the public - -        3,505.0         3,505.0  
Derivatives 33.5 - -               33.5  
Other financial liabilities  -  - 43.3               43.3  
Total financial liabilities 33.5 - 3,783.8 3,817.3 

Other liabilities (non-financial) - - 20.8 20.8 

Equity -   - - 430.2 
Total 33.5  - 3,804.6 4,268.3 

     
 
 
* FVHFT – Fair Value Through Profit and Loss Held for Trading 
** FVMPL - Fair Value Through Profit and Loss Mandatorily  
*** AmC – Amortised Cost 
 
 

 Current and non-current assets and liabilities  

(millions of EUR) 
 31/12/2021  31/12/2020 
 

Current 
assets 

Non-
current 

assets Total  
Current 

assets 

Non-
current 

assets Total 
Assets        

Cash and balances with central bank 954.8 - 954.8  375.0 - 375.0 
Loans to credit institutions 125.9 - 125.9  472.1 - 472.1 
Loans to the public 727.3 2,255.7 2,983.0  858.4 2,204.1 3,062.5 
Debt securities 170.0 251.0 421.0  54.5 221.2 275.7 
Derivatives  0.7 5.7 6.4  25.8 5.6 31.4 
Equity instruments - - -  - 4.4 4.4 
Intangible assets - 6.7 6.7  - 7.9 7.9 
Property, plant and equipment - 6.3 6.3  - 7.0 7.0 
Right of use assets - 7.0 7.0  - 6.9 6.9 
Investment property - - -  - 0.1 0.1 
Deferred income tax assets - - -  - - - 
Other assets 4.3 21.4 25.7  8.3 11.1 19.4 
Prepaid expenses and accrued income 4.0 2.9 6.9  3.0 2.9 5.9 
Total assets  1,987.0 2,556.7 4,543.7   1,797.1 2,471.2  4,268.3 
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32. Current and non-current assets and liabilities (continued) 
 
(millions of EUR) 
 31/12/2021  31/12/2020 

 Current 
liabilities 

Non-
current 

liabilities Total  
Current 

liabilities 

Non-
current 

liabilities Total 
Liabilities        
Deposits from central banks and credit 
institutions 2.5 - 2.5  20.5 215.0 235.5 
Deposits and borrowings from the public 3,978.9 3.5 3,982.4  3,503.6 1.4 3,505.0 
Derivatives 0.2 3.9 4.1  26.7 6.8 33.5 
Deferred income tax liabilities 3.0 - 3.0  3.3 - 3.3 
Provisions 1.7 4.9 6.6  1.5 4.2 5.7 
Other liabilities 8.8 44.8 53.6  23.8 19.5 43.3 
Accrued expenses and prepaid income 2.5 11.7 14.2  2.3 9.5 11.8 
Total liabilities 3,997.6 68.8 4,066.4  3,581.7 256.4 3,838.1 

Net -2,010.6 2,487.9 477.3  -1,809.4 2,239.6 430.2 
 
Assets and liabilities are classified as current assets and current liabilities when they are cash or cash equivalents, are 
held for trading purposes, can to be sold, settled or consumed in normal business, and can to be realised within twelve 
months. All other assets and liabilities are classified as non-current. 
 
 

 Related parties 

The following are considered to be related parties to the Group: 

- key management personnel; 
- parent company; 
- companies consolidated by the parent company; 
- associates to parent company; 
- entities with significant influence or significantly influenced by key management personnel are presented as other 

related parties. 

Key management personnel are considered to be: 

- Board members and their close relatives; 
- Supervisory board members and their close relatives; 
- A person (and that person's close relatives) that has control, joint control, or significant influence over the entity. 

Transaction with related parties 

A number of banking transactions are entered into with related parties in the normal course of business. The following 
table provides the total amount of transactions and year-end balances that have been entered into with related parties 
for the relevant financial year. 
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33. Related parties (continued) 
 
(millions of EUR) 
  Parent  Parent group companies  Key management  Other related parties 
31/12/2021  Interest rate Assets/ 

Liabilities 
 Interest rate 

 
Assets/ 

Liabilities 
 Interest rate 

 
Assets/ 

Liabilities 
 Interest rate 

 
Assets/ 

Liabilities 
             
Demand deposits  (-0.75) - (+5.63) 117.7  (-0.50) - (+3.63) 4.9  - -  - - 
Loans and advances  (0.00) - (+0.16) 2.2  - -  (0.00) - (+16.00) 1.6  (+4.50) 0.0 
Derivatives  (-0.56) - (+0.02) 2.2  - -  - -  - - 
Other receivables  - 0.4  - 0.2  - -  - - 
             
Deposits  (-0.41) - (+4.28) 1.2  (0.00) 5.4  (0.00) - (+0.70) 1.0  (0.00) 0.0 
Derivatives  (-0.53) - (+4.00) 4.0  - -  - -  - - 
Other payables  - -  (0.00) 1.6  - -  - - 
             
  Interest rate Off-balance 

commitments 
 Interest rate Off-balance 

commitments 
 Interest rate Off-balance 

commitments 
 Interest rate Off-balance 

commitments 
             
Commitments given  (0.00) - (+0.57) 14.7  - -  (0.00) - (+24.00) 0.1  (+4.50) 0.0 
             
Guarantees received  - 149.4  - 8.0  - -  - - 
Guarantees given  - 28.9  - 8.0  - -  - - 

 
  Parent 

 
 Parent group 

companies 
 

      
Interest income  0.1  -  
Interest expense  2.3  0.1  
      
Fee and commission income  0.2  1.5  
Fee and commission expense  0.8  0.5  
      
Other income  0.4  1.0  
Other expense  2.2  4.8  
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33. Related parties (continued) 
 
(millions of EUR) 
  Parent  Parent group companies  Key management  Other related parties 
31/12/2020  Interest rate Assets/ 

Liabilities 
 Interest rate 

 
Assets/ 

Liabilities 
 Interest rate 

 
Assets/ 

Liabilities 
 Interest rate 

 
Assets/ 

Liabilities 
             
Demand deposits  (-0.75) - (+4.94) 403.9  (-0.50) - (+3.63) 22.3  - -  - - 
Loans and advances  (-0.88) - (+0.16) 35.7  - -  (0.00) -(+21.00) 1.6  (0.00) - (+24.00) 0.1 
Derivatives  (-0.56) - (+5.51) 25.3  - -  - -  - - 
Other receivables  - 0.8  - 0.2  - -  - - 
             
Deposits  (-0.41) - (+5.63) 233.9  (0.00) - (+0.10) 5.4  (0.00) - (+0.41) 1.7  (0.00) - (+0.70) 0.4 
Derivatives  (-0.52) - (+4.00) 8.0  - -  - -  - - 
Other payables  - 0.4  (0.00) - (+0.02) 0.4  - -  - - 
             
  Interest rate Off-balance 

commitments 
 Interest rate Off-balance 

commitments 
 Interest rate Off-balance 

commitments 
 Interest rate Off-balance 

commitments 
             
Commitments given  (0.00) - (+0.16) 6.1  - -  (0.00) - (+21.00) 0.1  (0.00) - (+24.00) 0 
Credit institutions  - -  - -  - -  - - 
             
Guarantees received  - 314.1  - 8.2  - -  - - 
Guarantees given  - 17.5  - 8.2  - -  - - 

 
  Parent 

 
 Parent group 

companies 
 

      
Interest income  0.5  -  
Interest expense  -4.2  -0.1  
      
Fee and commission income  0.7  0.9  
Fee and commission expense  -0.8  -0.5  
      
Other income  0.4  0.8  
Other expense  -1.6  -4.6  
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33. Related parties (continued) 

 

Compensation of key management personnel of the Group: 

(millions of EUR) 
 2021  2020 
    
Short term employee benefits 1.3  1.6 
Other long-term benefits 0.2  0.2 
Total 1.5  1.8 
    

 

 Contingencies and commitments 
 
(millions of EUR) 

 31/12/2021  31/12/2020 

Contingent liabilities 202.0  196.3 
Financial guarantees given 193.3  190.4 
Letters of credit 8.7  5.9 

Loan commitments  584.3  636.2 
Total  786.3  832.5 

 
Potential liabilities arising from tax inspection 

The tax authorities may at any time inspect the books and records within 3 years subsequent to the reported tax year and 
may impose additional tax assessments and penalties, if any. The Group’s management is not aware of any circumstances 
which may give rise to a potential material liability in this respect. 

 
Legal disputes 

There are no outstanding legal disputes from which the Group could suffer major losses.
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 Capital adequacy  

The Group’s regulatory capital as managed by its central Group Treasury is divided into two tiers:  

• Tier 1 capital: share capital, reserve capital, retained earnings, general and other reserves, qualifying current 
year profit; 

• Tier 2 capital: IRB excess of provisions over expected losses; 
• Deductible amounts: the carrying value of intangible assets deducted by the prudential accumulated 

amortization which is calculated for software assets; adjustments to CET1 due to prudential filters (fair value 
gains and losses arising from the institution´s own credit risk related to derivative liabilities, value adjustments 
due to the requirements for prudent valuation); and IRB provision shortfall.   

The risk-weighted assets are measured by using two methods – Standardized and Internal Ratings Based Approach (IRB). 
According to Standardized method assets are divided into 16 asset classes, IRB – 7. Considering the method used asset 
class, eligible collateral or guarantees, risk classes, scoring pools, country of the counterparty and other factors risk weight 
to every exposure is assigned.  

The table below summarises the components of capital adequacy calculation and the ratios of the Group for the year 
ended 31 December 2021 and 2020:  

(millions of EUR) 
Position name 31/12/2021  31/12/2020 

    
Capital base    
1. Own funds 410.7  393.8 
1.1. Tier 1 capital  405.6  393.8 
1.2. Tier 2 capital 5.1  - 
    
Risk weighted assets    
Total risk exposure amount 1,833.8  1,810.6 
1. Risk weighted exposure amounts for credit, counterparty credit and 
dilution risks and free deliveries 1,709.0  1,679.1 
1.1. Standardised approach (SA) 143.2  135.9 
1.2. Internal ratings based approach (IRB) 1,565.8  1,543.2 
1.2.1. IRB approaches when neither own estimates of LGD nor 
Conversion Factors are used 1,318.3  1,291.0 
1.2.2. IRB approaches when own estimates of LGD and/or Conversion 
Factors are used 247.5  252.2 
2. Total risk exposure amount for position, foreign exchange and 
commodities risks 2.5  2.3 
3. Total risk exposure amount for operational risk (AMA) 122.0  129.2 
4. Total risk exposure amount for credit valuation adjustment 0.3  - 
5. Other risk exposure amounts   -  - 
    
Capital ratios    
Own funds 410.7  393.8 
Total risk exposure amount Basel III* 1,833.8  1,810.6 
Own fund requirement (8 per cent) 146.7  144.9 
Total capital ratio 22.4%  21.8% 
Tier 1 Capital ratio  22.1%  21.8% 
CET 1 Capital ratio 22.1%  21.8% 
* (without additional risk exposure amount due to application of Basel I 

floor)  
 

 
Regulatory Common Equity Tier 1 capital requirement including 
buffer requirement (Pillar 1 only) 8.5%  8.8% 
of which capital conservation buffer requirement 2.5%  2.5% 
of which systemic risk buffer requirement 0.0%  0.0% 
of which countercyclical capital buffer requirement 0.0%  0.0% 
of which other systemically important institution buffer 1.5%  1.8% 

 
As at 31 December 2021 and 2020, the Group was compliant with the capital adequacy minimum requirements. 
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 Encumbered assets  

Encumbered assets of the Group in the amount of EUR 2.2 million (2020: EUR 0.1 million) are comprised of security 
deposits with other economic and basic activities partners. 

 

 Return on equity and return on assets  

 
 2021  2020 
    

Return on average equity (ROAE) 14.79%  9,47% 
Return on average assets (ROAA) 1.53%  0,97% 

Both return ratios are calculated based on FCMC regulations, taking annual average from monthly balances. ROAE is 
calculated as net profit for the year divided by annual average total equity. ROAA is calculated as net profit for the year 
divided by annual average total assets. 

 

 Events after the reporting date  
 
On 1 January 2022 the Group sold 100% of it‘s subsidiaries IP AS “SEB Investment Management” and AS “SEB atklātais 
pensiju fonds” shares to SEB Life and Pension Baltic SE, which resulted in net gain EUR 14 million. 

On February 2022 the Russian Federation has launched an invasion of the Republic of Ukraine. Shortly after the invasion, 
the EU and the rest of the world introduced a comprehensive package of restrictive measures against Russia, which is 
constantly being updated and expanded. This non-adjusting post-reporting event was not taken into account in making the 
accounting estimates and assumptions as at 31 December 2021. Until the date of signing these financial statements, the 
restrictive measures did not have a material impact on the Group’s operations, no business processes were suspended 
and limited foreseen direct losses related to the imposed restrictive measures were incurred before the date of the 
financial statements. 

The geopolitical events that escalated in February and led to a wide array of sanctions on Russia and Belarus may have an 
impact on Group operations and its customers. While the bank has made efforts to prudently assess the size and nature of 
such impact, the nature and speed of the events impair the accuracy of any assessments for the time being.  The Group 
has limited direct exposure on Russia and Belarus and therefore any negative effect will come via potential customers' 
indirect impact. 
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 Primary statements of parent company – the Bank – as a separate entity 

39.1.  Income Statement of the Bank  
 
(millions of EUR) 

  2021  2020 
     
     
Interest income calculated using the effective interest rate method  62.7  65.8 
Other interest and similar income  -  0.2 
Interest expense  -10.5  -11.6 
Net interest income  52.2  54.4 
     
Fee and commission income  54.5  51.6 
Fee and commission expense  -15.5  -17.3 
Net fee and commission income  39.0  34.3 
     
Net financial income  7.1  7.7 
     
Dividends   14.7  0.1 
Other operating income  3.1  2.7 
Net other income  17.8  2.8 
     
Personnel expenses -26.6  -26.1 
Depreciation, amortization and impairment of  
tangible and intangible, and right of use assets -6.7  -6.9 
Other expenses -18.6  -17.9 
Total operating expenses -51.9  -50.9 
    
Net expected credit losses 8.3  -12.8 
     
Profit before income tax  72.5  35.5 
     
Income tax expenses -  0.2 
       
Net profit for the year  72.5  35.7 

     
 

Statement of comprehensive income of the Bank 
 
(millions of EUR) 

  2021  2020 

Net profit for the year  72.5  35.7 

Other comprehensive income for the year  - 
 

- 

Total comprehensive income for the year  72.5 35.7 
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39. Primary statements of parent company – the Bank – as a separate entity (continued) 

39.2.  Statement of Financial Position of the Bank  

 
(millions of EUR) 

 31/12/2021   31/12/2020 
Assets     
Cash and balances with central bank              954.8    375.0 
Loans to credit institutions              125.8    472.1 
Loans to the public          2,954.9    3,043.1 
Debt securities              421.0    275.7 
Derivatives                    6.4    31.4 
Equity instruments                       -     4.4 
Investments in subsidiaries                    5.0    5.0 
Intangible assets                    6.7    7.9 
Property, plant and equipment                    4.8    5.1 
Right of use assets                    7.0    6.8 
Investment property -   0.1 
Other assets                 23.7    18.9 
Prepaid expenses and accrued income                    3.2    2.8 
Total assets         4,513.3    4,248.3 
     
Liabilities     
Deposits from central banks and credit institutions                    2.5    235.5 
Deposits and borrowings from the public          3,986.5    3,519.6 
Derivatives                    4.1    33.5 
Provisions                    6.2    5.0 
Other liabilities                 43.5    37.7 
Accrued expenses and prepaid income                    8.7    8.5 
Total liabilities         4,051.5    3,839.8 
     
Equity     

   

Share capital              145.3    145.3 
Share premium                    5.1    5.1 
Other reserves                    0.6    0.7 
Retained earnings              310.8    257.4 
Total equity             461.8    408.5 
     

Total liabilities and equity 4,513.3   4,248.3 
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39. Primary statements of parent company – the Bank – as a separate entity (continued) 

39.3.  Statement of Changes in the Equity of the Bank  

 
(millions of EUR) 

 Share 
capital 

Share 
premium 

Other 
reserves 

Retained 
earnings 

Total 
equity 

      

Balance at 1 January 2020 145.3 5.1 0.5 221.4 372.3 

Net profit for the year - - - 35.8 35.8 

Total comprehensive income for the year - - - 35.8 35.8 

Share-based compensation - - 0.4 - 0.4 

Realisation of share-based compensation - - -0.2 0.2 - 

Balance at 31 December 2020 145.3 5.1 0.7 257.4 408.5 

      

Balance at 1 January 2021 145.3 5.1 0.7 257.4 408.5 

Net profit for the year -  -   -                72.5                 72.5  

Total comprehensive income for the year - - -                72.5                 72.5  

Dividends - - - - 19.5  -19.5  

Share-based compensation - -                   0.3  -                   0.3  

Realisation of share-based compensation - - -0.4                    0.4                        -   

Balance at 31 December 2021             145.3                    5.1                    0.6              310.8              461.8  
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39. Primary statements of parent company – the Bank – as a separate entity (continued) 

39.4. Statement of Cash Flows of the Bank  
(millions of EUR) 

 2021 2020 
Operating activities     
Profit before income tax 72.5 35.5 
Adjustments for:     
Depreciation, amortization and impairment of tangible and intangible assets, right of use 
assets and investment property  6.7 7.3 

Increase (+) / decrease (-) in ECL allowances -8.3 12.8 
Increase (+) / decrease (-) in provisions 0.9 -  
Interest income -62.7 -64.5 
Interest expense 10.5 3.4 
Gain (-) / loss (+) from exchange differences 22.8 -6.7 
Gain (-) / loss (+) on disposal of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets or 
investment property -  -  

Increase (+) / decrease (-) in share-based compensations 0.3 0.4 
      
Change in operating assets and liabilities:     
Increase (-) / decrease (+) in loans to credit institutions and mandatory reserve in central 
bank 28.4 -35.9 

Increase (-) / decrease (+) in loans and advances to customers 96.8 -44.2 
Net change in derivative financial instruments -4.5 -  
Increase (-) / decrease (+) in equity instruments -0.5 -  

Increase (-) / decrease (+) in other assets, prepaid expenses and accrued income -4.9 23.6 

Increase (+) / decrease (-) in deposits from central banks and credit institutions -233.0 -91.9 
Increase (+) / decrease (-) in deposits and borrowings from the public 466.9 418.5 

Increase (+) / decrease (-) in other liabilities, accrued expenses and prepaid income 6.9 -32.9 
      
Interest received 62.7 64.6 
Interest paid -10.6 -3.5 
Income tax paid (-) / received (+) -  2.7 
Net cash flows from (+) / used in (-) operating activities 450.9 289.2 
      
Investing activities     

Purchase of property, plant and equipment,  investment property and intangible assets -2.2 -1.6 

Proceeds on sale of property, plant and equipment and investment property 0.1 -  
Net cash inflow (+) / outflow (-) from debt securities -145.4 -125.0 
Proceeds from equity instruments 4.9 4.2 
Dividends received -  -  
Net cash flows from (+) / used in (-) investing activities -142.6 -122.4 
      
Financing activities     
Dividends paid -19.5 -  
Lease payments -4.2 -4.1 
Net cash flows from (+) / used in (-) financing activities -23.7 -4.1 
      
Net increase (+) / decrease (-) in cash and cash equivalents 284.6 162.7 

   
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 778.2 608.8 
Net foreign exchange difference -22.8 6.7 
Changes on cash and cash equivalents 284.6 162.7 
Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 1,040.0 778.2 
      
Cash and cash equivalents include:     
Cash on hand 36.2 34.7 
Balances with the central bank without mandatory reserve  880.1 307.1 
Demand deposits with credit institutions  123.7 436.4 
  1,040.0 778.2 
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Notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements (continued) 
39. Primary statements of parent company – the Bank – as a separate entity (continued) 

39.5.  Capital adequacy of the Bank 

The following table shows the Bank’s calculation of the capital adequacy  ratio according to the Basel III requirements: 

  (millions of EUR) 
Position name 31/12/2021  31/12/2020 

    
Capital base    
1. Own funds 389.1  371.1 
1.1. Tier 1 capital  383.9  371.1 
1.2. Tier 2 capital 5.2  - 
    
Risk weighted assets    
Total risk exposure amount 1,733.5  1,720.0 
1. Risk weighted exposure amounts for credit, counterparty credit 
and dilution risks and free deliveries 1,620.6  1,601.3 
1.1. Standardised approach (SA) 59.6  57.2 
1.2. Internal ratings based approach (IRB) 1,561.0  1,544.1 
1.2.1. IRB approaches when neither own estimates of LGD nor 
Conversion Factors are used 1,313.5  1,291.9 
1.2.2. IRB approaches when own estimates of LGD and/or Conversion 
Factors are used 247.5  252.2 
2. Total risk exposure amount for position, foreign exchange and 
commodities risks 1.3  0.7 
3. Total risk exposure amount for operational risk (AMA) 111.3  118.0 
4. Total risk exposure amount for credit valuation adjustment 0.3  - 
5. Other risk exposure amounts   -  - 
    
Capital ratios    
Own funds 389.1  371.1 
Total risk exposure amount Basel III* 1,733.5  1,720.0 
Own fund requirement (8 per cent) 138.7  137.6 
Total capital ratio 22.5%  21.6% 
Tier 1 Capital ratio  22.2%  21.6% 
CET 1 Capital ratio 22.2%  21.6% 
* (without additional risk exposure amount due to application of Basel 

I floor)  
 

 
Regulatory Common Equity Tier 1 capital requirement including 
buffer requirement (Pillar 1 only) 7.0% 

 
8.8% 

of which capital conservation buffer requirement 2.5%  2.5% 
of which systemic risk buffer requirement 0.0%  0.0% 
of which countercyclical capital buffer requirement 0.0%  0.0% 
of which other systemically important institution buffer 0.0%  1.8% 
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Translation from Latvian 

INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 

DOCUMENT DATE IS THE TIME OF ITS ELECTRONIC SIGNATURE 

To the Shareholder of SEB banka AS 

Report on the Audit of the Financial Statements 

Opinion 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of SEB banka AS and its subsidiaries (the Group) set out 

on pages 14 to 83 of the accompanying Annual Report, which comprise the consolidated statement of financial position as at 

31 December 2021, consolidated statement of income and the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, consolidated 

statement of changes in equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the consolidated 

financial statements, including a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory notes.  

In our opinion, the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group give a true and fair view of the consolidated 

financial position of the Group as at 31 December 2021, and of consolidated financial performance of the Group and consolidated 

cash flows of the Group for the year then ended in accordance with the International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted 

by the European Union. 

Basis for opinion 

We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing adopted in the Republic of Latvia (ISAs). Our 

responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated 

financial statements section of our report. We are independent of the Group in accordance with the International Code of Ethics 

for Professional Accountants (including International Independence Standards) (IESBA Code) together with the independence 

requirements included in the Law on Audit Services of Republic of Latvia that are relevant to our audit of the consolidated 

financial statements in the Republic of Latvia. We have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Law on 

Audit Services of Republic of Latvia and the IESBA Code. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and 

appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. 

Key audit matters 

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated 

financial statements of the Group of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our audit of the 

consolidated financial statements of the Group as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not provide a separate 

opinion on these matters. For each matter below, our description of how our audit addressed the matter is provided in that 

context. 

We have fulfilled the responsibilities described in the Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial 

statements section of our report, including in relation to these matters. Accordingly, our audit included the performance of 

procedures designed to respond to our assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements 

of the Group. The results of our audit procedures, including the procedures performed to address the matters below, provide the 

basis for our audit opinion on the accompanying consolidated financial statements of the Group.  
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Key audit matter How we addressed the key audit matter 

Loan loss impairment  

The carrying amount of loans to the public as at 

31 December 2021 amounted to EUR 3 134 million, the 

reversal of impairment (net expected credit loss) amounted 

to EUR 9 million and the total impairment loss allowance 

as at 31 December 2021 amounted to EUR 25.1 million in 

the Group`s financial statements. 

The basis of the Bank’s and the Group’s impairment 

provision policy is presented in the accounting policies 

section in Notes 1.8 and 1.23 to the financial statements. 

Critical accounting estimates and judgments, disclosures of 

loans and guarantees and the credit risk management are 

set out in Notes 2.2, 11 and 15 to the financial statements. 

Loan receivables are significant to the total assets of the 

Group`s financial statements. 

We identified this area to be significant for the audit 

because measurement and recognition of allowances for 

loan loss impairment reflected in the Group’s expected 

credit loss (ECL) model is associated with significant 

estimation as it requires the management to exercise 

judgement and apply complex and subjective assumptions 

both about the timing and amounts of such impairment. 

Key areas of judgement include the identification of 

exposures with a significant deterioration in credit quality, 

assumptions used in the expected credit loss model such 

as the financial condition of the counterparty, expected 

future cash flows and forward-looking macroeconomic 

factors, including COVID-19 pandemic impact.  

Due to the above circumstances, we considered loan 

impairment assessment to be the key audit matter. 

Our audit procedures included, among others, the following: 

We gained understanding and tested the key controls over the 

loan issuance, booking and monitoring and loan impairment 

provisioning processes.   

We obtained and read the Group’s Impairment provisioning policy 

that is based on IFRS 9. With the support of IFRS 9 specialists, 

we assessed the compliance of the policy and the model with the 

requirements of IFRS 9 by assessing each significant model 

component: exposure at default, probability of default and loss 

given default, definitions of default and significant increase in 

credit risk, use of macroeconomic scenarios. 

In addition to testing key controls, for a sample of loans we 

performed testing of loan portfolio by comparing inputs to internal 

and external data, including contract dates, risk classes for non-

retail exposures and quality class for retail exposures, collateral 

values and types, performing/ non-performing status and other 

inputs used in ECL calculator as at 31 December 2021. 

For a sample of loans and model outputs we performed 

recalculations of ECL. ECL adjustments related to expert credit 

judgement were analyzed too. Our analysis considered 

management’s assumption of ECL adjustments. 

We performed analytical procedures, such as a comparison of 

loan loss impairment allowance balances to industry levels, 

comparison to prior year, movements between stages etc. 

We have assessed the model overlay adjustments made by 

Group, e.g. pertaining to the assessed effect of the COVID-19 

pandemic on the ECL.   

We also assessed the adequacy of the financial statement 

disclosures in Notes 1.8, 1.23, 2.2, 11 and 15. 

 
Reporting on other information  

Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises: 
 

• the Statement of the Management of the Bank including Non-financial Statement, as set out on pages 3 to 12 of the 
accompanying Annual Report; 

• the Statement of Responsibility of the Management of the Bank, as set out on page 13 of the accompanying Annual 
Report; 
 

but does not include the financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon. 
 
Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of 

assurance conclusion thereon, except as described in the Other reporting responsibilities in accordance with the legislation of 

the Republic of Latvia section of our report. 
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In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and, in 

doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our 

knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.  

If, based on the work we have performed and in light of the knowledge and understanding of the Group and its environment 

obtained in the course of our audit, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other information, we are required 

to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard. 

Other reporting responsibilities in accordance with the legislation of the Republic of Latvia 

We have other reporting responsibilities in accordance with the Law on Audit Services of the Republic of Latvia with respect to 

the Statement of the Management of the Bank. These additional reporting responsibilities are beyond those required under the 

ISAs. 

Our responsibility is to consider whether the Statement of the Management of the Bank is prepared in accordance with the 

requirements of the Regulation No. 46 “Regulation on the Preparation of Annual Accounts and Annual Consolidated Accounts 

for Banks, Investment Brokerage Firms and Investment Management Companies” of the Financial and Capital Market 

Commission of the Republic of Latvia.  

Based solely on the work undertaken in the course of our audit, in our opinion: 

• the information given in the Statement of the Management of the Bank for the financial year for which the consolidated 

financial statements are prepared is consistent with the consolidated financial statements; and 

• the Statement of the Management of the Bank has been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 

Regulation No. 46 “Regulation on the Preparation of Annual Accounts and Annual Consolidated Accounts for Banks, 

Investment Brokerage Firms and Investment Management Companies” of the Financial and Capital Market 

Commission of the Republic of Latvia. 

In accordance with the Law on Audit Services of the Republic of Latvia with respect to the Non-financial Statement our 
responsibility is to report whether the Group has prepared the Non-financial Statement and whether the Non-financial Statement 
is included in the Statement of the Management of the Bank or prepared as a separate element of the Annual Report or is 
included in the consolidated Non-financial Statement of the Group’s Parent Company. 
 
We hereby report that the Group has prepared a consolidated Non-financial Statement, and it is included in the Statement of 

the Management of the Bank. 

Responsibilities of management and those charged with governance for the financial statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation of the financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the 

International Financial Reporting Standards as adopted by the European Union and for such internal control as management 

determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 

to fraud or error. 

In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a going 

concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless 

management either intends to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to do so. 

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process. 
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Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the consolidated financial statements 

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are free from 

material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. Reasonable 

assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs will always detect 

a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually 

or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these 

financial statements. 

As part of an audit in accordance with ISAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional scepticism throughout 

the audit. We also:  

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error, design 

and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient and appropriate to 

provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than 

for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the 

override of internal control. 

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate 

in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s internal 

control. 

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and related 

disclosures made by management. 

• Conclude on the appropriateness of management’s use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on the 

audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may cast significant 

doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are 

required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in the financial statements or, if such 

disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to 

the date of our auditor’s report. However, future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a 

going concern. 

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures, and 

whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that achieves fair 

presentation. 

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business activities 

within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are responsible for the direction, 

supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible for our audit opinion. 

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and timing of the 

audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our audit. 

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical requirements 

regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that may reasonably be thought to 

bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards. 

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of most significance 

in the audit of the financial statements of the current period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe these matters 

in our auditors’ report unless law or regulation precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare 

circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of 

doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication. 
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Other reporting responsibilities and confirmations required by the legislation of the Republic of Latvia and European 

Union when providing audit services to public interest entities 

We were first appointed as auditors of the Group on 28th March 2019 by Shareholder. Our appointment has been renewed 

annually by shareholder resolution representing a total period of uninterrupted engagement appointment of 3 years. 

We confirm that: 

• our audit opinion is consistent with the additional report presented to the Audit Committee of the Group; 

• as stipulated in paragraph 376 of the Law on Audit Services of the Republic of Latvia we have not provided to the 

Group the prohibited non-audit services (NASs) referred to in EU Regulation (EU) No 537/2014. We also remained 

independent of the audited entity in conducting the audit. 

The responsible certified auditor on the audit resulting in this independent auditors’ report is Diāna Krišjāne.  

 

ERNST & YOUNG BALTIC SIA  
Licence No. 17 
 
Diāna Krišjāne  

Chairperson of the Board 
Latvian Certified Auditor 
Certificate No. 124 
 
Riga,  
 
THIS DOCUMENT IS SIGNED ELECTRONICALLY WITH A SAFE ELECTRONIC SIGNATURE AND CONTAINS A TIME 
STAMP 
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